
AsiA is An importAnt growth mArket for eLmos. to cross the bridge between germAny And chinA successfuLLy requires A Lot of product know-how And cuLturAL empAthy. thAt’s my 
job. After my trAining At eLmos i decided to go to university And to keep working At eLmos on the side. foLLowing my direct job entry And A stint At our cALiforniAn subsidiAry, i Am 
now AbLe to shAre the fuLL rAnge of my knowLedge And skiLLs in my job As process engineer. recruitment wiLL increAsingLy gAin in importAnce in the future. it is my goAL to shApe 
the AdvAnced trAining of our current And future empLoyees in such A wAy thAt we wiLL continue our success in the mArket. eLmos gives me the opportunity to keep deveLoping As 
A professionAL. As mAnAger of moduLe process AnALysis, i hAve my shAre of responsibiLity for the quALity of our products And processes. this dAiLy chALLenge mAkes my job tremen-
dousLy exciting. even todAy, bALAncing fAmiLy And A cAreer is not An eAsy thing to AccompLish. i Love to see how initiAL rough drAfts turn into reAL products. so, whenever i go to 
the customer with A product, i know how much heArt And souL hAs been put into it. with fLexibLe working hours And A considerAtion of individuAL needs, eLmos provides An ex-
citing working environment, enAbLing me to join my teAm in pushing our reseArch Activities. job trAining, extrA-occupAtionAL studies And A stAy AbroAd – ALL this i hAve Achieved 
with eLmos. now, After eArning my grAduAte degree, i wiLL hAve my pArt in deveLoping the energy sAving products of tomorrow. this is how i Am mAking my contribution At eLmos 
to creAting A promising future, both for myseLf And for society. we At eLmos ALwAys wAnt to deveLop the best soLution for the customer. it requires speciAList know-how to set 
ourseLves ApArt from the mArket through chip size, functionALity, And reLiAbiLity. this is whAt we Aim for every singLe dAy. As An Automotive semiconductor speciAList, eLmos hAs 
high quALity AwAreness. As project mAnAger, i pAy Attention to meeting the tArgets of our customers And giving them 100% sAtisfAction At eAch And very step. the positive 
feedbAck proves thAt eLmos is doing A good job. i hAve heLped creAte the future of our eLmos motor drivers for mAny yeArs now. At eLmos i study the bAsics of it And AppLy 
them on the job. this ALLows me to mAke A cAreer of my hobby. And the cAsuAL working environment mAkes my trAining just As much fun As my hobby does. interesting 
Assignments, nice coLLeAgues, And the opportunity to bring new ideAs to Life: thAt describes whAt i do in production At eLmos. After compLeting my trAining, i Am now  
responsibLe for the reLiAbLe mAnufActuring of our products As An operAtor. ten yeArs Ago, i stArted my cAreer in production in dortmund. in 2006 i took chArge of pro-
cess engineering At our subsidiAry in cALiforniA. the eLeven members of my teAm originALLy hAiL from the u.s., indiA, chinA, vietnAm, And severAL europeAn countries. 
i enjoy mAnAging such A diversity of products And cuLtures. AnnuAL report 2011 After my trAining At eLmos i decided to go to university And to keep working At eLmos on the side.
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eLmos is A deveLoper And mAnufActurer of system 
soLutions on semiconductor bAsis. for more thAn 
25 yeArs now, our chips And sensors hAve mAde 
cArs And industriAL And consumer goods smAr- 
ter And more efficient And power sAving. from 
AirbAg And pArking Assist system, Led Lighting 
And home AutomAtion up to motor drivers And 
mAny more fieLds of use. our success is bAsed on 
our empLoyees. their commitment, pAssion, quALi- 
ficAtion, And teAm spirit Are the key to growth. 
ALL empLoyees hAve mAde their contribution to  
the successfuL fiscAL yeAr 2011. thAt is why we  
wouLd very much Like to introduce eAch And  
every one of them And their individuAL motivA- 
tion to you. however, this wouLd go quite beyond 
the scope of this report. therfore we provide you 
with just A smALL impression here – An insight  
into the compAny eLmos And the peopLe behind it. 
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Five-Year Overview ELMOS Group (IFRS)

in million Euro unless otherwise indicated 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Sales 176.1 175.1 123.8 184.7 194.3

Sales growth 9.6% –0.6% –29.3% 49.2% 5.2%

Gross profit 73.1 75.6 35.9 83.8 89.6

Gross margin 41.5% 43.2% 29.0% 45.3% 46.1%

Research and development expenses 30.9 31.6 25.3 29.6 32.5

Research and development expenses in % of sales 17.5% 18.1% 20.4% 16.0% 16.7%

EBIT 15.2 16.5 –15.8 23.1 26.6

EBIT in % of sales 8.6% 9.4% –12.8% 12.5% 13.7%

Income before income taxes 12.2 14.7 –17.3 21.7 25.8

Income before income taxes in % of sales 6.9% 8.4% –14.0% 11.7% 13.3%

Net income/(Net loss) 
attributable to owners of the parent 8.8 10.6 –12.2 17.8 18.9

Net income margin 5.0% 6.1% –9.9% 9.6% 9.7%

Earnings per share in Euro 0.45 0.55 –0.63 0.92 0.98

Total assets 244.8 245.3 221.7 249.2 269.9

Shareholders’ equity 155.4 166.4 154.4 172.3 187.9

Equity ratio 63.5% 67.9% 69.6% 69.1% 69.6%

Financial liabilities 54.0 40.6 40.8 40.5 40.7

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities 42.9 42.5 46.8 67.3 76.5

Net cash/(Net debt ) –11.1 1.8 6.0 26.8 35.7

Cash flow from operating activities 30.8 22.5 9.4 33.01 33.2

Capital expenditures
for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 24.5 20.8 7.4 12.4 19.4

Capital expenditures in % of sales  13.9% 11.9% 6.0% 6.7% 10.0%

Cash flow from investing activities –1.4 –12.2 –5.5 –20.51 –28.7

Free cash flow2 29.4 10.3 3.9 12.5 4.4

Adjusted free cash flow 3 6.4 1.7 2.1 20.2 10.7

Dividend per share in Euro 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.20 0.254

Employees on annual average 1,177 1,117 1,038 990 988

1 For adjustments of prior-year values please refer to note 1 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
2 Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities
3 Cash flow from operating activities less capital expenditures for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, 

  less payments for investments, plus disposal of investments
4 Subject to shareholders’ resolution at the Annual General Meeting in May 2012

Due to calculation processes, tables and references may produce rounding differences from the 

mathematically exact values (monetary units, percentage statements, etc.).
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Even today, balancing family 
and a career is not an easy thing 
to accomplish. 

With flexible working hours and a consider-

ation of individual needs, ELMOS provides 

an exciting working environment, enabling 

me to join my team in pushing our research 

activities.

Dr. Petra Rolfes-Gehrmann, development engineer 
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ELMOS gives me the opportunity to 
keep developing as a professional.

As manager of module process analysis, I have 

my share of responsibility for the quality of 

our products and processes. This daily challen-

ge makes my job tremendously exciting.

 
 Jean-Bernard Bukow, manager module process analysis
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Asia is an important growth market 
for ELMOS.

To cross the bridge between Germany and China 

successfully requires a lot of product know-how 

and cultural empathy. That’s my job.

Ling Jun Wang, application engineer ELMOS Shanghai
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Recruitment will increasingly 
gain in importance in the future.

It is my goal to shape the advanced training 

of our current and future employees in such a 

way that we will continue our success in the 

market.

Gudrun Ahlburg, HR development 
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ELMOS annuaL rEpOrt 2011 

Unique worldwide: FlexRay™ star coupler 

march ELMOS introduces the world’s first component accord-

ing to the new FlexRay™ specification. The ELMOS compo-

nent meets the high requirements of the auto manufactur-

ers with respect to electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) and 

electrostatic discharge (ESD). FlexRay™ is a fast and intelligent 

network for vehicles.

ELMOS donates to KITZ.do

April ELMOS donates 10,000 Euro to KITZ.do. KITZ.do 

wants to raise school kids’ interest in technical and natu-

ral sciences. KITZ.do systematically supports the early 

orientation of kids and adolescents toward natural sci-

ence and technology on a broad scale. It addresses all 

ages from kindergarten to seniors in high school and has 

established itself in Dortmund’s educational scene since 

its establishment in the year 2007. 

Highlights 2011 Unique worldwide: dual IO-Link master

january With the E981.12, ELMOS presents the world’s 

first dual IO-Link master transceiver. Essential func-

tions are integrated into the component; thus system 

costs e.g. in industrial automation are reduced consid-

erably. IO-Link is a low-cost communication system 

for industrial plants.

Research: On the road to electromobility

April ELMOS takes part in the research project RESCAR 2.0 

(“robust design of new electronic components for applica-

tions in the field of electromobility”). Its goal is to optimize 

the entire development process of electric and electronic 

components of electromobility systems. The project is sup-

ported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research 

(BMBF). Among the partners of ELMOS in this are Audi, BMW, 

and Bosch.



   11

Other infOrmatiOninfOrmatiOn fOr Our sharehOlders GrOup manaGement repOrt financial statements

Automatic start-stop system in cars

may One way to advance CO
2
 reduction in vehicles leads to 

the integration of an automatic start-stop system. With the 

ELMOS chip set, the voltage supply in the car’s wiring system 

can be maintained while the engine stops in front of a red 

light or while passengers are getting in or out. The ELMOS 

system comprises an intelligent combination of step-up and 

buck converters, depending on the voltage required.

Success in sports at the business run 

may The ELMOS men’s team won the team challenge at the 

3rd Dortmund Business Run. Thus the team defended last 

year’s title and won the competition for the second time in 

a row. The women’s team also achieved excellent results, 

recording personal best performances. Altogether more than 

30 employees of ELMOS joined the race. 

General Meeting decides dividend distribution 

may There will be a dividend once again. The shareholders 

liked to hear this message at the Annual General Meeting. 

On the whole, they made active use of their voting rights and 

adopted all agenda items with large majorities. This includ-

ed the distribution of a dividend in the amount of 0.20 Euro 

per share. 

New stepper motor driver 

june ELMOS has been a leading supplier of motor driver solu-

tions for many years now. In June 2011, ELMOS introduced a 

new component: The semiconductor is suited for driving up 

to three stepper motors. The component is qualified for auto-

motive and industrial applications. Potential fields of use are, 

in addition to stepper motors, DC motors, relay and LED appli-

cations, and switch system monitoring.

Highlights 2011

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Corporate governance report

ELMOS share
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For control units: sensor signal readout component 

july ELMOS introduces a sensor signal readout chip. The 

chip’s digital interface enables its use in the new generation 

of automotive control units. The measured data can com-

prise pressure, strain, load, and torque. Accordingly, the sen-

sor can be used for processing data provided by the air-con-

ditioning system or other automotive applications such as 

brake, emission control, or fuel level/internal tank pressure.

ELMOS joins solar start-up

july Investment with prospects for the future: ELMOS in-

vests in California’s TetraSun Inc. Another investor in the 

start-up, in addition to ELMOS and the TetraSun manage-

ment, is a major Asian energy company. TetraSun devel-

ops a new kind of monocrystalline silicon solar cells for 

reaching high efficiency at low production cost.

ELMOS signs distribution agreements 

july and october More power in Asia. ELMOS signed dis-

tribution agreements with WT Microelectronics and Tech-

nokey. WT Microelectronics is a semiconductor specialist 

with headquarters in Taiwan, maintains about 50 branches, 

and becomes a global distributor for ELMOS with an empha-

sis on Asian markets, especially China and Taiwan. With Tech-

nokey, the focus is on marketing proximity and gesture detec-

tion systems. Great importance is attached to customers in 

the Chinese market, too. Technokey has six offices in China 

and Hong Kong, and more in Taiwan and Japan. The distribu-

tor has more than 20 years of experience in addressing cus-

tomers, providing technical support, and logistics.

Partner foundry delivers first products 

july The partner foundry of ELMOS, MagnaChip in South 

Korea, ramped up production and delivered the first series-

produced, automotive-qualified 0.35µm wafers. ELMOS is 

now able to obtain wafers processed according to automo-

tive standards from external manufacturing sites outside of 

Germany as well. In the context of the flexible manufactur-

ing network and the regional diversification of production, 

this is a deciding edge. 

Motor driver for fans and pumps

August News from the motor driver product line: ELMOS 

introduces another semiconductor as part of its already 

extensive motor driver product portfolio. The EC motor 

driver with all its functions is suited for setting up a com-

plete, low-cost system. Target applications range from 

radiator fans and blowers, and fuel, hydraulic, oil and 

water pumps up to wiper applications and industrial 

drive systems (fans, pumps).
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Highlights 2011

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Corporate governance report

ELMOS share

Unique worldwide: interface chip for safe sensor systems

september ELMOS presents another innovation. The interface 

chip for the automotive PSI5 network passed the consortium’s 

conformity tests as the world’s first component. Thus net-

works can be set up that have advantages over the conven-

tional systems, particularly with respect to robustness, reli-

ability, and costs. The chip can be applied e.g. in linking up 

distributed sensors for the control of airbag systems, chas-

sis, and drivetrain. 

Solutions for energy efficiency at the SPS/IPC/Drives

october Fall is the traditional season for trade fairs. At the 

trade show SPS/IPC/Drives 2011, Elmos presents solutions for 

energy efficient systems. The product portfolio ranges from 

LED drivers and current sensors to network semiconductors 

for partial network operation. The semiconductors and sen-

sors have been strictly developed toward low energy con-

sumption in connection with the highest precision. SPS/IPC/

Drives is Europe’s leading trade fair for electronic automation. 

The customer feedback was very positive.

High-voltage LED controller family 

november With an ambient temperature range of –40°C 

to +125°C, the new ELMOS semiconductors for LED control 

are specially suited for use in rough environments such as 

the automobile or exterior lighting. Other fields of use are 

domestic interior lighting and TFT backlit displays. The chips 

provide all safety and control functions for assuring that the 

LEDs will live as long as possible. 

New Management Board member for Development and 

Sales 

december The Supervisory Board of ELMOS Semiconductor  

AG appointed Dr. Peter Geiselhart (54) new Management 

Board member effective January 1, 2012. He will assume 

responsibility for Development and Sales. Dr. Geiselhart has 

many years of experience in the industrial sector and the 

auto industry. Most recently he ran the automotive business 

unit “Car Entertainment Solutions” at NXP Semiconductors 

as senior vice president and general manager. Peter Geisel-

hart studied physics and earned his doctorate at TU Munich 

in 1988.

Research: “Energy efficient driving 2014”

december ELMOS is part of a joint research project for ener-

gy efficient driving supported by the Federal Ministry of Edu-

cation and Research. Over the past two years, eleven partners 

(among them Audi, BMW, Bosch, and Continental) of the Ger-

man auto industry did joint research on innovative technolo-

gies and concepts for the reduction of energy consumption 

and thus of CO2
 emissions. The measures developed by the 

joint project “energy efficient driving 2014” could decrease 

energy consumption overall by more than ten percent. The 

project’s findings will now be introduced into series develop-

ment of the partner companies involved and may come to life 

starting in the year 2015.
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Management Board

dr. Anton mindl 
CEO |  
Graduate physicist | born 1957 | 
Management Board member since 2005 | 
appointed until 2015 
 
key areas of responsibility 
Strategy, quality, human resources  
development, and micromechanics 
 
Member of the General Assembly  
of Dortmund Chamber of Industry and  
Commerce

nicolaus graf von Luckner 
Graduate economist |  
born 1949 | 
Management Board member since 2006 | 
appointed until 2013 
 
key areas of responsibility 
Finance, controlling, investor relations, 
corporate governance, administration, 
purchasing, information technology 

jürgen höllisch 
Engineer | 
born 1971 | 
Management Board member  
2008 to 2012 
 
key areas of responsibility  
Sales, design, product lines,  
projects, optoelectronics
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reinhard senf 
Graduate engineer | 
born 1951 | 
Management Board member since 2001 | 
appointed until 2016 
 
key areas of responsibility 
Manufacturing, assembly,  
technology development 

dr. peter geiselhart  
Graduate physicist |  
born 1957 | 
Management Board member since 2012 |  
appointed until 2014  
 
key areas of responsibility 
Sales, design, product lines, projects,  
optoelectronics

Highlights 2011

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Corporate governance report

ELMOS share
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“For ELMOS as a technology company, the employees’ know-

how is a particularly crucial factor. Their motivation, expert 

knowledge and flexibility are the prerequisite to the compa-

ny’s long-term success.” 

These lines are taken from last year’s annual report, and in 

2011 they proved to be true once again. Without highly moti-

vated employees, ELMOS would not have been able to record 

the success of the year 2011, and this applies for all areas: 

from research and development to design, production, and 

sales and logistics, to name but a few. Therefore we dedi-

cated this annual report to the women and men who work 

with us. As we cannot introduce them all to you in the annual  

report at hand, we want to at least give you a small impres-

sion of who the people behind the company “ELMOS” are.

I would like to begin my report with a presentation of what 

our employees have worked at: topics such as power saving 

networking, energy efficient LEDs, the advancement of com-

fort and safety functions like automatic climate control,  

automatic parking, human machine interfaces (HMI) via ges-

ture detection, tire pressure control systems, and pedestrian 

protection. Apart from these product and application deve-

lopments, the Asian market often was the focus of our  

activities, as was the ongoing expansion of our produc-

tion capacity by the conversion from 6-inch to 8-inch. While 

doing this, we always bear in mind that the requirements 

for the auto manufacturers and thus for ELMOS as a supplier 

of semiconductors and sensors is in a constant state of 

change: Conventional drive systems are being optimized 

and new technologies are being developed. Increasing urba- 

nization and more renewable energy sources (and dealing 

with them in an efficient way) as well as more and more  

environmentally sound mobility demand new products and 

new ideas. ELMOS employees work at this every day and, with 

new approaches and innovations, finally create a product 

that you will use every day in the future. 

Following this brief insight into the technical issues, I would 

like to direct the focus on the changes with a direct or indirect 

impact on our employees. Or, to put it another way: What 

was new or different from the year before?

For our employees in Asia, it was not a normal year – in a posi-

tive sense. Because in 2010, most of them did not belong to 

the ELMOS Group yet, and now, as we have our own loca-

tions in Singapore, Seoul, and Shanghai, we can proudly give 

account that we have erected – figuratively speaking – “light-

houses” that establish our basis for the future expansion in 

this region. The pace of business there is completely differ-

ent than in other regions of this world: Asian customers often 

want a solution faster than European or U.S. customers do. 

While just a few years ago the manufacturers of the Asian 

region settled for second best solutions, they now directly 

aim for cutting-edge electronic solutions. This approach will 

become established in 2012. The opportunities for growth 

can only be seized if innovative solutions are brought to series 

production faster than before and if you are there on location 

and understand the language and the culture. The majority 

of our office staff in Asia therefore come from these regions.

Our expanded development activities form the basis for this 

expansion. The development teams have not only gained 

capacity but enhanced capabilities as well. Thus we can bring 

more innovations to market more quickly – even, and espe-

cially, to Asia. The new teams in Germany, China, Singapore, 

and South Korea have exactly the kind and degree of motiva-

tion that has made ELMOS successful for years now. For these 

new employees, 2011 was not a normal year after all.

CEO letter

Ladies and gentlemen,
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Nor was 2011 a year like any other for our production. On the 

one hand, we pressed ahead with the conversion from 6-inch 

to 8-inch wafers successfully. On the other hand, our South 

Korean manufacturing and technology partner MagnaChip  

delivered automotive-qualified 0.35µm wafers to ELMOS in 

2011 for the first time. Due to the cooperation with this con-

tract manufacturer, we become more flexible within the manu- 

facturing network “ELMOS”. Moreover, we have expanded  

our cooperation for testing semiconductors in Southeast Asia 

further in 2011. With the natural disasters in Japan and Thai-

land, the semiconductor industry came to realize anew in 

2011 that regional single sourcing comes at a high risk. Strate- 

gies for an increase in delivery reliability will be more impor-

tant than ever in 2012 and beyond – with our different pro-

duction sites, we are well-prepared for that.

For a start-up company, every year is exciting. So 2011 was a 

special year for the solar start-up TetraSun based in California/

U.S.A. TetraSun develops a new kind of monocrystalline sili-

con solar cells for reaching high efficiency at low production 

cost. ELMOS has secured itself a non-controlling interest in 

this promising enterprise. 

That we would successfully complete 2011 even economical-

ly was not a matter of course, and it is essentially to the cred-

it of our employees. The financials reflect this: Sales gained 

5.2% to 194.3 million Euro, the gross margin was 46.1% (2010: 

45.3%). The EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) climbed 

to 26.6 million Euro (2010: 23.1 million Euro). This equals an 

EBIT margin of 13.7% of sales (2010: 12.5%). The group’s net 

income reached 18.9 million Euro, or a margin of 9.7% of 

sales, and thus corresponded with basic earnings per share of 

0.98 Euro – yet another record since the IPO. The adjusted free 

cash flow showed a sustained positive performance at 10.7 

million. We have thus reached our targets for 2011 to the full 

extent. Supervisory Board and Management Board therefore 

propose to the Annual General Meeting the distribution of a 

dividend in the amount of 0.25 Euro per share.

For the 2012 outlook, the one thing that can currently be con-

sidered certain is that it will not be an easy year. More and 

more indications suggest that the upswing will slow down 

worldwide. However, ELMOS is in a very good starting posi-

tion: We respond quickly and flexibly to any positive or nega-

tive changes in the global economy. By the consistent imple-

mentation of its strategy over the past years, ELMOS has 

grown into a financially strong company with a broad range 

of know-how. Still the company remains dependent on the 

global economic framework. As a result of the econom-

ic uncertainty, we have observed a defensive order behav-

ior of our customers for a few months now. Due to the slow 

start of the new fiscal year, ELMOS anticipates 2012 sales on 

the 2011 level. We will continue the increased commitment 

to sales and development particularly in Asia. This will affect 

profitability in 2012 compared to 2011. Capital expenditures 

are scheduled to be less than 15% of sales. The free cash flow 

will be positive. 

I think the year 2012 will be another very exciting year, but 

ultimately another good year for ELMOS. I think we have the 

right people in all areas, employees who radiate “we love 

what we do” in their daily work, people who not only recog-

nize the right thing to do based on their intelligence, empa-

thy, team spirit, and openness – but who also go and do it.

In closing, and on behalf of the entire Management Board, I 

would once more like to give my heartfelt thanks to our cus-

tomers and partners, our shareholders and our Superviso-

ry Board, and to all who have contributed to the success of 

ELMOS – and especially to our employees.

dr. Anton mindl

CEO of ELMOS Semiconductor AG
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Supervisory Board

as of December 31, 2011; for periods of membership, please refer to the supervisory board report

(from left to right) Thomas Lehner, Prof. Dr. Günter Zimmer, Dr. Klaus Weyer, Dr. Klaus Egger, Dr. Burkhard Dreher, and Sven-Olaf Schellenberg

prof. dr. günter zimmer, chairman
Graduate physicist | Duisburg
-> Member of the Board of Directors of   
 Dolphin Intégration S.A.

dr. burkhard dreher, vice chairman 
Graduate economist | Dortmund  
-> Member of the Supervisory Board of 
 Arcelor Mittal Eisenhüttenstadt GmbH
-> Member of the Supervisory Board of 
 Vattenfall Europe Mining AG

 
dr. klaus egger
Graduate engineer | Steyr-Gleink, Austria
-> Member of the Board of
 Hilite International Inc.

thomas Lehner
Graduate engineer | Dortmund  

sven-olaf schellenberg
Graduate physicist | Dortmund

dr. klaus weyer
Graduate physicist | Penzberg
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the Supervisory Board diligently attended to its duties and 

responsibilities imposed by law and the articles of incorpo-

ration in fiscal year 2011. Its members advised the Manage-

ment Board in running the company and supervised manage-

ment activity. In oral and written reports, the Management 

Board supplied the Supervisory Board regularly and timely 

with comprehensive information on the company’s situation. 

The Supervisory Board was directly involved in all decisions 

of substantial importance. The Management Board consulted  

the Supervisory Board on the company’s strategic orienta-

tion and analyzed divergences of the course of business indi-

vidually. The Management Board’s reports on all business 

transactions of relevance to the company were examined 

and discussed at length in the Supervisory Board meetings. 

Insofar as stipulated by law or the articles of incorporation, 

the Supervisory Board gave its opinion on the Management 

Board’s reports and resolutions following diligent exami-

nation and exhaustive discussion. Outside the framework 

of Supervisory Board meetings, the chairman and other  

members of the Supervisory Board were also informed about 

essential business transactions by the CEO. Conflicting inter-

ests of Management Board or Supervisory Board members 

subject to mandatory disclosure to the Supervisory Board or 

the General Meeting did not occur.

There were four meetings altogether in fiscal year 2011, 

namely on March 1, 2011, May 17, 2011, September 7, 2011, 

and December 16, 2011. The Supervisory Board meeting held 

on March 1, 2012 centered on the adoption and approval of 

the 2011 financial statements. 

During the sessions, the Supervisory Board informed itself in 

detail about the development of the fiscal year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2011, the company’s situation, and current business 

policy decisions on the basis of written and oral reports given  

by the Management Board. Based on these comprehensive 

explanations, the Supervisory Board passed the required reso- 

lutions. If necessary, resolutions were passed by Supervisory 

Board and Management Board together. 

The Supervisory Board regularly discussed the current perfor-

mance of the company with respect to sales, earnings, and 

liquidity in its sessions. In the individual meetings, the situ-

ation and structure of the group companies as well as the 

group’s strategic development beyond the year under review 

were dealt with in detail. Central issues were the expansion 

of sales activities and the new development locations in Asia 

as well as the expansion of development activities in Europe. 

The Supervisory Board also gave close attention to the com-

pany’s investment in California’s solar enterprise TetraSun 

Inc. Other key topics were the ongoing conversion in pro-

duction from 6-inch to 8-inch wafer diameters and the inclu-

sion of MagnaChip as foundry partner, the stock option plan 

2011 for employees and Management Board members, the 

risk management system, the present status of the compli-

ance program, the strategic process, and the company’s com-

pliance with the recommendations and suggestions of the 

German Corporate Governance Code. Yet another issue of pri-

ority was the appointment of the new Management Board 

member for Development and Sales. Furthermore, the Super-

visory Board prepared the upcoming Annual General Meet-

ing to be held on May 8, 2012. It also discussed the appoint-

ment of the auditor and supervised auditor independence. 

Moreover, the Supervisory Board examined the efficiency of 

its own work and evaluated it. 

Supervisory Board report 2011

dear shareholders, 
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In its session of March 1, 2012, the Supervisory Board con-

cerned itself with the financial statements of both ELMOS 

Semiconductor AG and the group. The auditor was also pres-

ent for a part of this discussion. At this meeting, the financial 

statements and the consolidated financial statements were 

adopted and approved by the Supervisory Board. 

All of the regular meetings of the Supervisory Board were 

attended by all of its members.

Audit of financial statements and consolidated financial 

statements

Consulting the certified accountants of Ernst & Young GmbH, 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Dortmund, the Supervi-

sory Board concerned itself in its meeting of March 1, 2012 

with the audit of the financial statements and consolidat-

ed financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 

31, 2011. According to the resolution of the Annual General 

Meeting of May 17, 2011 and the ensuing commission given 

by the Supervisory Board to the auditor, the financial state-

ments prepared in accordance with HGB provisions (German 

Commercial Code) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 

2011 and the management report of ELMOS Semiconductor 

AG were audited by Ernst & Young GmbH, Wirtschaftsprü-

fungsgesellschaft, Dortmund. The auditor issued an unqual-

ified audit opinion. The consolidated financial statements 

of ELMOS Semiconductor AG were prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as applicable in the EU and completed with the statements 

required under Section 315 a (1) HGB. The consolidated finan-

cial statements according to IFRS and the group management 

report also received an unqualified audit opinion. The finan-

cial statement documents, the annual report, and the audit 

reports were submitted to all Supervisory Board members in 

due time. In the Supervisory Board meeting held on March 

1, 2012, the statements and reports were also explained by 

the Management Board. The certified accountants who had 

signed the audit reports also reported on the results of their 

audit in this session.

After its own examination of financial statements and man-

agement report of ELMOS Semiconductor AG, consolidated 

financial statements and group management report of the 

ELMOS Group, and the Management Board’s proposal for the 

appropriation of profits, the Supervisory Board approved the 

auditor’s findings based on the audit and approved the finan-

cial statements of ELMOS Semiconductor AG and the conso-

lidated financial statements of the ELMOS Group. The finan-

cial statements are thus adopted. The net income of ELMOS 

Semiconductor AG in accordance with HGB amounts to 18.9 

million Euro in 2011; the profit carried forward from the year 

2010 comes to 55.5 million Euro after dividend distribution. 

Retained earnings thus add up to 74.4 million Euro. Superviso-

ry Board and Management Board propose to the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting the resolution to pay a dividend of 0.25 Euro per 

share out of these retained earnings and to carry forward the 

remaining amount to new accounts.

Corporate Governance

Management Board and Supervisory Board cooperate close-

ly to the company’s benefit and are committed to the sus-

tainable increase of shareholder value. The Supervisory Board 

informs itself regularly about the new standards of corpo-

rate governance. In September 2011, Management Board 

and Supervisory Board jointly released an updated declara-

tion pursuant to Section 161 AktG (Stock Corporation Act) on 

compliance with the recommendations of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code in the version of May 26, 2010. It can 

be found in this annual report on page 23. This and all previ-

ous declarations of compliance have been made permanently 

accessible to the shareholders on the company’s website. The 

joint corporate governance report prepared by Management 

Board and Supervisory Board is also part of this annual report, 

starting on page 22.
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Composition of Supervisory Board and Management Board

The Supervisory Board consists of six members and does 

not set up committees. 

The Annual General Meeting of May 17, 2011 elected a new 

Supervisory Board. Due to the necessity of a new composi-

tion of the Supervisory Board in accordance with Sections 

1 (1), 4 DrittelbG (One-Third Participation Act) and Sections 

95, 96 (1) AktG (Stock Corporation Act), the mandates of 

all former Supervisory Board members expired on May 17, 

2011. Furthermore, the Annual General Meeting of May 17, 

2011 decided an amendment to the articles of incorpora-

tion, increasing the number of the members of the Supervi-

sory Board from three to six. Up to the entry of this amend-

ment to the articles of incorporation in the commercial 

register on June 27, 2011, the board consisted only of three 

acting members. 

Compliant with the German One-Third Participation Act 

(“Drittelbeteiligungs-Gesetz”), the Supervisory Board con-

sists of four shareholder representatives and two employ-

ees’ representatives. Elected to represent the shareholders  

were Prof. Dr. Günter Zimmer, Dr. Burkhard Dreher, Dr. 

Klaus Egger, and Dr. Klaus Weyer. Thomas Lehner and Sven-

Olaf Schellenberg were previously elected to the board as 

employees’ representatives. The new Supervisory Board, 

initially consisting of Prof. Dr. Zimmer, Dr. Dreher, and Mr. 

Schellenberg, convened for the first time after the Annu-

al General Meeting. In this constituent meeting, Prof. Dr. 

Günter Zimmer was elected chairman and Dr. Burkhard 

Dreher was elected vice chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

After the entry of the amendment to the articles of incor-

poration in the commercial register on June 27, 2011 for the 

purpose of an increase in the number of Supervisory Board 

members, Dr. Egger, Mr. Lehner, and Dr. Weyer also became 

members of the Supervisory Board. 

Dr. Peter Geiselhart was appointed new member of the 

Management Board for Development and Sales effective 

January 1, 2012. Former Management Board member for 

Development and Sales, Jürgen Höllisch, left the company 

as of February 29, 2012. We thank Mr. Höllisch for his dedi-

cated work on the Management Board and his successful 

contribution to the expansion of the product portfolio and 

the markets for ELMOS. 

More information on the members of the Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board can be found on pages 

14/15 and on page 18 of this annual report. 

The Supervisory Board thanks all employees and all mem-

bers of the Management Board for their commitment and 

their contribution to the success in fiscal year 2011.

Dortmund, March 1, 2012

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

prof. dr. günter zimmer

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Corporate 
governance report
(including the statement on corporate gover-
nance)

In the following chapter, the Management Board – also on 

behalf of the Supervisory Board – reports on corporate gov-

ernance at ELMOS Semiconductor AG pursuant to No. 3.10 

of the German Corporate Governance Code. This chapter 

includes the statement on corporate governance in accor-

dance with Section 289a HGB (German Commercial Code) 

and the remuneration report.

Implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code 

For the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG, corporate governance means the 

realization of responsible and sustainable company man-

agement with the necessary transparency in all areas of the 

group. Management Board and Supervisory Board have again 

concerned themselves intensively in fiscal year 2011 with the 

provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code in its 

last amended version of May 26, 2010. In September 2011, 

they jointly released the declaration of compliance in accor-

dance with Section 161 AktG once again. Apart from the four 

reported deviations, all recommendations of the German 

Corporate Governance Code are complied with. All previously 

released declarations of compliance have been made perma-

nently accessible on the ELMOS website. 

Compliance

One of the essential tasks of the Management Board is the 

control and monitoring of compliance in the group. Compli-

ance stands for the observance of applicable law as well as 

of all rules and guidelines that exist within the company. 

The compliance program at ELMOS provides the organiza-

tional foundations for this. The essential principles applied 

by ELMOS were put down in January 2011 in a code of con-

duct. It primarily includes guidance on the interaction with 

business partners and colleagues, dealing with information 

and data, and avoiding conflicting interests, and it address-

es the issues workplace safety and environmental protection. 

All employees were given copies of the code of conduct for 

their information. Training courses have been held for partic-

ularly sensitive areas. The code of conduct is a binding com-

ponent of every employment contract concluded after the 

code’s introduction. It is available on the ELMOS website and 

is effective throughout the group. 

Individuals with access to insider information find entry in 

an insider list and are informed about the applicable statuto-

ry provisions. They are regularly referred to trade restrictions 

due to their insider status. 

Working methods of Management Board and Supervisory  

Board 

Management Board and Supervisory Board feel jointly com-

mitted to responsible corporate governance. Their highest 

goal is to safeguard the company’s existence and to increase 

the shareholder value.

The Management Board currently has four members. At the 

beginning of the year 2012, Dr. Peter Geiselhart joined the 

Management Board. He assumed responsibility for Develop-

ment and Sales, taking over from Jürgen Höllisch, who left 

the company as of February 29, 2012. For an interim period 

from January 1 to February 29, 2012, the Management Board 

thus had five members.

The members of the Management Board are responsible for 

their respective key areas (overview on pages 14/15); togeth-

er they assume responsibility for the entire management in 

accordance with the applicable law, the articles of incorpora-

tion, the board’s rules of procedure, and the resolutions of the 

General Meeting of shareholders. The Management Board 

represents the company to the outside world. The board is 

responsible for the management of the group, the definition 

and monitoring of the group’s strategic orientation and cor-
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Declaration of compliance 2011

management board and supervisory board of eLmos semiconductor Ag declare in accordance 
with section 161 Aktg (german stock corporation Act):

“i. statements with respect to the future

ELMOS Semiconductor AG complies with the recommendations of the "Government Commission German Corporate 

Governance Code" (in short: GCGC) in its current version of May 26, 2010 with the following exceptions and will comply 

with them in the future with the exceptions here stated:

-> The currently valid D&O liability insurance for the Supervisory Board does not provide for a personal deductible 

for its members (GCGC No. 3.8). Motivation and responsibility cannot be increased by a deductible. 

-> For currently existing Management Board member contracts, no severance payment caps were defined for the 

case of premature termination of a contract without a serious cause (GCGC No. 4.2.3). The Supervisory Board 

considers a limitation of the remuneration to a severance payment which is lower than the contract duration 

agreed upon as not appropriate in light of the company’s interest to commit the Management Board members 

to the company.

-> Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members is stated in the corporate governance report with reference to its 

components but not individualized (GCGC No. 5.4.6 sentence 6). Remuneration paid by ELMOS Semiconductor AG to 

Supervisory Board members for individually performed services, in particular consulting and mediation services, is 

also not disclosed individually (GCGC No. 5.4.6 sentence 7). In order to assure equal treatment in the disclosure of the 

remuneration of Management Board and Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board’s remuneration is not disclosed 

in a more extensive individualized form as well.

-> The Supervisory Board does not discuss each half-year or quarterly financial report prior to publication for the pur-

pose of expeditious implementation (GCGC 7.1.2).

ii. statements with respect to the past

The GCGC in the version of Mai 26, 2010 and announced by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the 

electronic Federal Gazette on July 2, 2010 have been complied with since the release of the declaration of compliance 

in December 2010 with the exceptions mentioned above under I.”

Dortmund, September 2011

   prof. dr. günter zimmer    dr. Anton mindl 
         Chairman of the Supervisory Board                         Chief Executive Officer 
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porate targets, and group financing. The Management Board 

usually meets in full session once a week. The Management 

Board gives regular, extensive, and timely reports to the 

Supervisory Board on all developments and events of rele-

vance to the company. 

The Supervisory Board supervises the Management Board, 

appoints its members and advises them with respect to the 

company’s management. Upon the nomination of candidates 

for the Management Board, the Supervisory Board examines 

the eligibility of women and men equally. However, finding 

the right person for the position according to his or her quali-

fication for the benefit of the company remains the top prio-

rity. 

Management Board and Supervisory Board work togeth-

er closely and with mutual trust. The Management Board 

always involves the Supervisory Board in essential decisions. 

The rules of procedure of the two boards define this cooper-

ation, among other issues. A detailed summary of the Super-

visory Board’s work can be found in the Supervisory Board 

report starting on page 19. The chairman gives a report to the 

shareholders on the board’s work over the past fiscal year at 

each Annual General Meeting. 

The Supervisory Board has six members, elected for five years 

in accordance with the articles of incorporation. The amend-

ment to the articles of incorporation providing for an increase 

in the number of Supervisory Board members from three to 

six was decided by the Annual General Meeting on May 17, 

2011. Pursuant to the provisions of the German One-Third 

Participation Act (Drittelbeteiligungsgesetz), the Supervi-

sory Board consists of four shareholder representatives and 

two employees’ representatives. The representatives of the 

shareholders are elected by the Annual General Meeting, the 

employees’ representatives are elected by the staff. The most 

recent elections were held in 2011 so that the Supervisory 

Board is elected until the 2016 Annual General Meeting. The 

Supervisory Board does not set up committees as this would 

not lead to an increase in the efficiency of its work at present. 

Based on the requirements defined by the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has established 

goals and principles with respect to the board’s composi-

tion. Among them are international experience, technical and 

entrepreneurial expertise, strategic vision, knowledge of the 

company, industry specific know-how, and experience with 

accounting and internal control processes. Diversity and the 

avoidance of conflicting interests are part of these principles 

as is an adequate participation of women. The Supervisory 

Board has set itself the target that at least one woman shall 

be represented on the Supervisory Board in the future. It has 

also determined an age limit of 72 years for its members at 

the time of election. 

These goals and principles – with the exception of the intend-

ed participation of women – are fully realized already with 

the present composition of the Supervisory Board of ELMOS 

Semiconductor AG and will also be considered for future 

nominations. At the last election, the pursued participation 

of women could not be realized yet; however, it remains the 

stated goal to consider women for these positions as well. 

The election proposals made by the Supervisory Board for the 

election of Supervisory Board members will primarily be ori-

ented toward the company’s benefit while considering these 

goals.

The composition of Management Board and Supervisory 

Board are described on pages 14/15 and on page 18 of this 

annual report.

Shareholders and General Meeting

Shareholders make use of their rights at the Annual Gener-

al Meeting. Prior to the meeting, they receive the agenda, 

the conditions for participation, and upon request the annu-

al report. All the documents relating to the upcoming and 

the past Annual General Meetings as well as further infor-

mation on participation in and voting at the General Meet-

ing are available on our website – also in English – and can be 

requested in print from the company. 
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Shareholders who cannot attend the Annual General Meet-

ing in person have the option to assign their voting rights to 

proxies nominated by ELMOS. The proxy can be contacted  

throughout the entire length of the General Meeting. 

Furthermore, the Annual General Meeting is broadcast in 

its entirety per webcast on our website. After the General  

Meeting, shareholder presence and voting results will be 

announced on our website. The next Annual General Meeting 

will be held on May 8, 2012 in Dortmund.

Dates of importance to the shareholders are compiled annu-

ally in a financial calendar which is published on the Inter-

net and in the annual report. All quarterly and annual finan-

cial reports are available on the website. The CEO and the CFO 

regularly provide information to analysts and investors with-

in the framework of road shows and conferences. The inves-

tor relations team of ELMOS Semiconductor AG is also avail-

able for any questions the shareholders may have.

Anticipatory risk management 

Efficient risk management contributes to the success of 

sound corporate governance. Risk management of this grade 

does its part in detecting risks at an early stage, assessing 

them, and initiating adequate countermeasures. All company 

divisions are involved in the risk management system imple-

mented at ELMOS. Parameters for risk assessment are the 

probability of occurrence and the estimated amount of loss. 

This risk assessment is updated quarterly or at even shorter 

intervals if necessary. We give account of the principles of the 

risk management system as well as of current corporate risks 

in the group management report.

Audit conducted by Ernst & Young 

Before submitting the proposal for the appointment of the 

auditor, the Supervisory Board obtained a declaration from 

the auditor for fiscal year 2011 on relationships between the 

auditor, its boards, and its audit manager with the company 

or the company’s board members. This declaration furnished 

no doubts about auditor independence. Compliant with No. 

7.2.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Super-

visory Board arranged for the auditor to give account with-

out delay of any material findings and incidents to occur dur-

ing the performance of the audit. The Supervisory Board also 

determined that the auditor inform the Supervisory Board or 

make note in the audit report if the auditor establishes dif-

ferences from the declaration of compliance as issued by the 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board. No inconsis-

tencies of this kind were established.

Stock option plans 

ELMOS has issued stock option plans for employees, execu-

tives, and Management Board members. Stock options con-

tinue to represent an important and customary component 

of a modern remuneration system and a suitable means for 

incentive and the long-term commitment of employees. The 

share price is a central criterion for our shareholders to deter-

mine the return on an investment in the company. The link to 

the share price therefore is the beneficiaries’ incentive with-

in the framework of the stock option plan. The performance 

hurdle and the absolute performance target are 20% so that 

options can only be exercised if the shareholder value has 

been increased considerably. Moreover, the pecuniary advan-

tage the beneficiaries can achieve by exercising their options 

is limited to a fourfold of the exercise price defined upon the 

issue of options. 

The plans are explained in detail in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements. Please refer to note 23 for further 

information.

Remuneration report 

total remuneration of the management board

The Supervisory Board decides and routinely reviews the 

remuneration system and the essential contract terms and 

conditions for the Management Board members in full ses-

sion. Total Management Board remuneration compris-

es a fixed monthly salary, a management bonus, and stock 

options as well as fringe benefits and pension benefits. The 

company does not provide an individualized disclosure of 

the remuneration with respect to privacy protection. Man-
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agement Board and Supervisory Board agree that such a dis-

closure would not contribute to greater transparency in the 

form of additional information relevant to the capital market. 

For this reason the Annual General Meeting of May 4, 2010 

decided to exempt the company from its legal obligation for 

individualized disclosure of Management Board remunera-

tion for the period of five years.

In fiscal year 2011, the members of the Management Board 

received a total fixed remuneration of 1,587 thousand Euro 

(2010: 1,318 thousand Euro) and variable remuneration of 

1,051 thousand Euro (2010: 1,791 thousand Euro). Manage-

ment Board remuneration comprises fixed components and 

variable incentive components which are linked to the group’s 

current earnings before taxes on the one hand and personal, 

individualized targets, agreed on annually with the Supervi-

sory Board, on the other hand. In the year 2011, 50,000 stock 

options (2010: 50,000 stock options) of ELMOS Semiconduc-

tor AG were issued altogether to the members of the Man-

agement Board. The total time value of these options came 

to 88 thousand Euro at the time they were granted (2010: 112 

thousand Euro). There are indirect pension commitments to 

members of the Management Board of ELMOS Semiconduc-

tor AG for which no accruals are required because of the vol-

ume of these commitments and risk coverage provided by 

completely congruent pension plan reinsurance. In the year 

2011, contributions to these pension plans amounted to 520 

thousand Euro (2010: 341 thousand Euro). They are included 

in the fixed components of the remuneration.

Remuneration of former Management Board members or 

their surviving dependants amounted to 268 thousand Euro 

in fiscal year 2011 (2010: 364 thousand Euro). In addition, 

insurance premiums of 271 thousand Euro were paid for this 

group of beneficiaries (2010: 347 thousand Euro). Pension 

provisions for former Management Board members or their 

surviving dependants came to 2,502 thousand Euro as of 

December 31, 2011 (2010: 2,533 thousand Euro). After setting 

off pension provisions against the time value of pension plan 

reinsurance, 364 thousand Euro (2010: 480 thousand Euro) 

remain as pension provisions and similar obligations alto-

gether recognized for the group.

Apart from pension commitments and compensation agree-

ments in case of a change of control, no additional benefits 

have been promised to any Management Board member in 

case of the termination of occupation. Nor did any member 

of the Management Board receive benefits or corresponding 

promises from third parties with regard to his position on the 

Management Board in the past fiscal year.

total remuneration of the supervisory board

The Supervisory Board’s remuneration is determined by Sec-

tion 9 of the articles of incorporation. The Supervisory Board 

members receive fixed and variable payments apart from the 

reimbursement of their expenses. The variable remuneration 

is linked to the dividend and thus oriented toward the com-

pany’s long-term success. 25 percent of the fixed remunera-

tion and 100 percent of the variable remuneration are paid 

in shares of the company at present. The Supervisory Board 

members are not granted stock options of ELMOS Semicon-

ductor AG for their positions on the board. The employees’ 

representatives receive stock options only in the context of 

their employment with ELMOS Semiconductor AG.

Compliant with the recommendation of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code with respect to Supervisory Board 

remuneration in consideration of chairmanship and vice 

chairmanship, the chairman receives twice the amount of 

the regular fixed payment and the vice chairman receives one 

and a half times of said amount. The Supervisory Board mem-

bers’ remuneration is disclosed in summarized form, yet not 

individualized. This also applies for payments made to Super-

visory Board members for individually performed services, 

particularly consulting and mediation services. 
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The fixed remuneration paid to members of the Supervisory 

Board amounted to the total sum of 59 thousand Euro in fis-

cal year 2011 (2010: 85 thousand Euro). This amount includes 

expenses and disbursements. Payments of variable remu-

neration amounted to 89 thousand Euro (2010: 0 thousand 

Euro). The company paid 23 thousand Euro (2010: 140 thou-

sand Euro) to members of the Supervisory Board for consult-

ing and other services. 

Directors’ dealings

Individuals who hold executive positions with the issuer of 

stocks and persons closely related to such individuals are 

obligated by law to disclose the purchase and sale of stock 

of ELMOS Semiconductor AG in accordance with Section 15a 

WpHG (Securities Trading Act). All such directors’ dealings 

are announced immediately upon notification Europe-wide 

and publicized on the company’s website. For detailed infor-

mation about directors’ dealings, please refer to the notes to 

consolidated financial statements (note 38). 

Stocks and stock options 

The disclosures of the company’s stocks and stock options 

held by members of Management Board and Supervisory 

Board members are explained in detail in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. Please refer to note 35 for 

this information. In accordance with No. 6.6 GCGC, the mem-

bers of the Supervisory Board had combined direct or indirect 

holdings of approx. 40% of the stocks issued by the company 

and the members of the Management Board had combined 

direct or indirect holdings of less than 1% (as of December 31, 

2011).

Highlights 2011

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Corporate governance report

ELMOS share
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Integral labor, social and ethical standards

A high satisfaction level among the employees and the devel-

opment of their full potential should be the objective for any 

company. For this reason, ELMOS offers its employees regu-

lar specialist trainings and further education courses in var-

ious formats in order to safeguard effective work and a con-

tinuous professional development of the staff. Since ELMOS 

is an internationally positioned company, employees are e.g. 

trained in English in economy, finance, and sales classes by an 

English tutor. This measure leads the students to the interna-

tionally acknowledged Cambridge Certificate.

ELMOS wants to be more than just a place to work and is 

aware of its social responsibility for its employees. Apart from 

an in-house gym for health promotion, the ELMOS health 

team provides a comprehensive and versatile portfolio of 

examinations and events for its employees. In addition to 

birthmark control and the annual flu shot, an event on the 

issue of breast cancer prevention was held in the year 2011. 

The most important event, however, was organizing a corpo-

rate typing session on the premises of ELMOS in cooperation 

with the German Bone Marrow Donor Center (DKMS) with 

the result that new donors for people suffering from leukemia 

were registered. Another very special project with respect to 

social responsibility is the Knut Hinrichs Relief Fund, initiated 

by ELMOS employees. The goal of this registered association 

is the granting of one-time financial aid or ongoing support in 

cases of need and indigence as well as providing health pre-

vention and further education to acting or former employees 

as well as their spouses and children. Knut-Hinrichs-Unter-

stützungskasse e.V. is funded by voluntary grants contributed 

by ELMOS Semiconductor AG. In the year 2011, assistance 

could be provided by this association in three cases.

The issue of compliance is gaining more and more in impor-

tance against the backdrop of a globalizing economy. Compli-

ance is regarded as the observance of laws and guidelines in 

companies. ELMOS has prepared a code of conduct which is 

binding for all employees. In this code, ELMOS commits itself 

to a corporate culture based on mutual respect, regardless of 

sex, religion, nationality, ethnical background, disabilities, and 

age. The code also deals with the principles of entrepreneur-

ial conduct, the handling of information and data, donations, 

workplace safety, environmental protection, and leadership, 

responsibility and supervision. The code is available for down-

load on our website and can be requested as a print copy.

environmental protection is one of our guiding corporate prin-

ciples. For us, product quality, economy, occupational safety, 

and environmental protection are equally high ranking cor-

porate goals and components of an integrated corporate phi-

losophy. Acting responsibly today safeguards the future. Our 

commitment to the environment shows in our ISO 14001 cer-

tification. For more than 10 years, ELMOS has actively taken 

measures beyond statutory eco and health protection regula-

tions. We want to make a contribution so that co-workers and 

neighbors can continue living in a healthy environment in the 

future. You can find all the data and facts on the issue of envi-

ronment as well as information on eco targets both defined 

and reached in our eco report available on our website.

It is also important to us as a company to assume responsibil-

ity for society. youth and training promotion is a part of it for 

us, as is the support of charitable institutions. In the context 

of our social responsibility, we therefore regularly donate to 

the charities. In 2011, ELMOS supported KITZ.do, among oth-

er projects, a center for raising the interest of school kids in 

technical and natural sciences. Over the past years, we tried 

to make a contribution to the remedy of urgent problems 

both domestically and abroad by a large number of different 

fundraising campaigns. In 2011, one of these measures was 

financing the corporate typing event for the German Bone 

Marrow Donor Center.
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The development in the stock markets was split in two in 

2011. While the first half of the year – despite the natural 

disaster in Japan – predominantly recorded light upward and 

sideways movements, there was a stock price collapse at the 

end of July/beginning of August 2011. In view of the deterio-

rating economic data from the U.S. and the consequences of 

rising public debt – with a new austerity package for Greece, 

acquisitions of Italian and Spanish government bonds by the 

European Central Bank and concern about the state of the 

European banks –, the stock markets were under a lot of pres-

sure. After grim losses, the stocks managed to recover a lit-

tle by the end of the year. However, the high volatility of the 

markets did not let up and was fueled even more by fears of a 

worldwide economic downturn. 

ELMOS trading volume (Xetra and Frankfurt floor) in thousand shares

Jan.             Feb.             March             April             May             June             July             Aug.             Sep.             Oct.             Nov.             Dec.
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ELMOS key stock data

2010 2011

Number of shares 

outstanding at the end of 

the year 19,414,205 19,414,205

52-week high (Xetra) 9.54 Euro | (Dec. 13) 11.98 Euro | (April 6)

52-week low (Xetra) 5.60 Euro | (May 25) 6.03 Euro | (Oct. 4)

Year-end closing price 

(Xetra)

9.41 Euro 7.96 Euro

Annual performance 40.4% −15.4%

Market capitalization at 

the end of the year 182.7 million Euro 154.5 million Euro

Market value to book value1 

at the end of the year 1.1 0.8

Shares traded on daily 

average (Xetra and 

Frankfurt floor) 42.3 thousand 46.5 thousand

Earnings  per share (basic) 0.92 Euro 0.98 Euro 

Dividende per share 0.20 Euro 0.25 Euro2

1 Shareholders’ equity
2 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting in May 2012

Basic stock information 

Key data

ISIN DE0005677108

WKN 567710

Stock symbol ELG

Reuters ELGG.DE

Sector Technology

The ELMOS share is a no-par value bearer share (no-par share). 

It is traded on all German stock exchanges as well as on the 

Xetra system. As Prime Standard issuer of stocks, ELMOS 

meets the highest transparency requirements beyond the lev-

el of the General Standard and thus beyond the transparency 

standards as defined by European Union regulation.

Therefore all indices lost value in 2011: The DAX fell by 14.7%, 

Technology All Share dropped 16.2%, the TecDax lost 19.5%, 

and the DaxSector Technology declined by 27.6%. The ELMOS 

share lost 15.4% in the year under review and thus performed 

better than most indices did. It reached its 52-week low of 

6.03 Euro on October 4, 2011 and its 52-week high on April 6, 

2011 at 11.98 Euro. At the end of the year, the ELMOS share 

was quoted at 7.96 Euro.

ELMOS share price performance 

period ended 12/31/2011 Since 1/1/2010 Since 1/1/2011

eLmos (xetra) 18.8% −15.4%

Industry indices

TecDAX −16.2% −19.5%

DAXSector Technology 1 15.3% −27.6%

DAXSector All Technology1 −31.7% −40.5%

Technology All Share1 −8.6% −16.2%

DAXSubsectorSemiconductors1 18.5% −27.2%

DAXSector Automobile 26.7% −19.0%

General market indices

DAX −1.0% −14.7%

Prime All Share1 1.4% −14.3%

CDAX1 0.9% −14.8%

1 ELMOS is included in these indices

The average daily trading volume of the ELMOS share (Xetra 

and Frankfurt/Main) kept up the satisfactory trend of the 

past years and recorded another slight increase over the pre-

vious year, now coming to 46.5 thousand shares (2010: 42.3 

thousand shares). About 90% of the shares continued to be 

traded on Xetra.

The market capitalization of ELMOS amounted to 154.5 mil-

lion Euro at the end of the year (December 31, 2010: 182.7 

million Euro), based on 19.4 million shares issued.

Highlights 2011

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Corporate governance report

ELMOS share
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Share details

Type of shares No-par value ordinary bearer shares

Transparency level Prime Standard

Market segment Regulated market

IPO October 11, 1999

Designated sponsors Close Brothers Seydler Bank, WestLB

Index inclusion CDAX, DAX International Mid 100, 

DAXPLUS FAMILY, DAXSector All 

Technology, DAXSector Technology, 

DAXSubsector All Semiconductors, 

DAXSubsector Semiconductors, 

Prime All Share, Technology All Share

Shareholder structure

The share capital of ELMOS Semiconductor AG is divided into 

19,414,205 no-par value shares with a proportionate amount 

of 1.00 Euro of the share capital allotted to each share. As 

of December 31, 2011, the company holds 105,931 treasury 

shares. In the year 2012, stock options from the tranche issu-

ed in 2009 can be exercised for the first time which might 

lead to an increase in share capital by a maximum amount of 

up to 458,230 Euro. 

On January 7, 2011, fidelity Management & Research Com-

pany fell below the voting rights threshold of 3%. As of that 

date, the company held 2.95% or 571,782 voting rights in 

ELMOS. On January 25, 2011, the parent FMR LLC also fell 

below the voting rights threshold of 3%, taking into conside-

ration the voting rights held by its subsidiaries attributed to 

the parent. At that time, the company held 2.96% or 575,000 

voting rights in ELMOS, including the voting rights held by 

subsidiaries and attributed to the parent. 

On March 3, 2011, jp morgan Asset management (UK) excee-

ded the voting rights threshold of 3% and held at that date 

3.01% or 583,766 voting rights. On March 15, 2011, it fell 

below the voting rights threshold of 3% again. At that time, 

the company held 2.97% or 575,750 voting rights.

On March 4, 2011, fpm funds sicAv (Luxembourg) exceeded 

the voting rights threshold of 3% and held 3.02% or 585,785 

voting rights at that date. After FPM Funds SICAV fell below 

the voting rights threshold of 3% on May 26, 2011, holding at 

that time 2.98% or 579,100 voting rights, it reported that it 

had exceeded the voting rights threshold of 3% again on June 

30, 2011, holding 3.01% or 584,531 voting rights at that date.

All voting rights announcements were made public Europe-

wide according to statutory regulations and are also availab-

le at www.elmos.com.

 

Shareholder structure
December 31, 2011

Jumakos Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft mbH 15.3%

Treasury shares 0.5% Further non-free float 3.9%

Free float 44.1%
ZOE-VVG GmbH 15.7%

Weyer Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft mbH 20.5%
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Dividend

Management Board and Supervisory Board propose to 

the Annual General Meeting in May 2012 the payment of 

a dividend of 0.25 Euro per share for fiscal year 2011 out 

of the 2011 retained earnings of ELMOS Semiconductor 

AG in the amount of 74.4 million Euro. This equals a divi-

dend increase per share by 25%. The total dividend payout 

would thus amount to approximately 4.8 million Euro.

Investor Relations

In the year 2011, ELMOS continued to inform investors about 

the current situation and the corporate strategy within the 

framework of road shows, conferences, and company visits 

on location. We also informed analysts and investors, and, 

upon request, individual shareholders as well, by conducting 

conference calls subsequent to the announcement of results. 

Thus we enable our shareholders and other interested capital 

market participants to realistically assess our business situa-

tion and, in particular, to consider our prospects. ELMOS pur-

sues the goal to inform comprehensively and quickly and to 

be accessible at any time – for private and institutional inve-

stors, analysts, and other interested parties alike. Aiming for 

both comprehensive and timely information provided equal-

ly to all target groups, we have compiled a large body of cor-

porate information on our website. Interested investors may 

inform themselves in detail about the company and its pro-

ducts and technologies at www.elmos.com on the Inter-

net. Apart from information about corporate governance, 

the Investor Relations section also offers financial reports, a 

financial calendar, the company’s articles of incorporation, 

information on the Annual General Meeting, press releases, 

directors’ dealings, and the recordings of our conference calls 

on the occasion of quarterly and annual financial statements. 

ELMOS is also happy to send out information such as annual 

reports or quarterly reports by mail or e-mail. We maintain an 

e-mail distribution list to inform interested investors regular-

ly about corporate news, and we are also active in social net-

works (Twitter, Xing, and YouTube).

Annual General Meeting

13,597,191 Euro or 70.04% of the share capital were repre-

sented at the twelfth Annual General Meeting held on May 

17, 2011 at the Casinosaal Hohensyburg in Dortmund. Each 

agenda item was adopted with a large majority of the votes. 

The General Meeting decided the increase of the Supervisory 

Board from three to six members. Apart from the usual items 

on the agenda, the Management Board was also authorized 

to create new authorized capital due to the expiry of the pre-

vious authorization. At the Annual General Meeting 2011, 

much use was made once again of the possibility to entrust 

one’s voting rights to the proxy nominated by the company. 

Shareholders who could not attend in person were able to 

watch the broadcast of the General Meeting on the Internet 

again last year, either live or as a recording later. The upco-

ming Annual General Meeting on May 8, 2012 will also pro-

vide shareholders and potential investors with the option 

to use the Internet broadcast. In addition, shareholders can 

exercise their voting rights either directly, by use of a proxy of 

their choice, or by use of a company-nominated proxy accor-

ding to their instructions.

Research-Coverage

-> Close Brothers Seydler Research

-> DZ Bank

-> fairesearch

-> Natixis Securities

-> Mirabaud Securities

-> Warburg Research

-> WestLB

Contact

eLmos semiconductor Ag 

Investor Relations, Heinrich-Hertz-Straße 1 

44227 Dortmund, Germany

Phone + 49 (0) 231-75 49-287 

Fax + 49 (0) 231-75 49-549 

invest@elmos.com, www.elmos.com

Highlights 2011
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At ELMOS I study the basics of IT 
and apply them on the job.

This allows me to make a career of my hobby. 

And the casual working environment 

makes my training just as much fun as my 

hobby does.

Yannick Bockshecker, electronic technician trainee, 
information and telecommunication systems



36

As an automotive semiconductor 
specialist, ELMOS has high quality 
awareness.

As project manager, I pay attention to meeting 

the targets of our customers and giving  

them 100% satisfaction at each and every step. 

Their positive feedback proves that ELMOS is 

doing a good job.

Ravi Dhanaraj, project manager
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Job training, extra-occupational 
studies and a stay abroad – all this 
I have achieved with ELMOS. 

Now, after earning my graduate degree, I will 

have my part in developing the energy saving 

products of tomorrow. This is how I am ma-

king my contribution at ELMOS to creating a 

promising future, both for myself and for society.

Verena Mester, test engineer



40

After my training at ELMOS I  
decided to go to university and  
to keep working at ELMOS on 
the side.

Following my direct job entry and a stint at 

our Californian subsidiary, I am now able 

to share the full range of my knowledge and 

skills in my job as process engineer.

Sebastian Husemann, process engineer
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Business and 
economic framework
Business activity
ELMOS was founded in the year 1984 in Dortmund where the 

company has its headquarters. The majority of sales (more 

than 90%) is generated with microelectronic circuits – so-

called semiconductors. The smaller portion of shares is gene-

rated with micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS).

Extensive product portfolio

The core competence of ELMOS is the development, manu-

facturing and distribution of mixed-signal semiconductors.  

The mixed-signal technology ELMOS provides is distinguished  

by manufacturing high-voltage components, sophisticated 

analog functions, and complex digital circuits in one com-

pact process. This combination of rather entirely different 

requirements in one process is the core of the mixed-signal 

technology of ELMOS. Semiconductor chips in mixed-signal 

technologies are particularly suited for applications where 

the chip must have high packing density and is at the same 

time required to work under extreme ambient conditions. 

With respect to the automobile, this means that a mixed-

signal chip makes perfect sense wherever processes are ana-

lyzed and circuits are connected. An integrated sensor e.g. 

is capable of detecting and analyzing the yaw rate, acceler-

ation, slope angle, pressure, and even light. There are many 

fields of use in industrial and consumer goods applications as 

well, for instance in motion detectors, gesture and proximity 

detection, smoke detectors, or products featuring electronic 

motors. 

MEMS complete the product portfolio. At ELMOS, they come 

primarily in the form of high-precision pressure sensors in  

silicon, developed, manufactured and distributed by the  

subsidiary Silicon Microstructures (SMI) in Milpitas/U.S.A. 

ELMOS: the specialist for automotive electronics

Roughly 85% of sales are generated with electronics for the 

automotive industry. The share of electronics in the automo-

bile is constantly increasing: Comfort applications such as 

parking assist systems, air conditioning or power door locks 

are taken for granted today as features of contemporary vehi-

cles. Safety and comfort electronics in particular have made 

a quantum leap over the last few years. Especially lower fuel 

consumption has recently moved to the center of attention. 

Further reductions are possible only through the intelligent 

use of electronics – this also holds true, and especially so, for 

the use of electric powertrains.

One characteristic of semiconductors for the automotive 

market is the long product life cycle. New automotive projects 

usually require development periods between one and three 

years before being series-produced for about three to eight 

years, while regional differences are noticeable. Sometimes 

the duration of the product life cycle changes considerably if 

car manufacturers put to use a similar technology platform 

for a family of new car models. ELMOS is able to supply its cus-

tomers with the same chip over a long period because of spe-

cial manufacturing options and its in-house manufacture. 

Other characteristics of our business are the very high quality  

requirements and the robust semiconductor technology.

Since its formation, ELMOS has achieved a leading market 

position as semiconductor manufacturer in the market for 

automotive electronics. ELMOS chips are used by virtually all 

automakers worldwide. Immediate competitors in certain 

sub-segments are austriamicrosystems, Micronas, Melexis, 

and ON Semiconductor. When it comes to projects involving 

very high volumes, ELMOS also competes with major semi-

conductor manufacturers such as Freescale Semiconductor, 

Infineon Technologies, NXP Semiconductors, and STMicrolec-

tronics. 

Potential in the markets for industrial and consumer goods 

Apart from the automotive market, ELMOS is also busy 

in the industrial and consumer goods markets, supplying 
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Product portfolio

Interface components
Interface products made by ELMOS 
facilitate communication between the 
separate electronic sub-assemblies. In 
addition to high requirements on relia-

bility and robustness, these semiconductors must sup-
port different protocols – depending on respective 
application and market – so that all network partici-
pants understand each other. In vehicles for example, a 
so-called PSI5 interface transfers information required 
for reliably activating an airbag.

Voltage supply components
Special components made by ELMOS, 
so-called switching regulators, enable 
the energy efficient adjustment of dif-
ferent voltage levels, e.g. the supply of 

a 3.3V microcontroller from available 12V battery vol-
tage. Similar switching regulators also serve for opera-
ting LED light sources. Depending on the number of LEDs 
per channel, the task is to multiply the supply voltage at 
constant currents. ELMOS LED driver products make this 
possible with high efficiency.

Optical sensors and HALIOS®
ELMOS components for optical sensor 
systems based on the HALIOS® princi-
ple facilitate innovative control systems 
of various applications using gestures. 

The components make touchless interaction with dis-
plays, smartphones, tablet PCs, or lighting applications 
possible. Power switch, dimming, selection, rotation 
and zoom functions are some of the options that can 
be realized. The HALIOS® principle applied is insensitive 
to external influences such as stray light, dirt, and wear.

Motor drive systems
Motor drive systems contain integra-
ted circuits used for operating and posi-
tioning electric motors. ELMOS semi-
conductors see to it that the motors are 

operated in an energy efficient way. With these compo-
nents, actuators for power seats, AC flaps or wipers, and 
drivers for fans or pumps can be controlled. Apart from 
that, many components are also suited for industrial 
applications such as drive systems, blowers, and many 
others.

Sensors and safety 
ELMOS has a broad product portfolio 
of so-called sensor readout ICs. They 
are utilized e.g. for reading out electric 
resistance sensors, recording physical 

quantities such as pressure, motion, and angle of light 
incidence, as well as for other special sensors. Ultraso-
nic sensor systems for example, used for parking assist 
systems in cars. In the realm of safety, a large number 
of products were developed together with customers, 
for the energy management of airbag systems, among 
other fields. 

Special products 
The special products segment comprises 
many components made by ELMOS that 
meet a high requirements for system 
integration. From special energy effici-

ent heating control, providing the operation of actua-
tors in addition to sensor data analysis as well as taking 
over burner control and safety functions, up to control-
ling spark plugs in cars. A lot of the products are distin-
guished by ELMOS project experience of many years and 
were created in many cases in close cooperation with a 
customer.

Business and economic framework 

Profit, financial and economic situation

Information with respect to takeover law

Risks and opportunities

Events after the reporting period

Outlook
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semiconductors for applications e.g. in household appli-

ances, photo cameras, medical technology, installation 

and facility technology, and machine control systems. The 

competence achieved in automotive applications can be 

transferred to industrial and consumer goods products in 

similar form. At present, the contribution to group sales 

amounts to roughly 15%. 

Customer and application specific components

At present, ELMOS predominantly manufactures products 

by customer order for a specific application, exclusively for 

the respective customer. Apart from these customer spe-

cific circuits (ASICs), comprising about 85% of sales (2010: 

about 85%), ELMOS also develops and offers an ever-growing 

portfolio of application specific standard products (ASSPs). 

A majority of products currently in development are ASSPs; 

those will have an increasing significance for futures sales. 

Strategy
In the year 2011 ELMOS continued to make progress on 

schedule in the implementation of its strategy. The strategic 

cornerstones and the progress made in their realization are 

outlined in the following paragraphs. 

From custom tailor to trendsetter

ELMOS has made a name for itself as a specialist for solutions 

in the field of automotive and industrial semiconductors. 

These so-called application specific integrated circuits (ASICs) 

are based on the principle that exclusive customer requests 

and application requirements are identified and suitable 

approaches to solutions are developed – therefore this type 

of semiconductor is also called “customer specific”.

Over the past years there has been a continuing trend toward 

more standardized components. Many customers have deci-

ded to forgo exclusive solutions and to use application speci-

fic standard products increasingly – so-called ASSPs. Just like 

ASICs, they are tailored to an application, yet not developed 

exclusively for one customer. The internal structures are con-

stantly being aligned in order to strengthen the position in 

the market for the long term. Due to the proximity to many 

customers, product ideas are identified and – in line with our 

motto, “Setting standards in innovation” – presented to the 

market first by ELMOS. The market success of the ASSP solu-

tions is encouraging. In 2011, ELMOS informed the custom-

ers about the product portfolio, apart from direct customer 

contact in Europe, the U.S. and Asia also at the world’s leading 

trade fairs like SPS/IPC/Drives in Nuremberg and other trade 

shows, and has received positive feedback throughout.  

Stronger entry into industrial and consumer goods markets

Historically speaking, our strength resides in the automo-

tive market. However, we recognize considerable opportu-

nities for our products and engineering services in the mar-

kets for industrial and consumer goods. In order to seize these 

opportunities increasingly, ELMOS has intensified its efforts 

in this area significantly. We have contracted additional dis-

tributors to address a global customer base. In addition, we 

are targeting key customers in these markets with our own 

sales team specialized in industrial and consumer goods mar-

kets. The new design team members hired in 2011, e.g. for 

digital design, and the 50% investment in MAZ Brandenburg 

underline these targeted activities. The fields of network sys-

tems, lighting concepts, sensorics, and power supply meet 

with great customer attention. 

Development of the Asian markets 

Over the past years, the company has successfully taken on 

the development of the Asian markets, particularly in South 

Korea, Japan, and China, and made very good progress. Sales 

generated in 2011 with customers in Asia have gained consid-

erably on the year before once again. In order to participate 

even more in the dynamic growth market, ELMOS opened 

new offices in Shanghai/China and Singapore in 2011 in addi-

tion to its location in Seoul/South Korea. Furthermore, ELMOS 

signed agreements with the two distributors WT Microelec-

tronics and Technokey. Both companies are renowned spe-

cialists for the Asian countries.
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Strategic partnerships 

Through strategic cooperation with partners, ELMOS can 

make useful additions to its own capabilities in order to offer 

a broader product portfolio in the long term and thus to 

increase competitiveness. Within the framework of coopera-

tion, we are developing a new technology generation together  

with the South Korean contract manufacturer MagnaChip 

and also use this company as partner foundry. In 2011 we 

obtained processed wafers for series production from Magna- 

Chip for the first time. Thus ELMOS is able to cut down on 

expenditure requirements and respond more flexibly to 

heavily fluctuating volumes. Apart from MagnaChip, we work 

together with a large number of partners for assembly and 

testing.

Larger share of MEMS and microsystems

The development of MEMS projects has been pressed ahead 

with over the past fiscal years to the effect that a combina-

tion of MEMS and readout electronics (microsystem) for a 

safety application has entered series production. The next 

generation of this product is being prepared. MEMS pres-

sure sensors for the automotive, medical and industrial mar-

kets are also in series production for customer projects. In the 

field of tire pressure sensorics (TPMS), the ELMOS Group has 

established itself as a leading supplier. Furthermore, pres-

sure sensors increasingly find successful use in various mar-

ket segments, particularly in the medical sector. MEMS will 

see continued rising demand over the next years and open up 

many new options for applications. According to recent mar-

ket surveys conducted by Gartner Dataquest, pressure sen-

sors will represent the best selling MEMS segment in 2014.

Research and development
The development activity of ELMOS centers on the mar-

ket-oriented expansion of the product portfolio. The 

majority of the product development cost ELMOS incurs 

is pre-financed by the company and must be amortized 

through current series production. This applies in par-

ticular to the development of application specific stan-

dard products (ASSPs), currently a priority of development 

already and about to represent a larger share of the total 

sales of ELMOS in the future.

Product developments are strictly aligned with market 

requirements. ELMOS prioritizes in a multi-stage process 

different product ideas and takes into account unit num-

bers, information on competition, and feasibility, among 

other factors. Only those projects are realized that meet 

the targets defined by the company for market expecta-

tions, margin potential, and strategic orientation.

The result of those product developments is a number of 

new semiconductors and sensors. ELMOS continued to 

present worldwide unique innovations in 2011; among 

the products introduced are the following:

-> ELMOS presented the second generation of its series-pro-

duced active FlexRay™ star coupler. As the first compo-

nent worldwide, it passed the certification according to 

the latest FlexRay™ Electrical Physical Layer (EPL) specifi-

cation V3.0. The FlexRay™ network is used in time-critical 

and safety relevant car networks.

-> With the E981.12, ELMOS introduces the world’s first dual 

IO-Link master transceiver. IO-Link is a low-cost communi-

cation system used in industrial automation.
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-> Moreover, part of the ELMOS portfolio is the world’s 

first semiconductor that passed the conformity tests 

according to PSI5 specification V1.3. PSI5 is an open 

standard for bidirectional, digital sensor data transmis-

sion in vehicles. The standard is applied, among other 

fields of use, in airbag systems as well as in chassis and 

powertrain technology.

-> A new LED controller family with an ambient temperature 

range between–40°C and +125°C was also presented to 

the customers. These ELMOS ICs are particularly designed 

for use in rough environments such as car headlights or 

exterior lighting of buildings. Other fields of use are inte-

rior home lighting and TFT backlit displays. 

-> A new chip set made by ELMOS enables automatic start-

stop in automobiles. With the ELMOS chips, the voltage 

supply in the car’s wiring system can be maintained while 

the engine stops in front of a red light or while passen-

gers are getting in or out. This not only saves fuel but also 

improves the CO2
 footprint of the vehicle.

-> Furthermore, ELMOS introduced a semiconductor for driv-

ing up to three unipolar stepper motors. This IC is quali-

fied for automotive and industrial applications. Potential 

fields of use are stepper motors, DC motors, relay and LED 

applications, or switch system monitoring.

The new developments focus on energy-efficient and eco-

friendly products. A majority of products have the goal of 

making the operation of the customer’s application more 

efficient and thus reaching a competitive edge. In order to 

further expand the market position of ELMOS, research and 

development activities were intensified considerably in 2011. 

By adding additional design teams, ELMOS not only gained 

capacity but also enhanced its capabilities, thus equipped to 

address additional application fields in the future.

Other focal points were the continued development of the 

0.35µm technology and the capacity expansion for current 

manufacturing processes. Furthermore, the development of 

a 0.18µm technology as a joint development with Magna-

Chip is setting the course for being able to offer competitive 

technologies for product development in the future, too.

Research and development expenses came to 32.5 mil-

lion Euro or 16.7% of sales in 2011. In view of the company’s 

growth, research and development activities will be contin-

ued on a high level in 2012. 

Employees
For ELMOS as a technology company, the employees’ know-

how is a particularly crucial factor. Their motivation, expert 

knowledge, and flexibility are the prerequisite to the compa-

ny’s long-term success. Especially with regard to the devel-

opment of new products and processes, the employees rep-

resent the deciding criterion for growth and innovation. At 

the locations in Dortmund and Duisburg, in Germany’s most-

populated federal state North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW), 

ELMOS is able to recruit from a large number of well-trained 

young engineers as there are more than 50 universities and 

colleges in the vicinity. ELMOS has maintained a close cooper-

ation with these institutions ever since the company’s foun-

dation and holds a singular position as the sole semiconduc-

tor manufacturer in the region. We have increased our efforts 

over the past years to find suitable applicants for vacancies. 

ELMOS is active in recruiting events, on the Internet (job 

search engines, Xing, our own website), cooperates with local 

institutions of education, and holds informative events for 

college students.
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Employees by function

ELMOS Group (annual average)

Development of the number of employees

ELMOS Group (year-end)

Production 49%

Research & 
development 23%

Quality 4%

Administration 15%

Sales 9%

991
Employees

1,014
Employees

2010

764 821

2011

Other 
subsidiaries

Silicon
Microstructures

ELMOS
Dortmund & Duisburg

ELMOS has enhanced both its competence and know-how 

with the targeted recruitment of new staff. Altogether, the 

number of employees has grown in 2011 compared to the 

end of the year 2010, despite the sale of the special packa-

ging business as of December 31, 2010 and the corresponding 

staff reduction in the Netherlands by about 70 employees. 

The strengthened activities toward product development 

and the marketing of new products led to a staff increase 

in the development and sales departments. The number of 

employees at the NRW locations Dortmund and Duisburg 

climbed to 821 as of December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010: 

764), the number of employees in the group gained 2.3% on 

year-on-year comparison to 1,014 as of the reporting date 

(December 31, 2010: 991). On annual average, the number of 

ELMOS Group employees remained stable at 988 (2010: 990). 

The average age of the staff was 39 years in 2011 (2010: 40 

years).

ELMOS offers professional training for a variety of commer-

cial and technical professions, with an emphasis on the train-

ing of microtechnologists. By the end of 2011, the Dortmund 

location was home to 39 trainees (2010: 29).

In Dortmund, Management Board and employees work 

together in a trusting partnership supported by an employee 

representative committee. The employees’ interests among 

each other and toward the management are discussed and 

supervised in subcommittees. There are subcommittees for 

social issues, human relations, personnel development, and 

economic issues. In accordance with the German One-Third 

Participation Act (Drittelbeteiligungsgesetz), the Supervisory 

Board of ELMOS has been composed to one third of employ-

ees’ representatives since May 2011. Additional information 

can be found in the Supervisory Board report.
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Production
ELMOS operates semiconductor manufacturing sites in Ger-

many with 6-inch and 8-inch diameter wafers using various 

CMOS technologies. With investments in new equipment and 

the conversion from 6-inch machinery to 8-inch wafer dia-

meter, the share of 8-inch wafers in the total manufacturing 

capacity has been gradually increasing. The utilization of pro-

duction capacity was pleasantly high throughout the entire 

year 2011; nevertheless, the targeted conversion of some 

60% of total capacity to 8-inch by the end of the year 2011 

was achieved. The planned continuing conversion to 8-inch 

capacity will further increase total capacity. This safeguards 

the competitiveness of ELMOS wafer manufacturing. Apart 

from wafer production, the Dortmund location also includes 

a test area where whole wafers and packaged components 

are subjected to electric tests. In addition to the German 

semiconductor manufacturing sites, ELMOS has a production 

location at its subsidiary SMI in Milpitas/California/U.S.A., at 

whose 6-inch site MEMS pressure sensors are manufactured. 

The in-house manufacturing sites are completed by coope-

ration with contract manufacturers (foundries). These found-

ries make additional capacity available, thus enabling ELMOS 

to respond flexibly even to heavily fluctuating demand. In 

2011, ELMOS obtained the first processed wafers for series 

production from the partner foundry MagnaChip.

Organizational structure 
The ELMOS organization is oriented toward internal demands 

and the target markets, as well as the customers’ require-

ments for innovation, quality, flexibility, and delivery reli-

ability. The resulting tight customer-supplier relationship is 

reflected by the ELMOS Group’s structural layout. 

Several branches, subsidiaries, and partner companies at  

various locations in Europe, the United States, Asia, and Africa 

provide sales and application support to the customer on the 

spot. The main production site for semiconductors is located  

in Dortmund, the one for MEMS is located in Milpitas/

California/U.S.A.

The Munich branch and the companies Mechaless (Bruch-

sal), GED (Frankfurt/Oder), MOS (South Africa), ELMOS France 

(Paris), and ELMOS North America (Detroit) provide sales sup-

port or development services on location. New additions in 

2011 are the sales and design locations Berlin (50% invest-

ment in MAZ Brandenburg) and Bruchsal. In Asia, ELMOS 

maintains its presence with representatives and an office in 

Seoul/South Korea, and since most recently also with own 

offices and development capacity in Singapore and Shang-

hai/China. The subsidiary ELMOS France will be merged into 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG in 2012.

In the course of the increased sale of ASSPs and non-automo-

tive products, ELMOS additionally brings its products to mar-

ket through various distributors. The ELMOS Group collabo-

rates with a large number of partners in Europe, U.S.A., and 

Asia. Cooperation facilitates design wins and the logistic reali-

zation of new contracts for electronics used in automotive, 

industrial and consumer goods applications and in medical 

technology. In 2011, distribution contracts were signed with 

WT Microelectronics and Technokey, both headquartered in 

Asia, among other arrangements.

In its segment reporting, ELMOS distinguishes between the 

business sectors semiconductor and micromechanics. The 

micromechanics segment reflects the business operations of 

SMI. All other companies and activities are comprised in the 

semiconductor segment.
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St. Petersburg

Detroit

Milpitas

Pretoria

Seoul

Shanghai Tokyo

Singapore

Dresden
Berlin

Dortmund

Frankfurt/Oder

Bruchsal Munich

Main locations of the ELMOS Group

europe

-> dortmund: ELMOS Semiconductor AG | Development, production, 

 sales

-> bruchsal: Design location and Mechaless Systems GmbH | Development 

-> munich: Sales

-> frankfurt/oder: Gärtner-Electronic-Design GmbH | Development

-> dresden: DMOS Dresden MOS Design GmbH | Development

-> berlin: MAZ Mikroelektronik-Anwendungszentrum GmbH 

 im Land Brandenburg | Development, sales

-> st. petersburg: Development

u.s.A.

-> milpitas, california: Silicon Microstructures Inc. | 

 Development, production, sales

-> detroit, michigan: ELMOS N.A. Inc. | Development, sales

AsiA

-> seoul, south korea: ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd. | Development, sales

-> Seoul, South Korea: Cooperation with MagnaChip Semiconductor | 

 Development, production

-> shanghai, china: ELMOS Semiconductor Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. | 

Development, sales

-> tokyo, japan: Sales

-> singapore: ELMOS Semiconductor Singapore Pte. Ltd. | 

 Development, sales

AfricA

-> pretoria, south Africa: Micro Systems on Silicon (MOS) Limited | 

 Development, sales
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Quality
Within the framework of continuous improvement pro-

cesses, ELMOS puts its first-time-right and zero-defect 

strategy consistently into practice. ELMOS thus achieves 

an outstanding quality level with its products as well as in 

its business, manufacturing, and service processes. Due to 

anticipatory quality planning and monitoring of customer 

requirements as soon as in the development stage, quali-

ty is produced with full competitiveness and a minimum 

number of rejects and safeguarded through subsequent 

selection.

Regular examinations of the tools and processes put to use, 

closest attention to the series products from acquisition 

and development to manufacturing and delivery, constant  

analyses, and cutting-edge statistical processes make this 

high quality level possible. By means of a sophisticated 

traceability system, ELMOS is able to detect the reasons 

for the slightest deviations in quality early on and to mini-

mize their effects in an effective and sustained manner in 

order to provide efficient customer support. In-house labo-

ratories analyze and scrutinize not only potential defect  

mechanisms in semiconductor manufacturing but sensor 

and packaging specific features as well, thus closing the 

loop system for the continuous improvement of ELMOS’ 

manufacturing processes.

The ELMOS quality management system is audited annual-

ly at the certified locations for compliance with the require-

ments of DIN ISO 9001 and ISO/TS 16949 in monitoring 

audits or repeat audits by our certifier.

General economic framework
Automotive industry

The global car market was in a robust state in the year 2011. 

The U.S., China, and India were its growth drivers. However, 

Western Europe’s market for passenger cars declined slightly. 

The global market for new cars gained altogether 6% in 2011 

to 65.4 million units, according to the German Association of 

the Automotive Industry (VDA).

In western europe, the passenger car market was virtual-

ly stable (–1%) at more than 12.8 million new registrations 

for the full year 2011 as expected. The performances of the 

national markets were decidedly heterogeneous, though. The 

majority of the significant markets showed a weak perfor-

mance in the course of the year. The number of new passen-

ger car registrations dropped 2% in France, 4% in Great Brit-

ain, 11% in Italy, and 18% in Spain. Germany was a positive 

exception in this respect, raising the number of new regis-

trations by about 9%. With a total of some 3.1 million new 

registrations, Germany was once again the largest market in 

Europe, followed by France (2.3 million vehicles) and Great 

Britain (1.9 million vehicles).

The u.s. market for light vehicles (passenger cars and light 

trucks) increased over the full year 2011 to 12.7 million units, 

or by 10% compared to the prior-year level. For the first time 

ever, according to VDA data, the German auto makers sold 

more than 1 million light vehicles in the United States.

The growth rate recorded for the chinese market has slowed 

down some after years of very strong growth. Still, the full 

year continues to show pronounced growth dynamics with a 

volume of 12.2 million passenger cars or 8% ahead of the prior- 

year record. india filed a satisfactory result at the end of the 

year. In spite of a more restrictive monetary policy and higher  

fuel prices, India’s passenger car market gained 6% over the 
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full year 2011 to reach 2.5 million new registrations. The mar-

ket in Japan shows the impact of the natural disaster of March 

2011. After a slump in the first quarter, however, the market 

managed to recover quickly in the course of the year. Yet the 

annual volume was still 16% below the prior-year amount at a 

total of 3.5 million vehicles in 2011.

General semiconductor market 

In 2011, the global semiconductor market grew by 1% com-

pared to 2010, according to market research company WSTS. 

Sales thus amounted to 302 billion U.S. dollars. Sensors were 

the fastest growing segment worldwide. 

Automotive semiconductor market 

Usually the automotive semiconductor market grows even 

if car production remains constant. This is due to the con-

stantly rising share of electronic systems in the automo-

bile. In the year 2011, drivetrain and safety systems as well 

as driver assistance applications continued to be the fastest 

growing segments. According to market researcher Strategy 

Analytics, the share of semiconductors per car has gone up 

3.9% from 2010 to 2011, to 290 U.S. dollars per vehicle. For 

the market of automotive semiconductors, Strategy Ana-

lytics expects an average annual growth rate of 9% for the 

period from 2011 to 2016.
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Profit, financial and 
economic situation
Financial statements according to IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of ELMOS Semicon-

ductor AG for fiscal year 2011 have been prepared in accor-

dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) as applicable in the EU.

ELMOS Group key figures according to IFRS 

in million Euro or % unless 

otherwise indicated 2010 2011 Change

Sales 184.7 194.3 5.2%

Gross profit 83.8 89.6 7.0%

in % 45.3% 46.1%

Research and 

development expenses 29.6 32.5 9.8%

in % 16.0% 16.7%

Distribution expenses 12.6 16.2 28.4%

in % 6.8% 8.3%

Administrative expenses 17.8 16.7 –6.0%

in % 9.6% 8.6%

Operating income 
before other operating expenses/
income 23.8 24.2 1.8%

in % 12.9% 12.5%

EBIT 23.1 26.6 15.1%

in % 12.5% 13.7%

Income before taxes 21.7 25.8 18.9%

in % 11.7% 13.3%

Net income 
attributable to owners of the parent 17.8 18.9 6.6%

in % 9.6% 9.7%

Earnings per share (basic) 

in Euro 0.92 0.98

Dividend per share in Euro 0.20 0.251 25.0%

1 Proposal to the Annual General Meeting in May 2012

Sales development
Sales of the year 2011 had a positive development in com-

parison with the year before and achieved a new record level.  

Sales grew 5.2% to 194.3 million Euro (2010: 184.7 million 

Euro). Adjusted by sales recorded for the special packaging 

business sold as of December 31, 2010, sales even gained 

8.8% in 2011 (adjusted 2010 sales: 178.6 million Euro). 

Sales by region

With respect to the breakdown of sales by region, the con-

tinuing positive development of the region Asia/Pacific  

is worth highlighting. Compared to 2010, sales generated  

in this region increased 47.1% to 34.8 million Euro. Its 

share in 2011 group sales thus climbed to 17.9% (2010: 

12.8%). Moreover, the sales growth in the United States 

is good news as well. Compared to the prior-year period, 

sales went up 10.6% to 14.5 million Euro (2010: 13.1 mil-

lion Euro) and thus contributed 7.5% (2010: 7.1%) to group 

sales. Germany and the other European countries were on 

the decline, accounting for 35.5% (2010: 38.0%) and 32.4% 

(2010: 34.5%) of group sales, respectively. 

Sales by customer and product 

ELMOS supplies more than 100 customers. Among them 

are predominantly suppliers to the auto industry and to a 

lesser extent industrial customers and manufacturers of 

consumer goods. In 2011, three of our customers accounted 

for more than 10% of group sales each. Sales generated  

with our top customers are usually attributable to a great  

many different products at different stages of their res-

pective life cycles. Our top ten customers amounted to 

roughly 68% of 2011 sales (2010: 65%), the ten best sell-

ing products together came to roughly 44% (2010: 42%).

Order backlog 

The development of orders received was stable in 2011. The 

customers’ defensive order behavior, compared to the begin-

ning of the year and setting in by mid-year 2011, kept up until 

and beyond the end of the fiscal year. The book-to-bill ratio 

was below one at the end of the year.
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To determine the book-to-bill, the orders received for the 

next three months are compared with sales of the past three 

months. Order backlog is usually entered upon receiving the 

customer’s order. It is influenced by different factors such 

as demand, order behavior, production lead time, etc. Order 

backlog may vary between the time of placing the order and 

delivery due to changes in customer demand or market con-

ditions. As soon as production is started, an order usually can-

not be canceled anymore. However, there is no guaranty for 

order backlog to turn automatically into future sales.

New projects (design wins) 

The competition for new projects was intense, as it was in 

the past years. ELMOS managed to be quite successful in the 

market for design wins. Among them are ASIC as well as ASSP 

projects. Particularly worth mentioning are new acquisitions 

in the Asian region. They give proof of the growing demand 

for innovative products provided by a manufacturer with 

many years of experience in the semiconductor sector. The 

continued success with customers for industrial and consum-

er goods is satisfying. Here volumes are usually smaller than 

in the automotive market.

Profit situation
In spite of significant investments in sales and development, 

the quality of earnings was slightly raised in 2011 compared 

to the previous year once again.

Gross profit

The gross profit grew by 7.0% in the reporting period to reach 

89.6 million Euro (2010: 83.8 million Euro). This is equivalent 

to a 2011 gross margin of 46.1% (2010: 45.3%). The dispropor-

tionate increase in gross profit in relation to sales is accounted  

for primarily by higher capacity utilization. It must be taken 

into consideration that this result was achieved despite nega-

tive effects on earnings such as price reductions for customers  

at the beginning of 2011, cost increases due to higher world 

market prices for materials, and the impact on manufacturing 

efficiency caused by the conversion from 6-inch to 8-inch 

Sales by region

Other EU countries 32.4%

U.S.A. 7.5%

Asia/Pacific 17.9%

Other countries 6.7%

Germany 35.5%

Sales by customer

Top 10 68%

Others 32%

Sales by product

Top 10 44%

Others 56%
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The EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) climbed to 

26.6 million Euro (2010: 23.1 million Euro), primarily based 

on exchange rate gains (instead of exchange rate losses 

incurred in 2010) and the higher other operating income at 

lower other operating expenses compared to the previous 

year. This results in a considerable improvement of the EBIT 

margin from 12.5% to 13.7%.

Income before taxes, net income, earnings per share

Net finance expenses decreased to 0.8 million Euro in 2011 

(2010: 1.4 million Euro). After taxes in the amount of 6.6 mil-

lion Euro (2010: 3.9 million Euro), the group’s net income 

attributable to owners of the parent reached 18.9 million 

Euro in 2011, compared to 17.8 million Euro in the previous 

year. This result equals basic earnings per share of 0.98 Euro 

(fully diluted: 0.96 Euro), compared to earnings per share of 

0.92 Euro in 2010 (fully diluted: 0.91 Euro).

Proposal for the appropriation of retained earnings

The net income of ELMOS Semiconductor AG* according to 

HGB amounts to 18.9 million Euro in 2011. The profit car-

ried forward from the year 2010 comes to 55.5 million Euro 

after dividend distribution. As the condition for the payment 

of a dividend, the company determined in the past years that 

the development of earnings and the development of cash 

flows must both be sustainably positive. In view of the pleas-

ant financial development in 2011, Management Board and 

Supervisory Board propose to the Annual General Meeting of 

May 8, 2012 to distribute a dividend of 0.25 Euro per share 

out of the retained earnings in the amount of 74.4 million 

Euro. This equals a dividend increase per share of 25% and a 

total dividend payout of 4.8 million Euro. 

*  The financial statements of ELMOS Semiconductor AG have received an unqualified audit 
opinion. They will be released in the electronic Federal Gazette, filed with the commer-
cial register, can be requested as a special print publication, and are available on the com-
pany’s website.

manufacturing in Dortmund at high production capacity uti-

lization. The improvement of the gross margin in the course 

of the year is primarily due to the increase in manufacturing 

efficiency based on the continued conversion from the 6-inch 

to the 8-inch production line.

Operating income before other operating expenses/in-

come and EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes)

Research and development expenses grew by 9.8% in 2011, 

disproportionately in relation to sales, to 32.5 million Euro 

(2010: 29.6 million Euro). New staff in design is the main  

reason. This scheduled competence enhancement addresses  

new applications and new regional markets. In relative 

terms, R&D expenses climbed from 16.0% to 16.7% of sales. 

The increase in distribution expenses from 12.6 million Euro 

in 2010 by 28.4% to 16.2 million Euro in the reporting period  

is also principally accounted for by additional staff, parti-

cularly for expanding our presence in Asia. Administrative 

expenses dropped 6.0% in 2011 to reach 16.7 million Euro 

(2010: 17.8 million Euro).

The margin of operating income before other operating 

expenses/income did not quite reach the prior-year value 

at 12.5% because of the increase in operating expenses in 

the areas development and sales (2010: 12.9%). In absolute 

terms, however, the operating income before other oper-

ating expenses/income rose from 23.8 million Euro to 24.2 

million Euro. 
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Sales and earnings by segment

in million Euro or % Segment 2010 2011 Change

Sales 

Semiconductor 170.1 177.4 4.3%

Micro-

mechanics 14.6 16.9 15.8%

Segment income

Semiconductor 22.1 24.1 9.1%

Micro-

mechanics 1.0 2.5 >100%

Segment 

income margin

Semiconductor 13.0% 13.6%

Micro-

mechanics 6.9% 14.8%

Semiconductor

Sales of the semiconductor segment climbed 4.3% to 177.4 

million Euro (2010: 170.1 million Euro). The segment income 

of 24.1 million Euro came up with a margin of 13.6% that was 

another improvement on the previous year (2010: 13.0%). 

Semiconductor sales are generated primarily with automo-

tive customers. 

Micromechanics 

The micromechanics segment comprises the activities of 

subsidiary SMI. Customers in the micromechanics segment 

belong for the most part to the automotive, industrial, con-

sumer goods, and medical sectors. Sales in this segment 

climbed disproportionately from 14.6 million Euro in 2010 by 

15.8% to 16.9 million Euro in 2011. Sales are generated almost 

exclusively in U.S. dollars. The 2011 sales growth would have 

turned out even higher in that currency. The segment income 

was more than doubled and reached 2.5 million Euro (2010: 

1.0 million Euro). The increase in the margin from 6.9% in 

2010 to 14.8% in 2011 is above all the consequence of the 

economies of scale. 

Financial position
ELMOS Group key figures according to IFRS

in million Euro or % 2010 2011 Change

Net income 17.8 19.2 8.1%

Depreciation 16.3 17.9 9.3%

Changes in 

net working capital1 –3.7 –5.0 33.4%

Other items 2.6 1.1 –59.2%

Cash flow from 

operating activities 33.02 33.2 0.5%

Capital expenditures
for intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment –12.4 –19.4 56.9%

in % of sales 6.7% 10.0%

Payments  
for investments / Disposal of 
investments –0.4 –3.1 >100%

Payments 
for securities –9.32 –8.2 –12.1%

Other items 1.5 1.9 23.6%

Cash flow from 

investing activities –20.52 –28.7 39.9%

Cash flow from 

financing activities –1.4 – 3.5 >100%

Changes in 

cash and cash equivalents 11.0 0.9 –91.7%

Free cash flow3 12.5 4.4 – 64.5%

Adjusted free cash flow4 20.2 10.7 – 47.1%

1 Net working capital in the narrow sense (trade receivables, inventories, 
   trade payables)
2 The prior-year value has been adjusted; please refer to the comments in 
   the notes under 1.
3 Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities
4 Cash flow from operating activities less capital expenditures for intangible assets 
   and property, plant and equipment, less payments for investments, 
   plus disposal of investments 

Cash flow from operating activities

The cash flow from operating activities was essentially 

unchanged from the previous year at 33.2 million Euro in 2011 

(2010: 33.0 million Euro). Compared to the prior-year period, 

the cash flow from operating activities was positively affect-

ed by the higher net income and the lower increase in trade 

receivables. Contrary to that, however, the lower increase in 

trade payables had a negative impact in comparison with 

the previous year. The additional capital lockup of 5.0 million 

Euro accompanying the expansion of the net working capital 
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is accounted for on the one hand by the conversion of manu-

facturing from 6-inch to 8-inch wafers and the corresponding 

lower inventories turnover. On the other hand, it is due to the 

lower receivables turnover in the context of increased activ-

ities abroad and the customary longer payment terms there.  

Cash flow from investing activities

In 2011, capital expenditures for intangible assets and prop-

erty, plant and equipment came to 19.4 million Euro or 10.0% 

of sales. They turned out 56.9% above the level of 2010 

(12.4 million Euro or 6.7% of sales). The main reason for this 

increase were investments in the conversion of production 

from 6-inch to 8-inch. Total cash requirements out of invest-

ing activities amounted to 28.7 million Euro in 2011 after 20.5 

million Euro in 2010. It must be taken into consideration that 

in 2011 as well as in 2010 a part of this amount was invested 

in securities (2011: 8.2 million Euro and 2010: 9.3 million Euro) 

which are now reported entirely in cash flow from investing 

activities.

Free cash flow and adjusted free cash flow were both positive 

in 2011 again. The adjusted free cash flow (cash flow from 

operating activities less capital expenditures for intangible 

assets and property, plant and equipment, less payments 

for investments, plus disposal of investments) reached the 

amount of 10.7 million Euro (2010: 20.2 million Euro). 

Cash flow from financing activities 

The cash flow from financing activities came to –3.5 million 

Euro in fiscal year 2011 and was determined essentially by the 

dividend payout in the total amount of 3.9 million Euro. 

Liquid assets

Cash and cash equivalents went up altogether by 1.0 mil-

lion Euro to 59.0 million Euro (December 31, 2010: 58.0 mil-

lion Euro. The share of liquid assets in total assets remained 

almost constant at 21.9% at the end of the year under review 

(December 31, 2010: 23.3%). In addition to that, the company 

holds long-term and short-term securities in the amount of 

17.4 million Euro (December 31, 2010: 9.3 million Euro). Cash 

and cash equivalents plus marketable securities amount to 

76.5 million Euro (December 31, 2010: 67.3 million Euro).

Other financial obligations and disclosures of financial 

instruments not accounted for

In addition to conventional loans, the company finances its 

investments in real estate, technical equipment and machin-

ery, factory and office equipment, and the use of develop-

ment capacities and one production line through lease con-

tracts and service agreements. The respective relation of 

advantages to risks is balanced, and the arrangements are 

customary in the market. The resulting repayment obliga-

tions are entered in other financial obligations. They came 

to 94.5 million Euro as of December 31, 2011 (December 31, 

2010: 106.0 million Euro).
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Economic situation
ELMOS Group key figures according to IFRS

in million Euro 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 Change

Intangible assets 30.6 29.2 – 4.4%

Property, plant and 

equipment 69.5 71.8 3.3%

Other non-current assets 8.0 9.1 13.8%

Securities 

(short-term and long-term) 9.3 17.4 87.5%

Inventories 35.8 40.0 11.5%

Trade receivables 25.3 28.7 13.4%

Cash and cash equivalents 58.0 59.0 1.7%

Other current assets 12.6 14.7 16.2%

Total assets 249.2 269.9 8.3%

Equity 172.3 187.9 9.1%

Financial liabilities

(current and non-current) 40.5 40.7 0.6%

Other non-current liabilities 3.5 5.8 66.3%

Trade payables 18.8 21.3 13.5%

Other current liabilities 14.2 14.1 – 0.1%

Total equity and liabilities 249.2 269.9 8.3%

Total assets went up by 8.3% or 20.7 million Euro to 269.9 

million Euro as of December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010: 

249.2 million Euro). Relating to assets, this increase is 

accounted for essentially by the increase in securities (+8.1 

million Euro), inventories (+4.1 million Euro), and trade 

receivables (+3.4 million Euro). The deciding factors for the 

increase in total equity and liabilities are the increase in 

equity (+15.1 million Euro) as a result of the higher generated 

net income, increased trade payables (+2.5 million Euro), and 

higher other non-current liabilities (+2.3 million Euro). 

Net working capital  

Net working capital climbed from 42.4 million Euro as 

of the prior-year reporting date to 47.3 million Euro, dis-

proportionately in relation to sales. Inventories gained 11.5%, 

rising from 35.8 million Euro to 40.0 million Euro; inventory 

turnover thus went down to 2.6x. The main reason for this 

is the conversion of parts of manufacturing from 6-inch 

to 8-inch wafer diameters, taking place for the most part 

in 2011. Trade receivables were up 13.4% to 28.7 million 

Euro (December 31, 2010: 25.3 million Euro); the receivables 

turnover fell from 7.3x in 2010 to 6.8x in 2011. The increased 

activities abroad with corresponding longer payment terms 

account for that. Still the receivables turnover is much better 

than it was in the years before 2010. Trade payables grew 

13.5% and thus faster than sales, from 18.8 million Euro as of 

December 31, 2010 to 21.3 million as of the reporting date. 

The trade payables turnover improved from 5.4x in 2010 to 

4.9x in 2011. The capital lockup went up slightly altogether 

from 112 days on average in 2010 to 119 days.

Other key financials

Net cash went further up in comparison with December 31, 

2010 (26.8 million Euro), to 35.7 million Euro. At 69.6%, the 

equity ratio reached a virtually unchanged level compared to 

the end of the year 2010 (December 31, 2010: 69.1%).
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Disclosures required 
by takeover law 
In the following chapter, information required by takeover 

law as stipulated under Section 315 (4) HGB (German Com-

mercial Code) is disclosed as of December 31, 2011 (also rep-

resenting the explanatory report in accordance with Section 

176 (1) sentence 1 AktG (Corporations Act)). 

Composition of subscribed capital

The subscribed capital (share capital) of ELMOS Semicon-

ductor AG is unchanged at 19,414,205 Euro and is comprised 

of 19,414,205 no-par value bearer shares. Each share carries 

the same rights and grants one vote in the Annual General  

Meeting.

Limitations with regard to voting rights or the transfer of 

shares

There are no limitations with regard to voting rights or the trans-

fer of shares. 

Direct or indirect shares in equity 

As of December 31, 2011, the following shareholdings are on 

record:

Entity’s 

registered 

office/

country 

Euro/

shares %

Weyer Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH
Schwerte/

Germany 3,979,479 20.5

ZOE-VVG GmbH
Duisburg/

Germany 3,049,727 15.7

Jumakos Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft mbH
Dortmund/

Germany 2,966,016 15.3

Treasury stock 105,931 0.5

Shareholders <10% shares 9,313,052 48.0

19,414,205 100.0

ELMOS Group key figures 
Calculation Unit 2010 2011

Net working capital Trade receivables + 

inventories - trade 

payables 

million

Euro

42.4 47.3

of sales % 22.9% 24.4%

Inventory turnover Cost of sales/inventories x 2.8x 2.6x

Receivables turnover Sales/trade receivables x 7.3x 6.8x

Payables turnover Cost of sales/trade 

payables 

x 5.4x 4.9x

Capital lockup 

period/Cash 

conversion cycle

Inventory days + debtor 

days – creditor days

days 112 119

Net cash/(Net debt) Cash and cash 

equivalents + securities 

− financial liabilities

million

Euro

26.8 35.7

Gearing Net cash/

equity

% 15.6% 19.0%

Equity ratio Equity/total assets % 69.1% 69.6%

Overall statement on the business situation 

Despite the volatile markets and the political and econom-

ic uncertainty prevailing in 2011, ELMOS managed to expand 

its financial strength even further in 2011. Sales and the quali-

ty of earnings give proof of the positive performance, which is 

due to market and customer developments as well as to inter-

nal measures. ELMOS continued to improve structures, raise 

efficiency, and optimize the product lines and the portfolio. All 

this and the solid financial foundation with a focus on generat-

ing free cash flow strengthen the competitive position and cre-

ate a sound basis for the further development of the company. 
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Owners of privileged shares

No privileged shares have been issued.

Form of voting rights control in case of employee share-

holdings

This issue does not apply to the company.

Legal stipulations and provisions of the articles of incorpo-

ration for the appointment and dismissal of Management 

Board members and for amendments to the articles 

We refer to the respective legal stipulations for the appoint-

ment and dismissal of management board members (Sec-

tions 84, 85 AktG) and for amendments to the articles of 

incorporation (Sections 133, 179 AktG). The company’s arti-

cles of incorporation do not provide for supplementary pro-

visions.

The Management Board’s authorization to issue and re-

purchase shares

The Management Board is authorized to increase the compa-

ny's share capital up to and including May 16, 2016 subject 

to the Supervisory Board’s approval by up to 9,707,100 Euro 

through the singular or repeated issue of new no-par value 

bearer shares against contributions in cash or in kind (autho-

rized capital 2011/i). If the capital is increased against con-

tributions in cash, subscription rights shall be granted to the 

shareholders. The shares may be taken over by banks under 

the obligation to offer them to the shareholders for subscrip-

tion. However, the Management Board is authorized, subject 

to the Supervisory Board’s approval, to exclude the sharehold-

ers’ subscription rights. The total of the shares issued accord-

ing to this authorization against contributions in cash or in 

kind under exclusion of the shareholders’ subscription rights 

must not exceed a proportionate amount of the share capital 

of 4,853,551 Euro. The Management Board is further autho-

rized, subject to the Supervisory Board’s approval, to deter-

mine all other rights attached to the shares and the particu-

lars of the issue. 

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 495,000 

Euro (conditional capital 2009). The conditional capital 

increase serves the redemption of stock options issued to 

employees, executives, and Management Board members 

of the company as well as to employees and executives of 

affiliated companies up to and including May 5, 2014 on the 

basis of the authorization given by the Annual General Meet-

ing (AGM) of May 6, 2009 (stock option plan 2009). The con-

ditional capital increase is realized only insofar as options are 

issued within the scope of the company’s stock option plan 

2009 in observance of the resolution of the AGM of May 6, 

2009 and as these options are exercised by their owners with-

in the exercise period insofar as no cash compensation is 

granted or own shares are used for payment. The new shares 

are entitled to dividend from the beginning of the fiscal year 

in which they come into being by the exercise of options.

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 1,250,000 

Euro (conditional capital 2010/i). The conditional capital 

increase serves the redemption of stock options issued to 

employees, executives, and Management Board members of 

the company as well as to employees and executives of affili-

ated companies up to and including May 3, 2015 on the basis 

of the authorization given by the Annual General Meeting 

(AGM) of May 4, 2010 (stock option plan 2010). The conditional  

capital increase is realized only insofar as options are issued 

within the scope of the company’s stock option plan 2010 

in observance of the resolution of the AGM of May 4, 2010 

and as these options are exercised by their owners within the 

exercise period insofar as no cash compensation is granted or 

own shares are used for payment. The new shares are entitled  

to dividend from the beginning of the fiscal year in which 

they come into being by the exercise of options.

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 7,800,000 

Euro (conditional capital 2010/ii). The conditional capital 

increase is realized only insofar as the owners of convertible  

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or profit 

participating bonds (or a combination of these instruments) 

issued by ELMOS Semiconductor AG or a group company of 
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ELMOS Semiconductor AG within the meaning of Section 

18 AktG (Stock Corporation Act) up to and including May 3, 

2015 based on the authorization given by the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM) of May 4, 2010 under agenda item 10 b) make 

use of their conversion privileges or options or, if they are 

committed to conversion, realize this commitment to con-

version, insofar as no cash compensation is granted or own 

shares are used for payment. The new shares are issued at the 

conversion or option price to be determined in accordance 

with the aforementioned authorization. The new shares are 

entitled to dividend from the beginning of the fiscal year in 

which they come into being by the exercise of conversion 

privileges or options or the fulfillment of conversion commit-

ments.

Based on the resolution of the AGM of May 17, 2011, the 

Management Board is authorized, subject to the Supervisory 

Board’s approval, to repurchase own shares up to and includ-

ing May 16, 2016. This authorization is limited to the purchase 

of shares representing a total of 10% of the current share capi-

tal altogether. The authorization may be exercised fully or in 

several parts, once or several times, and for one or several pur-

poses within the scope of the aforementioned limitation. 

Authorizations of the Management Board

Authorized 
capital I

Conditional 
capital

Repurchase of own 
shares

9,707,100 euro
until May 16, 2016

2009:  
495,000 euro
Stock option plan 
2009

2010/i:  
1,250,000 euro
Stock option plan
2010

2010/ii: 
7,800,000 euro
Option bonds or con-
vertible bonds
until May 3, 2015

Up to 10% of the share 
capital
until May 16, 2016

Material agreements on the condition of a change of con-

trol as a result of a takeover bid 

There are no material agreements on the condition of a 

change of control as a result of a takeover bid.

Compensation agreements

In case of a change of control, the members of the Manage-

ment Board are entitled to terminate their respective employ-

ment contracts within three months from the occurrence of 

a change of control with six-month notice to the end of the 

month and to resign from their duties as of the termination 

of their employment contracts. In case of the exercise of this 

right of termination, each Management Board member is 

entitled to compensation in the amount of the remuneration 

for two years, limited by the amount of the remuneration to 

be paid for the remaining term of the respective employment 

contract. Applicable is the remuneration amount paid during 

the last fiscal year prior to the occurrence of the change of 

control.

Remuneration report
Total remuneration of the members of Management Board 

and Supervisory Board consists of a number of remuneration 

components. The details are explained in our remuneration 

report as part of this annual report’s corporate governance 

report in the chapter “corporate governance”. The remune-

ration report, reviewed by the auditor, is part of the group  

management report. 
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Risks and opportunities
Risk management system 
and explanatory report on the internal control and risk 

management system in accordance with Section 315 (2) 

no. 5 HGB (German Commercial Code)

ELMOS Semiconductor AG unites the measures for risk  

management in the company in an integrated risk manage-

ment system. This risk policy focuses on safeguarding the 

company’s existence and increasing the shareholder value 

systematically and continuously. The system complies with 

the legal stipulations for an anticipatory risk detection sys-

tem and the principles defined by the German Corporate 

Governance Code.

Based on the internal control and risk management system, 

risks and opportunities are constantly identified and their 

effects on the company’s operating and financial targets are 

analyzed. The group deliberately assumes containable and 

controllable risks in areas of its core competence if adequate 

yields can be expected at the same time. Beyond that, risks 

are avoided if possible. It is altogether assured that the group 

is able to entirely cover the risks it takes.

Binding standards and rules have been defined for risk iden-

tification and risk management. Speculative transactions or 

other actions of a speculative nature are generally prohibited. 

The observance of these principles is monitored regularly. In 

addition, numerous and repeated training courses make sure 

that all employees are aware of the rules at any time.

The respective operating superiors are directly responsi-

ble for the early detection and control of risks. The next lev-

els of seniority see to the management of risks. The Manage-

ment Board assumes the overall responsibility for the internal 

control and risk management system in the group. In a well-

established top-down process, the divisions report on the 

current status of material risks through a risk inventory with 

defined gradual thresholds. Risks are valuated and classified 

according to the probability of occurrence and the estimated 

amount of loss. Measures for risk reduction are listed for each 

identified risk; early warning indicators are regularly updat-

ed and discussed with the responsible teams. Quality system 

audits are regularly conducted by external experts and the 

results are analyzed.

Data relating to material risks for the group are systematical-

ly processed in a transparent manner and presented to the 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board of ELMOS 

Semiconductor AG. Ad hoc risks and realized damages are 

communicated immediately and outside the usual report-

ing channels in case of urgency. The continuous refinement 

of instruments and methods for risk detection and manage-

ment is an ongoing process which is constantly reviewed for 

sources of error.

The internal control system consists of a number of struc-

tures and processes for risk control with the aim of identi-

fying risks as well as containing known risks and indicating 

them in the consolidated financial statements. It contains the 

principles, processes and measures introduced by manage-

ment, oriented toward the organizational implementation of 

the management’s decisions for safeguarding the efficiency 

and economy of business activity, the reliability and the truth 

and fairness of internal and external accounting, and compli-

ance with the applicable legal stipulations. Structure and pro-

cesses are adapted to recent internal and external develop-

ments at regular intervals.

With respect to the financial accounting process of the com-

panies included in the basis of consolidation and the group, 

structures and processes have been implemented for safe-

guarding the truth and fairness of the consolidated financial 

statements. The Management Board assumes overall respon-

sibility for the internal control and risk management system 

including its focus on financial accounting. All companies and 

group divisions included in the consolidated financial state-

ments are involved through the strictly defined organization 

of seniority levels and reporting. The principles, the organi-
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zational structure, workflow management, and the process-

es of the internal control and risk management system with 

respect to financial accounting are regulated throughout the 

group by specific guidelines and operating procedures that 

are adapted to internal and external developments whenever 

necessary. Material characteristics of the internal control and 

risk management system with respect to financial account-

ing are (i) the identification of material areas of risk and mon-

itored domains of relevance to financial accounting in the 

group, (ii) examinations for monitoring the financial account-

ing process and its results, (iii) preventive control measures 

in finance and accounting and those areas where materi-

al information for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements is generated, including defined authorization 

processes in relevant areas, and (iv) measures for the prop-

er EDP-supported processing of items and data relating to the 

group’s financial accounting.

Essential elements of risk management and control in 

accounting are the unambiguous assignments of respon-

sibility and examinations during the preparation of finan-

cial statements, transparent provisions by way of guidelines 

for accounting and the preparation of financial statements, 

appropriate regulations for the access to EDP systems rele-

vant to financial statements, and the unambiguous arrange-

ment of responsibilities for the involvement of external 

experts. The four-eye principle and the separation of func-

tions are also important control principles in the process of 

financial accounting.

In summary of the above information, it can be stated that 

the risk management system and the internal control system 

introduced by the Management Board of ELMOS Semiconduc-

tor AG, particularly with respect to financial accounting, have 

proved efficient. Further information on the risk manage- 

ment system can be found under note 30 in the notes to con-

solidated financial statements.

Risks
Dependence on the automotive industry 

The core business of ELMOS is linked directly to the automo-

tive industry’s demand for semiconductors. The majority of 

sales was made with chips for automotive electronics in the 

past fiscal year 2011. On the one hand, this demand depends 

on the number of cars produced, on the other hand, it is gov-

erned by the lasting trend towards more electronics in the 

automobile. A collapse in car production and sales figures 

also represents a risk for ELMOS as semiconductor supplier. 

The demand for semiconductors and sensors made by ELMOS 

is also affected by the delivery capability of other suppliers as 

systems and cars can be manufactured only if all suppliers are 

capable of delivery. A lasting decrease in demand on the part 

of the automotive industry could have significant effects on 

the financial, profit and economic situation.

The auto market used to be subjected to considerable fluc-

tuations in the past as a result of mergers of system manu-

facturers, restrictive environmental legislation, and other 

factors. The customer structure of ELMOS indicates certain 

degree of dependence on a few major suppliers to the auto-

motive industry. However, it has to be taken into account that 

one customer usually purchases several products with dif-

ferent life cycles. Moreover, the products ELMOS manufac-

tures are generally replaceable neither easily nor on short 

notice due to their technical design. By the increased com-

mitment of ELMOS to application specific standard products 

(ASSPs), this kind of customer dependence is reduced as such 

products can be marketed to several customers; on the oth-

er hand, the risk of replaceability increases as the competition 

may offer comparable products, too.

Competition 

A large number of competitors in the semiconductor mar-

ket for automotive applications offer products similar to 

the ones ELMOS supplies, based on a similar technological 

foundation. ELMOS also competes with large manufactur-

ers for high-volume contracts and is thus exposed to cor-
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responding pricing pressure. Furthermore, ELMOS bears 

the risk that the customer will rely on a competitor in cases 

where parallel developments are commissioned.

Dependence on individual employees 

The company’s highly development-intensive business activ-

ity leads to a clearly pronounced and very specific engineer-

ing know-how but not necessarily to patents. The conse-

quence for ELMOS as for any other technology company is an 

increased dependence on individual employees.

Development of new products and technologies

The market for ELMOS products is characterized by the prod-

ucts’ constant advancement and improvement. Therefore 

the success of ELMOS is closely related to the company’s abili-

ty to develop innovative and complex products economically, 

to introduce them to the market on time, and to see to it that 

these products are chosen.

Because ELMOS is able to develop and manufacture products 

for virtually all kinds of electronic devices used in the automo-

bile, products made by ELMOS can be found in a great num-

ber of electronic components of many different car models 

so that the dependence on individual products is low.

One-off development costs incurred for the customer specif-

ic development of products are usually paid for only in part 

by the customers. Those development costs not covered in 

advance must be amortized through the later volumes in 

series production. There is the risk that not amortized expens-

es for product developments not resulting in a supplier rela-

tionship will remain with the company. Particularly with high-

volume orders for which a greater number of suppliers are 

in competition, the customer is usually unwilling to pay for 

development costs in advance and instead expects the sup-

plier to pre-finance these expenses. This holds usually true for 

product developments initiated by ELMOS, e.g. all ASSPs, as 

there are no binding customer orders for such projects. How-

ever, ELMOS also works together with one key customer in 

the development of ASSP components if possible. These key 

customers usually provide ELMOS with sales forecasts for the 

next years – similar to a customer specific project. 

The future success of ELMOS is also dependent on the com-

pany’s ability to come up with new development and produc-

tion technologies. ELMOS develops analog and digital semi-

conductor structures and functions for its self-developed 

modular high-voltage CMOS process technology. Like all of 

its competitors, ELMOS is forced to continuously improve its 

technology and to develop new process technologies for the 

advancing minimization of structures in the submicron area. 

If ELMOS ceases to be capable of developing, manufacturing, 

and selling new products and product upgrades in the future, 

significant effects on the financial, profit and economic posi-

tion will likely be the result.

Purchasing

The raw materials ELMOS needs for manufacturing are avail-

able worldwide from different suppliers and are for the most 

part not controlled by monopolists. However, as a matter 

of course prices develop in correspondence with demand so 

that they typically rise in times of strong growth. With regard 

to assembly, a certain dependence on individual Far Eastern 

partners is typical of the trade. ELMOS has spread this risk 

by cooperating with several partners. The natural disaster 

in Japan at the beginning of last year particularly shifted the 

focus on this risk. Due to the temporarily uncertain supply sit-

uation in the entire supply chain of the semiconductor indus-

try, the commitment to regional risk distribution was inten-

sified and the number of potential partners was increased 

accordingly. 
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Product liability

The products manufactured by ELMOS are integrated as 

components into complex electronic systems. Defects or 

malfunctions of the semiconductors produced by ELMOS or 

of the electronic systems into which they are integrated can 

be directly or indirectly damaging to the property, health, and 

lives of third parties. ELMOS cannot reduce or exclude its lia-

bility with regard to customers or third parties in its sales 

contracts.

ELMOS consistently follows a zero-defect strategy and con-

stantly invests in the detection and avoidance of sources of 

error and defects. The individual semiconductor chips are 

tested several times at different temperatures in production, 

usually in view of automotive applications, with regard to 

quality and functionality. Even though the company applies 

elaborate test procedures before commencing delivery of its 

products, product defects might still show not until the occa-

sion of installation or the end consumer’s use of the product.

If such product defects materialize, expensive and time-con-

suming product modifications might ensue, leading to dis-

rupted customer relationships and the loss of market shares. 

A quality problem of whole batches might additionally result 

in customers’ claims for compensation in the million-euro 

range. This risk is adequately covered by insurance. Yet these 

risks could affect the company’s financial, profit and econom-

ic position in a negative way.

Investments

The allocation of financial resources to the subsidiary compa-

nies results in an increased obligation to detect and, if neces-

sary, to minimize potential risks by means of adequate con-

trolling instruments and continuous target/actual analyses 

at the earliest possible stage. The implemented risk manage-

ment and the internal control system are constantly being 

expanded and improved for this purpose. Still these risks could 

have negative effects on the company’s financial, profit and 

economic position.

Information technology

For ELMOS as for other globally operating companies, the reli-

ability and safety of IT are of great importance. This applies 

increasingly to the utilization of IT systems in support of our 

operational processes as well as to the support of internal 

and external communication. Despite all technical precau-

tion, each serious failure of these systems can lead to data 

loss and/or the disturbance of production or the interference 

with operational processes.

Therefore all critical IT systems are embedded in infrastruc-

ture of high availability. These systems, equipped with redun-

dancies in different data centers, minimize or eliminate the 

consequences of hardware malfunctions. Constant automat-

ed monitoring of the IT infrastructure makes it possible to 

interfere swiftly in case of unforeseeable incidents.

Special precautionary measures have also been taken for 

blocking viral attacks. Internet access is for instance protect-

ed most elaborately. Additional measures are realized for sys-

tems used in manufacturing. IT failure or interferences could 

still have a negative effect on the manufacturing output or 

the company’s financial, profit and economic position.

Interruption of business 

According to ELMOS assessment, the single material busi-

ness risk capable of significantly damaging the development 

of the group and jeopardizing the company’s continued exis-

tence, apart from the business risks already described and 

explained, is the risk of the destruction of production facil-

ities by fire or other disasters. Even though the risk of inter-

ruption of business by such an occurrence is adequately cov-

ered by insurance, a significant threat of losing key customers 

remains in such a case. This risk cannot be insured against. 

Interruption of business could also occur by power outage. 

The production facilities are prepared for short-term power 

failures within the realm of possibilities; running processes 

are e.g. ramped down in a controlled way.
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The risk of an interruption of business is reduced by the fact 

that ELMOS manufactures semiconductors at various loca-

tions. Furthermore, ELMOS has been obtaining processed 

wafers from a cooperation partner in South Korea since 2011. 

However, interruption of business at one of the production 

sites could have negative effects on the company’s financial, 

profit and economic position.

The usual insurable risks such as fire, interruption during fire 

fighting operations, water, storm, theft, third-party liability, 

especially product liability including U.S. coverage, and costs 

of a possible recall action are adequately covered by insur-

ance. Further risks capable of significantly damaging the 

development of the group or jeopardizing its continued exis-

tence are not discernable at present.

Opportunities
Apart from our core business of customer specific semicon-

ductors for the automotive industry, opportunities are pro-

vided for the company by the further realization of our strat-

egy. These opportunities lie in the increased development, 

production, and marketing of application specific semicon-

ductors (ASSPs) and in a higher share of sales to be realized 

in the sectors of industrial and consumer goods in the future, 

implying a diminishing dependence on the automotive 

industry in the process as well. ELMOS also plans to expand 

its business in the Asian markets further and to cooperate 

with partners who either enable the company to expand the 

product portfolio or provide opportunities for external pro-

duction. Furthermore, the share of MEMS is scheduled for 

increase.

Events after the 
reporting period 
There have been no reportable events of special significance.

Outlook
Economic framework

The general economic conditions produce a mixed picture 

for 2012. The further development of the global and regional  

crises, for example the crisis of individual Euro states or the 

political situation in the Middle East, cannot be predicted 

so far. The resulting consequences for the financial and raw 

materials markets are equally hard to assess. The German 

Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA) expects a “year 

of hard work” for the auto industry. For the year 2012, the 

VDA expects – under favorable conditions – a global car mar-

ket of 68 million units and thus a growth of 4%. 

Yet much depends on how Western Europe will perform. The 

association currently assumes for the market to stabilize at 

the level of the year 2011. If the situation in the financial mar-

kets should remain tense, a slight decline is also conceivable. 

The VDA also anticipates a stable performance of the German 

market for passenger cars in 2012, at a volume of more than 

3.1 million sold cars, thus equaling 2011 sales. The growth 

rates in China and India will turn out a little smaller in 2012 

than before – yet they will still be considerably higher than 

the growth of the industrialized countries. For the United 

States, the VDA predicts a 5% gain to 13.4 million units.

The high level of uncertainty with respect to the future mar-

ket development especially shows in the statements on the 

general semiconductor market 2012. The findings of the mar-

ket research companies range from 2.2% (Gartner Dataquest), 

2.6% (WSTS), and 3.2% (IHS iSuppli) up to 10% (Future Hori-

Business and economic framework 

Profit, financial and economic situation

Information with respect to takeover law

Risks and opportunities

Events after the reporting period

Outlook
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zons). The assumption of predominantly low growth rates is 

based on moderate economic expectations with diminished 

demand for consumer goods electronics. The return to stron-

ger growth is not to be expected before 2013, according to 

IHS iSuppli.

For the medium term, the market research company Strate-

gy Analytics anticipates an average annual growth rate of 9% 

for automotive semiconductors in the period from 2011 to 

2016. The share of automotive semiconductors is expected to 

rise to 319 U.S. dollars per car over the same period. This per-

formance is equivalent to an average annual growth rate of 

2%. The largest growth will be achieved with drivetrain and 

safety applications. With respect to the regional markets, the 

newly industrializing countries as well as the Asian/Pacific 

Rim will show the most dynamic growth.

The market for MEMS sensor components is expected to 

grow in the low double-digit percentage in 2012. According 

to IHS iSuppli, pressure sensors will become the best selling 

MEMS product in the next couple of years. 

Outlook for the ELMOS Group

ELMOS has shown a solid business performance over the 

past years. As a result, ELMOS operates from a secure finan-

cial base. The equity ratio has been at a high level for years, 

the free cash flow has been clearly positive repeatedly, and 

the EBIT margin is pleasantly strong. Moreover, ELMOS has 

earned an excellent reputation among the customers; the 

deciding factors were innovation, the high quality level, and 

delivery reliability. These aspects of solid, sustainable corpo-

rate management will make us generate competitive advan-

tages over the next years.

The following trends will have an effect on our business in 

2012:

-> increasing customer demands: At the customer’s end, 

2012 will be the year where flexibility and innovation 

devoted to development, products, and manufacturing 

will become the deciding customer criteria. 

-> environmentally sound innovations: End customers 

demand more functionality and comfort from one car 

generation to the next. This demand will be met more 

than ever with innovations in automotive electronics. 

Without taking countermeasures, however, the corres-

ponding increased electric power input would lead to an 

increase in fuel consumption and thus in CO2
 emissions. 

To prevent this from happening is the common goal of all 

parties involved in the supply chain, and ELMOS shares 

this goal. There will not be the one solution that solves 

the problem at a single stroke, but many small steps will 

make their contributions. ELMOS aims at developing 

semiconductors and sensors as innovative as possible for 

this purpose and to push this trend for the sake of envi-

ronmental protection.

-> Advanced developments: Even with established systems, 

e.g. parking assist, the development is far from complete; 

it will rather be pressed ahead with in 2012 at full throt-

tle. With new ELMOS semiconductors and sensors, more 

precise navigation of the car into the parking space is 

made possible, among other advantages. Many follow-up 

orders in high-volume projects secure us a solid basis, yet 

they also require constant improvements.

-> breakthrough for mems: MEMS sensors have made sub-

stantial progress over the past years. Even today, they are 

indispensable in many applications. Used in tire pressure 

monitoring systems, MEMS will have their breakthrough 

across all classes of vehicles. In addition, the legislators in 

the U.S. and in Europe see to it that a tire pressure mon-

itoring system is or will be a mandatory feature of new 

cars. Our micromechanics segment will benefit from that.
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-> Asia gives a boost: Furthermore, Asia will remain a growth 

driver for the industry in 2012. Apart from the issue of 

growth pace, this market also increasingly determines the 

pace in parts of car development. Asian customers often 

want their solutions faster than European or U.S. custo-

mers do. Just a few years ago, the manufacturers in the 

Asian region still settled for second best solutions. Those 

times are over. ELMOS wants to earn a reputation in the 

Asian market as a supplier of established systems as well 

as market innovations.

-> focus on delivery capability: In 2012, the lessons are 

drawn throughout the industry from the natural disasters 

in Asia. The region’s production sites and suppliers are 

state-of-the-art and provide very high quality. However,  

the industry had to learn in 2011 that regional single- 

sourcing makes one more vulnerable to risks as well. 

Strategies for increased delivery reliability will be more 

important than ever in 2012. With its manufacturing net-

work of different locations, ELMOS has prepared for that 

very well.

While ELMOS has achieved a good starting position due to 

the solid financial basis and the large customer base, the 

company remains dependent on the global economic frame-

work. As a result of the economic uncertainties, we have been 

observing a defensive order behavior of our customers since 

a couple of months.

Because of the slow start of the new fiscal year, ELMOS antici-

pates 2012 sales on the level of 2011. The increased commit-

ment to sales and development particularly in Asia is being 

continued. Profitability in 2012 will thus be affected com-

pared to 2011. Capital expenditures are scheduled to come 

to less than 15% of sales. The free cash flow will be positive.

Stable economic general conditions provided, it is expected 

that ELMOS will participate in a positive development of the 

automotive and industrial semiconductor markets in 2013. 

The electrification in these markets will hold up. Such a pos-

itive performance of ELMOS implies the success of our cus-

tomers of today and tomorrow as well as our ability to place 

products with them. The market environment is currently 

determined by an intensifying international competition of 

the automotive suppliers, driven particularly by Asian market 

participants. Effects from resulting market changes or shifts 

in the portfolios of our customers can hardly be predicted. 

The growth of ELMOS would have the consequence that we 

would benefit from the economies of scale and that the mar-

gins would perform well. At the same time it is true that these 

expectations may be affected by market turbulence. The 

defined targets for capital expenditures not to exceed 15% of 

sales and for generating a positive free cash flow remain in 

place unchanged for 2013. This forecast applies for the semi-

conductor segment as well as for micromechanics.

ELMOS will benefit from the global megatrends in the me-

dium and long term: increasing urbanization, more renew-

able energy sources (and dealing with them in an efficient 

way), and more as well as environmentally sound mobility. To 

all these dynamically growing market segments, ELMOS will 

make important contributions.

Dortmund, March 1, 2012

dr. Anton mindl nicolaus graf von Luckner reinhard senf dr. peter geiselhart
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Ten years ago, I started my career 
in production in Dortmund. 

In 2006 I took charge of process engineer-

ing at our subsidiary in California. The eleven 

members of my team originally hail from 

the U.S., India, China, Vietnam, and several 

European countries. I enjoy managing such a 

diversity of products and cultures.

Marc Konradt, director of process, product and 
test engineering at SMI
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Interesting assignments, nice 
colleagues, and the opportunity 
to bring new ideas to life.

That describes what I do in production at  

ELMOS. After completing my training, I 

am now responsible for the reliable manu-

facturing of our products as an operator.

Jenjilaporn Nor-Kaew, microtechnologist
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We at ELMOS always want to 
develop the best solution for the 
customer. 

It requires specialist know-how to set ourselves 

apart from the market through chip size, func-

tionality, and reliability. This is what we aim for 

every single day.

Prof. Dr. Dr. habil. Anatoli Grigoriev, director ELMOS Russia/ 
design manager
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I have helped create the future 
of our ELMOS motor drivers for 
many years now.

I love to see how initial rough drafts turn into 

real products. So, whenever I go to the cus-

tomer with a product, I know how much heart 

and soul has been put into it.

Christian Tegethoff, business line manager
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Assets Notes

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 13 29,240 30,589

Property, plant and equipment 14 71,770 69,494

Investments in associates 15 0 0

Securities 15 8,346 6,272

Investments in associates 15 3,917 911

Other financial assets 20 1,630 2,090

Deferred tax assets 16 3,579 5,015

Total non-current assets 118,482 114,371

Current assets

Inventories 17 39,951 35,826

Trade receivables 18 28,714 25,328

Securities 15 9,102 3,033

Other financial assets 20 4,837 5,253

Other receivables 20 6,499 3,148

Income tax assets 20 2,989 2,926

Cash and cash equivalents 19 59,002 58,010

151,094 133,524

Non-current available-for-sale assets 21 338 1,291

Total current assets 151,432 134,815

Total assets 269,914 249,186

Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated balance sheet
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Equity and liabilities Notes

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 22 19,414 19,414

Treasury stock 22 –106 –119

Additional paid-in capital 22 88,516 88,486

Surplus reserve 102 102  

Other equity components 22 –2,064 –1,740

Retained earnings 81,450 66,380

187,312 172,523

Non-controlling interests 633 –227

Total equity 187,945 172,296

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 24 243 376

Financial liabilities 25 30,235 40,101

Other liabilities 26 1,540 1,781

Deferred tax liabilities 16 3,994 1,316

Total non-current liabilities 36,012 43,574

Current liabilities

Provisions 24 9,376 9,568

Income tax liabilities 26 2,006 2,627

Financial liabilities 25 10,496 374

Trade payables 27 21,325 18,792

Other liabilities 26 2,754 1,955

Total current liabilities 45,957 33,316

Total liabilities 81,969 76,890

Total equity and liabilities 269,914 249,186

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report
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For the year ended December 31, 2011 Notes

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Sales 5 194,346 184,723

Cost of sales 6 104,752 100,962

Gross profit 89,594 83,761

Research and development expenses 6 32,541 29,637

Distribution expenses 6 16,163 12,593

Administrative expenses 6 16,680 17,753

Operating income before other operating expenses/income (–) 24,210 23,778

Share in profits of associates 8 30 0

Finance income 8 –1,676 –1,031

Finance costs 8 2,427 2,436 

Foreign exchange gains (–) / losses 9 –275 291

Other operating income 10 –4,867 –3,405

Other operating expenses 10 2,762 3,789

Income before taxes 25,809 21,698

Taxes on income

Current income tax expense 11 2,188 –345

Deferred taxes 11 4,420 4,282

6,608 3,937

Net income 19,201 17,761

Net income attributable to

Owners of the parent 18,921 17,754

Non-controlling interests 280 7

19,201 17,761

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (in Euro) 12 0.98 0.92

Fully diluted earnings per share (in Euro) 12 0.96 0.91

For the year ended December 31, 2011 Notes

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Net income 19,201 17,761

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency adjustments without deferred tax effect 55 –150 

Foreign currency adjustments with deferred tax effect 468 1,130

Deferred taxes (on foreign currency adjustments with deferred tax effect) 22 –121 –284

Value differences with respect to hedges 22 –1,016  90

Deferred taxes (on value differences with respect to hedges) 22 327 –29

Available-for-sale financial assets 22 –37 0

Other comprehensive income after taxes –324 757

Total comprehensive income 18,877 18,518

Net income attributable to

Owners of the parent 18,597 18,503

Non-controlling interests 280 15

18,877 18,518

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Notes

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Cash flow from operating activities

Net income 19,201 17,761

Depreciation 7 17,850 16,327

Write-down on investments 15 34 0

Finance result 8 751 1,405

Other non-cash expenses 4,800 4,253

Current income tax expense 11 2,188 –345

Expenses for stock option plan and stock awards 23 315 207 

Changes in pension provisions 24 –133  –416

Changes in net working capital:

Trade receivables 18 –3,386 –5,320

Inventories 17 – 4,125 – 4,287

Other assets 20 –2,936 –2,150

Trade payables 27 2,533 5,874

Other provisions and other liabilities 24 –318 942

Income tax payments/refunds –2,872 153

Interest paid 8 –2,427 –2,436

Interest received 8 1,676 1,031

Cash flow from operating activities 33,151 32,999

Cash flow from investing activities

Capital expenditure for intangible assets 13 –3,341 –2,513

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment 14 –16,047 – 9,847

Disposal of/Payments for non-current assets held for sale 21 901 –1,291

Payments for the acquisition of investments in joint ventures 

less acquired cash and cash equivalents –557 0

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,177 2,821

Payments for securities 15 –8,179 –9,3051

Payments for investments 15 –3,058 –407

Payments from other non-current financial assets 20 370  0

Cash flow from investing activities – 28,734 –20,542

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of non-current liabilities –241 –427

Borrowing/Repayment of current liabilities to banks 256 –141

Issue of treasury shares 102 0

Share buyback 22 0 –841

Dividend distribution –3,859 0

Newly created non-controlling interests 103 0

Other changes 136 0

Cash flow from financing activities – 3,503 –1,409  

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 914 11,048

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 78 121

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of reporting period 19 58,010 46,841

Cash and cash equivalents at end of reporting period 19 59,002 58,010

Consolidated statement of cash flows

1 The prior-year value has been adjusted; please refer to the comments in the notes under 1.

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report



80

ELMOS annuaL rEpOrt 2011 

Notes
Non-controlling

interests Group

Shares 

thousand shares

Share capital

thousand Euro

Treasury stock

thousand Euro

  Additional 

paid-in capital  

thousand Euro

Surplus reserve

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components 

Reserves for 

available-for-sale 

financial assets

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components 

 hedges

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components

foreign currency 

translations

thousand Euro

Retained earnings

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

January 1, 2010  19,414     19,414    0 89,001  102    0 0 –2,489 48,626 154,654 –242 154,412

Net income 17,754 17,754 7 17,761

Other comprehensive income for the period 22 61 688 749 8 757

Total comprehensive income 61 688 17,754 18,503 15 18,518

Stock option expense 23 207 207 207

Share buyback 22 –119 –722 –841 –841

December 31, 2010  19,414     19,414   –119 88,486  102    0 61 –1,801 66,380 172,523 –227 172,296

January 1, 2011  19,414     19,414    –119 88,486 102 0 61 –1,801 66,380 172,523 –227 172,296

Net income 18,921 18,921 280 19,201

Other comprehensive income for the period 22 –37 –688 401 –324 –324

Total comprehensive income –37 –688 401 18,921 18,597 280 18,877

Share-based payment 22 13 88 101 101

Changes in the basis of consolidation –80 –80 –80

Dividend payment 22 –3,859 –3,859 –3,859

Stock option expense 23 315 315 315

Acquisition of non-controlling interests –610 –610 610 0

Newly created non-controlling interests 103 103 103

Other changes 134 88 222 –30 192

December 31, 2011  19,414  19,414    –106 88,516  102   –37 – 627 –1,400 81,450 187,312 633 187,945

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Notes
Non-controlling

interests Group

Shares 

thousand shares

Share capital

thousand Euro

Treasury stock

thousand Euro

  Additional 

paid-in capital  

thousand Euro

Surplus reserve

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components 

Reserves for 

available-for-sale 

financial assets

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components 

 hedges

thousand Euro

Other equity 

components

foreign currency 

translations

thousand Euro

Retained earnings

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

Total

thousand Euro

January 1, 2010  19,414     19,414    0 89,001  102    0 0 –2,489 48,626 154,654 –242 154,412

Net income 17,754 17,754 7 17,761

Other comprehensive income for the period 22 61 688 749 8 757

Total comprehensive income 61 688 17,754 18,503 15 18,518

Stock option expense 23 207 207 207

Share buyback 22 –119 –722 –841 –841

December 31, 2010  19,414     19,414   –119 88,486  102    0 61 –1,801 66,380 172,523 –227 172,296

January 1, 2011  19,414     19,414    –119 88,486 102 0 61 –1,801 66,380 172,523 –227 172,296

Net income 18,921 18,921 280 19,201

Other comprehensive income for the period 22 –37 –688 401 –324 –324

Total comprehensive income –37 –688 401 18,921 18,597 280 18,877

Share-based payment 22 13 88 101 101

Changes in the basis of consolidation –80 –80 –80

Dividend payment 22 –3,859 –3,859 –3,859

Stock option expense 23 315 315 315

Acquisition of non-controlling interests –610 –610 610 0

Newly created non-controlling interests 103 103 103

Other changes 134 88 222 –30 192

December 31, 2011  19,414  19,414    –106 88,516  102   –37 – 627 –1,400 81,450 187,312 633 187,945

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report
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Notes to the consoli-
dated financial state-
ments

General information
ELMOS Semiconductor AG (“the company” or “ELMOS”) has 

its registered office in Dortmund (Germany) and is entered 

in the register of companies kept at the District Court (Amts-

gericht) Dortmund, section B, under no. 13698. The articles of 

incorporation are in effect in the version of March 26, 1999, 

last amended by the Annual General Meeting of May 17, 2011.

The company’s business is the development, manufacture 

and distribution of microelectronic components and system 

parts (Application specific integrated circuits or, in short: 

ASICs) and technological devices with similar functions. The 

company may conduct all transactions suitable for serving 

the object of the business directly or indirectly. The company 

is authorized to establish branches, acquire or lease business-

es of the same or a similar kind or invest in them, and conduct 

all business transactions that are beneficial to the articles of 

association. The company is authorized to conduct business 

in Germany as well as abroad.

In addition to its domestic branches, the company maintains 

sales companies in France, Asia and the U.S. and cooperates 

with other German and international companies in the deve-

lopment and production of ASIC chips.

The company is a listed stock corporation. The company's 

shares are traded in the Prime Standard in Frankfurt/Main.

The address of the company’s registered office is:

44227 Dortmund, Heinrich-Hertz-Straße 1.

Accounting policies and valuation methods
1 // Accounting principles
General information

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

Euro. Values stated in thousand Euro have been rounded up 

or down to thousand Euro according to financial rounding.

The consolidated financial statements of ELMOS have been 

prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the European  

Union (EU) and the supplementary applicable regulations of 

German commercial law as stipulated by Section 315a (1) 

HGB (Commercial Code). All of the IFRS released by the Inter-

national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in effect 

at the time of the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements and applied by ELMOS were adopted by the Euro-

pean Commission for application in the EU. The consolidated  

financial statements of ELMOS therefore also comply with 

the IFRS released by the IASB. In the following, the uniform 

term IFRS is therefore used. 

The consolidated statement of financial position, the conso-

lidated income statement and the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income have been prepared according to IAS 

1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”. Individual items 

have been summarized to achieve higher clarity; those items 

are explained in the notes.

The consolidated financial statements will probably be released 

for publication by the Management Board in March 2012.

Adjustments in presentation compared to previous year

Deviating from the presentation in fiscal year 2010, com-

prehensive income 2011 is presented in two separate state-

ments for the sake of higher clarity, a consolidated income 

statement and a consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. In the previous year, the presentation was made in 

a single consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 

comprising the two elements.
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The statement of cash flows shows changes in securities 

solely in the cash flow from investing activities. The prior-year 

presentation that included an amount of 3,033 thousand 

Euro as changes in securities in the cash flow from operating 

activities has insofar been adjusted, and said amount has been 

reclassified to cash flow from investing activities under the 

item “payments for securities”. 

Estimates and assumptions

The most important future-related assumptions as well as 

other material sources of estimate uncertainty identified as 

of the end of the reporting period, on the basis of which there 

is a considerable risk that a material adjustment of the book 

values of assets and liabilities will become necessary within  

the next fiscal year are explained in the following. Beyond the 

scope of the areas described below, assumptions and esti-

mates are also necessary for allowances for bad debts as well 

as for contingent liabilities and other provisions. In accordance 

with IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Esti-

mates and Errors, changes in estimates are recognized in profit 

or loss as of the time new information becomes available. 

Changes in estimates did not result in material consequences 

in the reporting period. Nor are such effects expected for 

future reporting periods. 

Impairment of goodwill

The group reviews goodwill for impairment at least once 

a year. This requires an estimate of the values in use of the 

cash-generating units goodwill is allocated to. For an assess-

ment of the value in use, the company management needs 

to estimate the respective cash-generating unit’s probable 

future cash flows and also choose an adequate discount rate 

in order to determine the cash value of these cash flows. 

With respect to the assumptions on the basis of which the 

value in use is determined, uncertainties of estimates espe-

cially relate to gross margins and discount rates. Gross mar-

gins have been estimated on the basis of historic values of the 

past years in consideration of expected changes in demand 

and increases in efficiency. Discount rates reflect the current 

market assessments and have been estimated on the basis of 

customary weighted average cost of capital.

The book value of goodwill was 2,919 thousand Euro as of 

December 31, 2011 (2010: 2,379 thousand Euro). More details 

can be found under notes 3 and 13.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax loss carry-

forwards to the extent it appears probable that taxable income 

will be available so that loss carry-forwards can in fact be used. 

For the determination of the amount of deferred tax assets, a 

material discretionary decision made by the company manage-

ment is required, based on the expected time of occurrence 

and the amount of taxable future income as well as future tax 

planning strategies. More details can be found under note 16.

Pensions and other benefits after the termination of employ-

ment 

Expenses for performance-oriented plans and other medical 

benefits after the termination of employment are determined 

according to actuarial calculations. The actuarial evaluation 

is made on the basis of assumptions with regard to discount 

rates, expected returns on pension plan assets, future raises 

of wages and salaries, mortality, and future retirement pen-

sion raises. Due to the long-term orientation of those plans, 

such estimates are subject to material uncertainty. Provisions 

for pensions and other benefits amounted to 243 thousand 

Euro as of December 31, 2011 (2010: 376 thousand Euro). 

More details can be found under note 24.

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report
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Development expenses

Development expenses are capitalized in accordance with the 

accounting policies and valuation methods described under 

note 3. For the purpose of determining the values to be cap-

italized, the company management must make assumptions 

about the amount of the expected future cash flows from 

assets, the applicable discount rates, and the inflow period of 

expected future cash flows generated by the assets. Accord-

ing to best possible estimation, the book value of develop-

ment expenses to be capitalized amounted to 7,391 thou-

sand Euro as of December 31, 2011 (2010: 6,993 thousand 

Euro). More details can be found under note 13.

New and amended Standards and Interpretations

The accounting policies and valuation methods applied gene-

rally correspond with the policies and methods applied in 

the previous year. Exceptions were the following new and 

amended Standards and Interpretations, subject to first-time 

mandatory application for fiscal year 2011. The following 

Standards and Interpretations that had to be applied for fis-

cal year 2011 for the first time did not have any material con-

sequences for the ELMOS Group. 

-> Amendment to IFRS 1 – Limited Exemption from Compar-

ative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

-> IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures 

-> Amendment to IAS 32 – Classification of Rights Issues

-> Amendment to IFRIC 14 – Prepayments of a Minimum 

Funding Requirement

-> IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments

-> Improvements to IFRS 2010

The IASB has released the following amendment to a Stan-

dard which has already been adopted by EU law within the 

framework of the so-called comitology procedure, yet was 

not subject to mandatory application in fiscal year 2011. The 

group does not apply this amended Standard in advance.

Amendment to IFRS 7 – Disclosures: Transfers of Financial 

Assets

The amendment to IFRS 7 was released in October 2010 and 

is subject to mandatory application for fiscal years beginning 

on or after July 1, 2011. The amendment determines exten-

sive new qualitative and quantitative disclosures on trans-

ferred financial assets that have not been derecognized and 

on the continued commitment with respect to transferred 

financial assets as of the reporting date. This amendment will 

probably expand the scope of required information on finan-

cial instruments further. However, it will have no effect on 

the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities in 

the consolidated financial statements or on the earnings of 

future fiscal years.

The IASB has released the following Standards and Interpre-

tations that were not subject to mandatory application in fis-

cal year 2011. These Standards and Interpretations have so 

far not been adopted by the EU and are not applied by the 

group.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement

The first part of phase I in preparing IFRS 9: Financial Instru-

ments was released in November 2009. The Standard includes 

new regulations for the classification and measurement 

of financial assets. Accordingly, debt instruments are to be  

recognized either at amortized cost or at fair value through 

profit or loss, depending on their respective characteristics 

and in consideration of the business model applied. Equity  

instruments are always to be accounted for at fair value. 

Changes in value of equity instruments, however, may be  
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recognized in other comprehensive income due to the gran-

ted instrument-specific option exercisable as of the date of 

the financial instrument’s addition. In that case only certain  

dividend returns on equity instruments would be recognized  

in profit or loss. One exception are financial assets held for  

trading, subject to mandatory recognition at fair value 

through profit or loss. In October 2010 the IASB completed 

the second part of project phase I. The Standard was thus 

amended by provisions for financial liabilities, and it deter-

mines that existing classification and measurement regula-

tions for financial liabilities be maintained, with the follow-

ing exceptions: Effects of changes in the inherent credit risk 

of financial liabilities that have been classified as measured 

at fair value through profit or loss must be recognized out-

side profit or loss, and derivative liabilities on unlisted equity  

instruments must not be recognized at acquisition cost any-

more. IFRS 9 is subject to mandatory application for fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The completion 

of the project is expected for 2012. The application of the first 

part of phase I will have effects on the classification and mea-

surement of the group’s financial assets. From the second 

part of this project stage, no material effects on the group’s 

financial, profit and economic situation are expected. In order 

to present a comprehensive picture of potential effects, the 

group will quantify such effects only in connection with the 

other phases upon their release. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 was issued in May 2011 and is subject to mandato-

ry application for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2013. The new Standard supersedes the provisions of previ-

ous IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements on 

group accounting and Interpretation SIC 12 “Consolidation – 

Special Purpose Entities”. IFRS 10 establishes a consistent con-

cept of control to be applied to all entities including special 

purpose entities. Compared to the previous legal situation, 

the changes introduced with IFRS 10 require considerable dis-

cretionary management decisions in assessing which entities 

are controlled in the group and whether those entities must 

therefore be included in consolidated financial statements by 

way of full consolidation. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 was released in May 2011 and is subject to mandato-

ry application for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2013. The Standard supersedes IAS 31: Interests in Joint Ven-

tures and Interpretation SIC 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities – 

Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers”. With IFRS 11, the 

previous right to choose the application of the proportionate 

consolidation method for joint ventures has been eliminat-

ed. Such entities are henceforth to be included in consolidated 

financial statements by using the equity method of accounting 

exclusively. The first-time application of the new Standard will 

not lead to material changes. At present, ELMOS includes only 

one entity in the consolidated financial statements by way of 

proportionate consolidation (please also refer to note 33). 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 was issued in May 2011 and is subject to mandato-

ry application for fiscal years beginning on or after January 

1, 2013. The Standard governs consistent mandatory disclo-

sures for group accounting and consolidates disclosures for 

subsidiaries, formerly stipulated in IAS 27, disclosures for joint 

arrangements and associates, previously regulated in IAS 31 

and IAS 28 respectively, and for unconsolidated structured 

entities. As the new Standard establishes new requirements 

for disclosure of information in addition to previously effec-

tive mandatory disclosures, the group's information supplied 

on this group of entities will be more extensive in the future. 
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IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 was issued in May 2011 and is subject to mandato-

ry application for fiscal years beginning on or after January 

1, 2013. The Standard provides guidance for the determina-

tion of fair value and defines comprehensive quantitative and 

qualitative information on measurement at fair value. How-

ever, the question when assets and liabilities must, or may, 

be measured at fair value is not part of the scope of this Stan-

dard. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price one party would 

receive for selling an asset or pay for transferring a liability 

in a regular transaction between market participants on the 

cutoff date. The group is currently looking into the effects the 

new Standard will have on the Group's financial, profit and 

economic situation.

Amendment to IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Com-

prehensive Income

The amendment to IAS 1 was released in June 2011 and is 

subject to mandatory application for fiscal years beginning 

on or after July 1, 2012. The amendment to IAS 1 regards 

the presentation of items of other comprehensive income. 

Accordingly, items designated for future reclassification 

through profit or loss (so-called recycling) must be presented 

separately from items to remain in equity. This amendment 

only addresses the method of presentation and therefore has 

no consequences for the group's financial, profit and econom-

ic situation. 

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (amended 2011)

The amended Standard IAS 19 was released in June 2011 and 

is subject to mandatory application for fiscal years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013. The revisions include a wide range 

from essential changes, e.g. with respect to the determina-

tion of expected income from plan assets and the elimination 

of the so-called corridor method, which helped distribute and 

smooth the volatility resulting from pension obligations over 

time, to mere clarifications and rewording. The elimination 

of the corridor method had the consequence for the ELMOS 

Group that the amount of pension provisions will reflect 

the benefit obligation in the full amount and that actuarial 

gains and losses will no longer be recognized proportionate-

ly through profit or loss but in the full amount in other com-

prehensive income for the period in which they arise. On the 

whole, the first-time application of this amended Standard 

will have no material effects on the financial, profit and eco-

nomic situation.

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (amend-

ed 2011) 

The amended Standard IAS 28 was issued in May 2011 and 

is subject to mandatory application for fiscal years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013. With the adoption of IFRS 11 and 

IFRS 12, the scope of IAS 28 – in addition to associates – was 

expanded to application of the equity method to joint ventures 

as well. For its effects, we refer to our comment on IFRS 11.

Amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 – Offsetting Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities 

The amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 were issued in Decem-

ber 2011 and are subject to mandatory application for fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The revision is 

intended to eliminate existing inconsistencies by introducing 

enhanced guidance. However, the essential provisions for off-

setting financial instruments are retained. With the amend-

ments comes a definition of additional disclosures. The 

amendments will not affect the accounting policies applied 

by the group, yet lead to additional information to be dis-

closed. 
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The following new or amended provisions do not apply to the 

group and will therefore have no effect on the group's finan-

cial, profit and economic situation:

-> Amendment to IFRS 1 – Severe Hyperinflation and 

 Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

-> IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (amended 2011)

-> IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 

 Surface Mine

-> Amendment to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 

 Underlying Assets 

2 // Principles of consolidation
Basis of consolidation and consolidation methods

In addition to ELMOS Semiconductor AG, the consolidated 

financial statements prepared for fiscal year 2011 include all 

companies whose voting rights ELMOS has the direct or indi-

rect majority of or based on other rights in cases of control 

over the company as defined by IAS 27 “Consolidated Finan-

cial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiar-

ies”. The capital consolidation is based on the purchase meth-

od: The investments’ acquisition values are set off against 

the proportionate balance of assets and liabilities acquired at 

their respective time values. As of the acquisition date, iden-

tifiable assets and liabilities are fully accounted for at their 

respective time values. The balance of a remaining asset dif-

ference is stated as goodwill.

The separate financial statements of the companies included 

in the consolidated financial statements of ELMOS are stated 

in correspondence with the reporting date of the consolidated  

financial statements.

All material receivables and liabilities as well as transactions 

between the consolidated companies have been eliminated 

in the consolidated financial statements.

The group’s investments in associated companies are 

assessed using the equity method. An associate is a company 

over which the group has significant influence.

SIC 12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” clarifies the 

application of IAS 27 with regard to those companies to be 

consolidated whose equity provider does not exercise control 

according to the control concept. It requires the consolida-

tion of companies whose expected losses and gains are taken 

over for the most part by the reporting group based on the 

terms of partnership or other contractual terms, or based on 

financial interests.

A list of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 

statements can be found under note 33.

Foreign currency translation and foreign currency transac-

tions 

The functional currency of ELMOS Semiconductor AG and its 

European subsidiaries is the Euro. The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in Euro.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are generally trans-

lated at the closing rate as of the reporting date.

With regard to subsidiaries whose functional currency is the 

national currency of the respective country in which the sub-

sidiary keeps its registered office, assets and liabilities stated 

in foreign currency in the statements of financial position 

of the economically independent international subsidiaries 

are translated into Euro at the closing rates as of the respec-

tive reporting dates. Income and expense items are trans-

lated at average exchange rates over the underlying period. 

Differences resulting from the valuation of equity at historic 

rate and closing rate as of the end of the reporting period are  

recognized outside profit or loss as changes in equity under 

other equity components.
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The company enters from time to time into forward exchange 

contracts and option transactions to hedge foreign currency 

transactions for periods consistent with committed expo-

sures. These hedging activities minimize the impact of for-

eign exchange rate fluctuations on the company’s profit 

situation. The company does not engage in speculative trans-

actions. The forward exchange contracts do not pose a risk to 

the company’s profit situation as the profits and losses from 

these transactions are usually offset by the profits and losses  

from the hedged assets and liabilities. Beyond the reporting  

date December 31, 2011, ELMOS entered into USD forward 

exchange contracts in a total nominal amount of USD 3,000 

thousand. All transactions fall due in the first quarter of 2012. 

For the accounting treatment of these transactions and 

exchange rate gains and losses from currency hedges realized 

during fiscal year 2011 altogether, please refer to note 30.

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows shows how cash and cash equi-

valents have changed in the course of the fiscal year by 

inflows and outflows of funds. The effects of acquisitions 

and divestitures as well as other changes of the basis of con-

solidation are eliminated in this statement. In accordance 

with IAS 7, the statement distinguishes between cash flows 

from operating activities, investing activities, and financing 

activities. Finance expenses and finance income recognized 

in the consolidated income statement essentially correspond 

with the amounts paid.

3 // Accounting and valuation principles
Sales

The company generates sales by selling ASICs, ASSPs, and 

micromechanical sensor elements, as well as by their devel-

opment. Sales are stated net of sales tax and after deduction  

of discounts given.

Sales are realized either at the time that products are 

shipped to the customer or at the time the risk of loss pass-

es to the customer. Within the framework of consignment 

warehousing agreements, sales are realized either at the 

time of acceptance by the customer or at the time the con-

signment warehouse is stocked up, depending on the time 

of the passing of risk. Sales from development activities 

are realized upon reaching predefined so-called milestones, 

depending on the degree of the project’s completion. 

Goodwill

Goodwill from business acquisitions is not amortized but 

reviewed for carrying value at least once a year. In addition, 

an impairment review is performed if special events or mar-

ket developments indicate that the fair value of a reporting 

unit might have fallen below its book value. As of the acqui-

sition date, the acquired goodwill is allocated to the cash-

generating unit (CGU) expected to benefit from the business 

combination’s synergy effects. 

The impairment is identified by determining the recoverable 

amount of the CGU the goodwill is allocated to. If the recov-

erable amount of the CGU is below its book value, the impair-

ment of goodwill needs to be recognized. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of the two amounts of fair value less 

cost to sell and value in use. 

All goodwill is allocated to the respective CGUs. Each subsi-

diary usually represents one CGU.

The determination of the CGU’s recoverable amount is based 

on the value in use. For each CGU, future cash flows are deter-

mined on the basis of detailed long-term planning which 

involves a period of five years. Beyond that period a growth 

rate of 0.5 % is assumed. After that the cash value of these 

future cash flows is calculated by way of discounting.
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Other intangible assets

According to IAS 38, intangible assets originating from deve-

lopment are capitalized only, among other criteria, if it is a) 

sufficiently probable that the company is going to derive the 

asset’s future economic benefit and b) if the asset’s costs can 

be valuated reliably. These criteria apply to the capitalized 

development projects in connection with the development 

of ASICs. Depreciation is begun with after the development 

stage is completed or at the start of pilot series production.

Development expenses are capitalized after technological 

feasibility or realizability is provided and (pilot) series produc-

tion (so-called PPAP status; until June 30, 2011: so-called QBII 

status) is launched.

Projects that do not correspond with customer orders yet 

(ASSPs) are capitalized as well. They are reviewed annually for 

recoverability by the company.

Expenses are amortized as of the start of production on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of three to 

seven years (depending on the classification of the projects to 

the areas automotive, industry, or consumer).

Expenses for the in-house development of design and pro-

cess technology are capitalized. Expenses are amortized 

under the straight-line method over the shortest respective 

period of the estimated useful life of the technology, the pat-

ent protection term, or the term of the contract, yet over a 

maximum of 20 years.

Acquired intangible assets are recognized at cost and amor-

tized over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 20 years under 

the straight-line method.

Amortization is entered in the consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are basically capital-

ized at acquisition or production cost.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives using the straight-line method as fol-

lows:

Buildings 25 to 50 years

Building improvements 8 to 10 years

Factory and office equipment 5 to 12 years

If the book value exceeds the probably recoverable amount, 

impairment is recognized for this asset in accordance with 

IAS 36.

On the sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment, cor-

responding acquisition cost and corresponding cumulative 

depreciation are eliminated from accounts. Gains or losses 

from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are stat-

ed as other operating income or expenses. Costs for main-

tenance and repair are recorded in the consolidated income 

statement as expense.

In application of IAS 17, leased property attributable to the 

company as its economic proprietor is capitalized and depre-

ciated over its estimated useful life (so-called finance lease). 

Accordingly, liabilities originating from the lease contract are 

recognized as liabilities and reduced by the discharge portion 

of repayments made.
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Other lease agreements the company has entered into are 

considered operating leases. Repayments made are rec-

ognized in the consolidated income statement using the 

straight-line method over the contract terms.

Investments in joint ventures

ELMOS has an investment in a jointly controlled compa-

ny. A contractual agreement between the partner com-

panies governs the joint management of that company’s 

business activities. This agreement requires unanimous 

decisions of the partners on all issues of finance and opera-

tions. The group accounts for its investment in the joint ven-

ture using the method of proportionate consolidation. The 

group reports its proportionate share in the joint venture’s 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the corresponding  

items of the consolidated financial statements. The sepa-

rate financial statements of the joint venture are prepared 

as of the same reporting date as the consolidated financial 

statements are. If necessary, adjustments are made toward 

consistent group accounting policies. 

Adjustments were made to the consolidated financial state-

ments for eliminating the group’s share in intra-group bal-

ances, business transactions, and gains and losses from 

such transactions between the group and its joint venture. 

The inclusion of the joint venture in the consolidated finan-

cial statements by way of proportionate consolidation ends 

at the point in time at which the group no longer partici-

pates in the joint management of the joint venture.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 

method of accounting. Associates are entities over which the 

group can exert significant influence without having con-

trol. Significant influence is generally assumed if ELMOS has 

a direct or indirect share of the voting rights of at least 20% 

up to 50%. According to the equity method, investments 

in associates are initially recognized at cost at the time of 

acquisition plus post-acquisition changes in the group's 

share in the associate's net assets. The group's share in the 

profits and losses of associated companies is presented 

in the income statement under the item “share in profit/

loss of associates” from the time of acquisition. Cumulative 

changes after the acquisition are set off against the invest-

ment's book value. If the group's share in losses of an asso-

ciate equals or exceeds the group's investment in this asso-

ciate, the group does not enter any further losses. 

Investments

Investments represent investments in entities over which 

ELMOS has neither control nor significant influence. Invest-

ments for which there is a quoted market price are classi-

fied as “available for sale” and measured at that price. Invest-

ments for which there is no active market are classified as 

“available for sale” and measured at amortized cost. Insofar 

as there is no active market for those entities, it is assumed 

that the book value corresponds with the market value. A reli-

able determination of a market value would only be possible 

in the context of specific sales negotiations. At present there 

are no intentions of selling. 

Financial instruments

According to IAS 39, a financial instrument is a contract that 

leads to the origination of a financial asset for one company 

and at the same time to the origination of a financial liability 

or an equity instrument for another company. 
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Financial instruments are recognized according to IAS 39.14 

as of the time the company becomes the financial instru-

ment’s contracting party. With respect to regular purchase 

and sales transactions, the recognition occurs as of settle-

ment date. Financial assets are classified in accordance with 

IAS 39 in the following categories:

-> financial assets held for trading 

-> financial assets held to final maturity

-> loans and receivables originated by the enterprise

-> available-for-sale financial assets

-> financial liabilities measured at amortized cost and

-> financial liabilities measured at fair value through 

 profit or loss.

Financial instruments accounted for include liquid assets, 

securities, trade receivables, trade payables, forward loans 

including corresponding interest swap transactions (cash 

flow hedges), forward exchange contracts, and other out-

side financing.

Financial assets

Financial assets with determined or determinable payments 

and fixed terms which the company is willing and able to 

hold to final maturity are classified as held-to-maturity finan-

cial assets, with the exception of loans and receivables origi-

nated by the company. Financial assets acquired primarily to 

gain profits from short-term price fluctuations are classified 

as financial assets held for trading. All other financial assets 

except for loans and receivables originated by the company 

are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are accounted for under 

non-current assets unless they mature within twelve months 

of the reporting date. Financial assets held for trading and 

available-for-sale financial assets are regarded as current 

assets if they are meant to be realized within twelve months 

of the reporting date.

Upon their first-time recognition, financial assets are mea-

sured at fair value, corresponding with the time value attrib-

utable to the consideration received. With respect to financial 

assets classified at fair value outside profit or loss, transac-

tion costs directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition are 

also taken into account. Subsequent measurement of finan-

cial assets depends on their classification:

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held for 

trading are subsequently measured at their fair values with-

out deduction of any transaction costs incurred and under 

disclosure of their listed market prices as of the reporting date.  

Gains and losses from the measurement of available-for-sale 

financial assets at fair value are recognized directly under oth-

er components of equity until the financial asset is sold, col-

lected, or otherwise disposed of, or until the financial asset’s 

impairment is determined so that the cumulative gains or 

losses previously recognized in equity are included in income 

for the period as of that point in time.

Changes in fair value of financial assets held for trading are 

recognized in finance income/expenses insofar as there is a 

direct connection with the company’s financing or its finan-

cial investments. Held-to-maturity financial assets are mea-

sured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities generally constitute a claim for return in 

cash or in the shape of another financial asset. This category 

particularly includes trade payables, financial liabilities, and 

other liabilities. 

After their first-time recognition, financial liabilities are mea-

sured at amortized cost using the effective interest meth-

od. Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit 

or loss include financial liabilities held for trading. Derivatives 

are classified as held for trading unless they are designated 

as hedging instruments and are effective as such. Gains and 

losses from financial liabilities held for trading are recognized 

in profit or loss. 

Upon their first-time recognition, financial instruments are 

classified either as assets, liabilities, or equity, according to 

the contractual agreement’s economic matter.

Interest, dividends, and gains and losses in connection with 

financial instruments classified as financial liabilities are  

recognized as expenses or income in the consolidated income 

statement for the period in which they incur. Dividend pay-

ments to owners of financial instruments classified as equity 

are deducted directly from equity.

The company has so far made no use of the option to desig-

nate financial assets and financial liabilities as financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon their 

first-time recognition.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the group are con-

tracts that commit to payments in compensation of a loss 

incurred by the holder because a specific debtor has not ful-

filled his payment obligations on the due date according to 

the terms and conditions of a liability instrument. Upon first-

time recognition, financial guarantee contracts are recog-

nized as liabilities at fair value less transaction costs directly 

linked to the contract’s issuance. Subsequently the liability is 

measured at the best possible estimate of expenses required 

for the fulfillment of the obligation as of the reporting date or 

the higher stated amount less cumulative amortization.

Derivative financial instruments

ELMOS makes use of derivative financial instruments exclu-

sively for hedging interest and currency risks. On concluding 

hedges, certain derivatives are assigned to certain hedged 

items. The conditions stipulated by IAS 39 for the qualifica-

tion of transactions as hedges are met at all times.

According to IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments are 

to be assigned to the category “at fair value through profit 

or loss” and to be accounted for at fair value, regardless of 

the purpose or intention for which they have been concluded. 

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments are 

recognized in profit or loss. 

Insofar as derivative financial instruments applied are effec-

tive hedges within the framework of a hedging relationship 

in accordance with IAS 39 (cash flow hedges), changes in fair 

value do not have an effect on the income for the period  

during the term of the derivative. Changes in fair value are 

recognized outside profit or loss in equity. The amortized  

value in equity is considered in income for the period as profit 

or loss upon maturity of the hedged cash flow.
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The fair value generally corresponds with the market value or 

stock market price. If there is no active market, the fair val-

ue is determined on the basis of established valuation mod-

els and bank valuation.

The ELMOS Group’s hedging strategy is to exclusively enter 

into effective derivatives for hedging interest and curren-

cy risks. The conditions defined by IAS 39 as required for 

accounting treatment as hedging transactions were met 

upon conclusion of the hedging instruments as well as at the 

reporting date.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at acquisition or production cost or 

at the lower net recoverable value as of the reporting date. 

In addition to directly attributable cost, production cost also 

includes manufacturing cost and overhead as well as amor-

tization. Overhead costs are recognized as fixed amounts on 

the basis of the production facilities’ usual utilization. Costs 

of unused production capacity (idle capacity costs) are dis-

closed in the consolidated income statement under cost of 

sales. Inventory allowances are made insofar as acquisition or 

production cost exceeds the expected recoverable net sales 

proceeds.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables as well as other receivables are basical-

ly recognized at nominal value in consideration of adequate 

allowances.

The allowance for bad debt comprises to a considerable 

degree estimates and assessments of individual receivables 

based on the respective customer’s creditworthiness, current 

economic developments, and the analysis of historic bad debt 

loss on portfolio basis. Insofar as the allowance is deduced 

from historic loss rates on portfolio basis, a decrease in order 

backlog leads to a corresponding reduction of such allowanc-

es and vice versa.

Cash and cash equivalents (liquid assets)

For the purpose of preparing the financial accounts, cash and 

cash equivalents include cash on hand, checks, cash in banks, 

and marketable securities.

Non-current available-for-sale assets and discontinued 

operations

According to IFRS 5, an operation is classified as discontinued 

at the time the operation meets the criteria for a classification 

as available-for-sale. Such an operation represents a separate 

major line of business or geographical area of operations, 

is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate 

major line of business or geographical area of operations, or 

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with the intent to sell. An 

asset is to be classified as available for sale if the attached 

book value is realized primarily by a sale transaction and not 

by continued use.

Provisions

Provisions are made for legal or factual obligations with his-

toric origins if it is probable that the fulfillment of the obliga-

tion will lead to an outflow of group resources and if a reliable 

estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Recurring net pension benefits according to IAS 19 are made 

up of different components, reflecting different aspects of 

the company’s financial agreements as well as the expense 

for the benefits received by the employees. These compo-

nents are determined by using the actuarial cost method on 

the basis of actuarial assumptions as stated under note 24.
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The company’s accounting principles provide that:

-> all benefit improvements the company is committed to as 

of the current valuation date are reflected in the planned 

benefit obligation,

-> the cumulative actuarial gains and losses in excess of 

10% of the planned benefit obligation are amortized 

through the expected future benefits of active employ-

ees included in the plan (so-called corridor method).

Provisions for warranty are made as of the time of sale, based 

on the historic ratio of warranty costs to sales. Further- 

more, in individual cases adequate provisions are made 

upon risk assessment with respect to sales-oriented and 

legal consequences.

Taxes

Current tax assets and tax liabilities for the current peri-

od and for previous periods are measured at the amounts 

expected for tax refunds to be received from the tax author-

ities or tax payments to be made to the tax authorities. The 

calculation of these amounts are based on the tax rates and 

tax laws in effect at the end of the reporting period in those 

countries where the group has operations and generates 

taxable income. 

Deferred taxes are determined using the liability method. 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax expense/income 

of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position 

and their respective tax values. The calculation of deferred 

tax assets and liabilities is carried out on the basis of the tax 

rates expected as applicable for the period in which an asset 

is realized or a debt is repaid. The measurement of deferred 

tax assets and liabilities considers the tax effects resulting 

from the way a company expects to realize its assets’ carry-

ing amounts or repay its debts as of the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized regardless 

of the point in time at which the temporary accounting dif-

ferences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not discounted and they are included in the 

statement of financial position as non-current assets or non-

current liabilities.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for all deductible tem-

porary differences to the extent it is probable that taxable 

income will be available against which the temporary dif-

ference can be offset. As of each reporting date, the compa-

ny assesses deferred tax assets not accounted for anew. The 

company recognizes a deferred tax asset previously unac-

counted for to the extent it has become probable that future 

taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset’s realization. 

In the opposite case, the deferred tax asset’s book value is 

reduced to the extent it appears no longer probable that there 

will be sufficient taxable income to make use of the benefit of 

the deferred tax asset – either in its entirety or in part. 

Current taxes and deferred taxes are charged or credited 

directly to equity if the tax relates to items credited or charged 

directly to equity in the same period or in another period. 

No deferred tax liabilities incur to the extent that non-distrib-

uted profits of foreign investments are to remain invested in 

that company for an incalculable period of time. Deferred tax 

liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences 

insofar as the deferred tax liability does not result from good-

will which does not allow for amortization for tax purposes. 
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Deferred tax assets also include tax relief claims resulting 

from the expected use of loss carry-forwards in the follow-

ing years insofar as their realization appears assured with suf-

ficient reliability.

The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax 

rates in effect at or expected for the time of realization 

according to the respective countries’ current legal situation.

Income, expenses, and assets are recognized net of sales tax. 

Exceptions are the following cases:

-> If the sales tax incurred upon the acquisition of assets 

or the claiming of services cannot be reclaimed from 

the tax authorities by way of refund, the sales tax is rec-

ognized as part of the asset’s production cost or as part 

of the expenses. 

-> Receivables and liabilities are stated including sales tax..

The sales tax amount to be refunded by or paid to the 

tax authorities is recognized in the statement of financial 

position under receivables or liabilities.

Subsidies

Subsidies or government grants are recognized if it is suffi-

ciently assured that the grants are given and that the company 

fulfills the corresponding conditions. Grants linked to expenses  

are recognized on schedule as income over the period that is 

required to offset them against the corresponding expenses 

they are meant to compensate. Grants for an asset are recog-

nized in the statement of financial position as reduction of 

acquisition cost and amortized in equal installments over the 

corresponding asset’s estimated period of use through profit 

or loss. More details can be found under note 31.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to an asset’s acquisi-

tion, construction, or manufacturing and for which a consi-

derable period of time is required to put it into the intended 

state for use or sale are capitalized as part of the respective 

asset’s acquisition or production cost with respect to all quali- 

fied assets the construction or manufacture of which has 

been started on or since January 1, 2009. All other borrowing 

costs are stated as expense in the period in which they incur. 

Borrowing costs are interest expense and other costs a com-

pany incurs in connection with borrowing outside capital. 

The group continues to recognize borrowing costs connect-

ed with projects started before January 1, 2009 as expenses.
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Notes to the segments
4 // Segment reporting
The segments correspond with the ELMOS Group’s internal 

organizational and reporting structure. The definition of seg-

ments considers the group’s different products and services. 

The accounting principles applied for the separate segments 

correspond with those applied by the group.

The company divides its business activity in two segments:

The semiconductor business is conducted through the various 

national subsidiaries and branches in Germany, the Nether-

lands, France, South Africa, Asia, and the U.S. Sales in this seg-

ment are generated primarily with automotive electronics.  

ELMOS is also active in the sector of industrial and consum-

er goods, supplying semiconductors e.g. for applications in 

household appliances, photo cameras, installation and build-

ing technology, and machine control systems.

Sales in the micromechanics segment are generated by the 

subsidiary SMI in the United States. The product portfolio 

contains micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) which 

are for the most part silicon-based high-precision pressure 

sensors.  

Business operations are organized and managed separately 

from each other with respect to the type of products, with 

each segment representing one strategic business unit that 

provides different products and supplies different markets. 

Inter-segment sales are based on cost-plus pricing or on set-

tlement prices – less commission paid – that correspond with 

prices paid in transactions with third parties.

The following tables provide information on sales and earn-

ings and certain information on assets and liabilities of the 

group’s business segments for the fiscal years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.
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Fiscal year ended 12/31/2011

Semiconductor

thousand Euro

Micromechanics

thousand Euro

Consolidation

thousand Euro

Group 

thousand Euro

Sales

Third-party sales 177,427 16,919 0 194,346

Inter-segment sales 242 635 –8771 0

Total sales 177,669 17,554 –877 194,346

Earnings

Depreciation 16,511 1,339 0 17,850

Other material non-cash expenses −794 −39 0 −833

Other material non-cash income 133 0 0 133

Segment income 24,093 2,497 0 26,590

Share in profits of associates −30

Finance income 1,676

Finance expenses −2,427

Income before taxes 25,809

Income taxes –6,608

Net income including non-controlling interests 19,201

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 186,404 14,024 65,5692 265,997

Investments 470 3,447 0 3,917

Total assets 269,914

Segment liabilities/Total liabilities 33,189 2,049 46,7313 81,969

Other segment information 

Capital expenditures for intangible assets and property, 

plant and equipment 19,236 687 0 19,923

Other non-cash expenses comprise extraordinary write-down on non-current assets and stock option expense, among other 

items.

1 Sales from inter-segment transactions are eliminated for consolidation purposes.
2 Non-attributable assets as of December 31, 2011 include cash and cash equivalents (59,002 thousand Euro), income tax assets (2,989 thousand Euro), 
and deferred taxes (3,579 thousand Euro), as these assets are managed on group level.
3 Non-attributable liabilities as of December 31, 2011 include current financial liabilities (10,496 thousand Euro), non-current financial liabilities (30,235 thousand Euro), 
current tax liabilities (2,006 thousand Euro), and deferred taxes (3,994 thousand Euro), as these liabilities are managed on group level.
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1 Sales from inter-segment transactions are eliminated for consolidation purposes.
2 Non-attributable assets as of December 31, 2010 include cash and cash equivalents (58,010 thousand Euro), income tax assets (2,926 thousand Euro), 
   and deferred taxes (5,015 thousand Euro), as these assets are managed on group level.
3 Non-attributable liabilities as of December 31, 2010 include current financial liabilities (374 thousand Euro), non-current financial liabilities (40,101 thousand Euro), 
   current tax liabilities (2,627 thousand Euro), and deferred taxes (1,316 thousand Euro), as these liabilities are managed on group level.

Fiscal year ended 12/31/2010

Semiconductor

thousand Euro

Micromechanics

thousand Euro

Consolidation

thousand Euro

Group 

thousand Euro

Sales

Third-party sales 170,114 14,609 0 184,723

Inter-segment sales 366 196 – 5621 0

Total sales 170,480 14,805 − 562 184,723

Earnings

Depreciation 14,876 1,451 0 16,327

Other material non-cash expenses −1,117 −17 0 −1,134

Other material non-cash income 451 0 0 451

Segment income 22,088 1,015 0 23,103

Finance income 1,031

Finance expenses −2,436

Income before taxes 21,698

Income taxes −3,937

Net income including non-controlling interests 17,761

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 168,837 13,487 65,9512 248,275

Investments 537 374 0 911

Total assets 249,186

Segment liabilities/Total liabilities 30,780 1,692 44,4183 76,890

Other segment information 

Capital expenditures for intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment 12,182 178 0 12,360

Other non-cash expenses comprise extraordinary write-down on non-current assets and stock option expense, among oth-

er items.
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Geographic information

The geographic segment “other EU countries” basically 

includes all member states of the European Union as of the 

respective reporting date, with the exception of Germany. 

Those European countries that are currently not members of 

the European Union are included in the segment “other coun-

tries”. Third-party sales are broken down by the customers’ 

business locations.

Geographic information

Third-party sales

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Germany 68,962 70,180

Other EU countries 62,923 63,706

U.S.A. 14,536 13,144

Asia/Pacific 34,807 23,658

Other countries 13,118 14,035

Group sales 194,346 184,723

Geographic breakdown of 

non-current assets

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Germany 99,060 95,758

Other EU countries 8,462 8,767

U.S.A. 7,360 4,829

Other countries 21 2

Non-current assets 114,903 109,356

Sales generated with the top three customers amount to 32.4 

million Euro, 22.5 million Euro, and 20.2 million Euro, respec-

tively, and result from sales in the semiconductor segment.

 

Notes to the consolidated income statement 
and the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income
5 // Sales 
The company generates sales from the sale of ASICs, ASSPs, 

and micromechanical sensor elements as well as from the 

sale of development services.

Sales of the group and its segments can be broken down as 

follows:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Semiconductor 177,427 170,114

Micromechanics 16,919 14,609

Group 194,346 184,723

Sales increased 5.2% to 194,346 thousand Euro. The micro-

mechanics segment contributed disproportionately to the 

growth in sales, climbing 15.8% to 16,919 thousand Euro in 

2011.

6 // Notes to the consolidated income statement pre-
pared in accordance with the cost of sales method
Cost of sales

The cost of sales contains costs of performances rendered 

toward the generation of sales. In addition to direct materi-

al costs, direct labor costs, and special direct costs, the cost 

of sales includes manufacturing and material overhead as 

well as lease expenses and depreciation. The cost of sales 

also contains changes in work in process and finished goods 

inventories and shows the following development:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Material costs 44,552 37,909

Personnel expense 28,038 28,715

Other overhead 34,424 37,693

Changes in inventories –2,262 –3,355

104,752 100,962
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Cost of sales climbed 3.8% from 100,962 thousand Euro in 

2010 to 104,752 thousand Euro in the year under review. Due 

to the improved demand compared to the previous year and 

the resulting higher production output, an increase in materi-

al costs by the amount of 6,643 thousand Euro is noticeable. 

The reduced other overhead compared with the previous year 

is due essentially to lower lease expenses. Adjusted by effects 

of changes in inventories, the resulting increase in expenses 

amounts to 2.6%.

Research and development expenses

Substantial expenses regularly incur with regard to 

research and development projects carried out in antici-

pation of future sales. Research expenses are recognized 

in profit or loss according to the amount of work invest-

ed. Development expenses are capitalized depending on 

the project and then amortized or – insofar as capitaliza-

tion requirements are not met – recognized in profit or 

loss. In fiscal year 2011, R&D expenses of 32,541 thou-

sand Euro (previous year: 29,637 thousand Euro) were 

charged to expenses.

Distribution expenses

Distribution expenses in the amount of 16,163 thousand 

Euro (previous year: 12,593 thousand Euro) essentially include 

expenses for personnel, leases, and depreciation. 

 

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of 16,680 thousand Euro (previous 

year: 17,753 thousand Euro) include personnel expense for the 

administrative staff and proportionate personnel expense for 

the Management Board members. Other material items are 

expenses for leases and amortization as well as for legal and 

consulting fees. 

Due to the cost of sales method applied, lease expenses and 

amortization have been allocated to the items cost of sales, 

research and development expenses, distribution expens-

es, and administrative expenses in the consolidated income 

statement.

7 // Further information on the consolidated income 
statement prepared in accordance with the cost of 
sales method
Within the scope of the presentation of the consolidat-

ed income statement in accordance with the cost of sales 

method, expenses are allocated with regard to functional 

areas. Cost of sales, distribution expenses, administrative 

expenses, and research and development expenses con-

tain the following cost types as indicated below:

Material costs

Material costs amounted to 54,233 thousand Euro in the year 

under review and are up 15.9% from the previous year (2010: 

46,792 thousand Euro). They include expenses for raw materi-

als, supplies, consumables, and for services claimed.

Personnel expense

Personnel expense climbed 4.1 % from 59,720 thousand Euro 

in fiscal year 2010 to 62,185 thousand Euro in fiscal year 2011. 

Over the same reporting period, the number of employees – 

based on an average employment ratio – went slightly down 

from 990 in fiscal year 2010 to 988 in fiscal year 2011 (further 

staff information can be found under note 40).

 

Depreciation and amortization

The itemization of depreciation and amortization can be 

drawn from the development of the group’s non-current 

assets (please refer to notes 13 and 14). 

Depreciation and amortization came to 17,850 thousand Euro 

in the year under report (2010: 16,327 thousand Euro), equiv-

alent to an increase of 9.3%.

Due to the application of the cost of sales method, depreci-

ation of property, plant and equipment and amortization 

of other intangible assets are allocated to the items cost 

of sales, research and development expenses, distribution 

expenses, and administrative expenses in the consolidated 

income statement .
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8 // Finance expenses, finance income, and share in 
profits of associates 
Finance expenses came to 2,427 thousand Euro in 2011 

compared to 2,436 thousand Euro in 2010. They essentially 

include interest expenses for liabilities to banks and for non-

current liabilities.

Under the item finance income, essentially interest income 

was reported in fiscal year 2011. Finance income added up to 

1,676 thousand Euro (previous year: 1,031 thousand Euro).

Finance expenses and finance income reported in the con-

solidated income statement essentially correspond with the 

amounts paid.

The total amounts of interest income and interest expens-

es for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair 

value outside profit or loss are as follows:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Interest income –1,676 –1,029

Interest expense 2,411 2,436

Interest result 735 1,407

The share in profits of associates (2011: proportionate loss in 

the amount of 30 thousand Euro; previous year: 0 thousand 

Euro) results from the accounting treatment of the invest-

ment in California's TetraSun Inc. as an associate in the report-

ing period. In the fourth quarter of 2011, ELMOS Semicon-

ductor AG lost its significant influence over the company. 

Accordingly, as of December 31, 2011 the investment in Tetra-

Sun Inc. is accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset 

in accordance with IAS 39 (please refer to note 29).

9 // Foreign exchange gains and losses
Gains from exchange rate differences recognized in profit or 

loss amount to 275 thousand Euro in fiscal year 2011 (previous 

year: losses of 291 thousand Euro).

 

Exchange rate changes attributable to the owners of the par-

ent and recognized outside profit or loss amount to 1,400 

thousand Euro in fiscal year 2011 (previous year: 1,801 thou-

sand Euro), considering corresponding deferred taxes. Further 

information on changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

recognized outside profit or loss can be found under note 22.

10 // Other operating expenses and income
Other operating income in the amount of 4,867 thousand 

Euro (2010: 3,405 thousand Euro) includes income from the 

release of provisions (2,276 thousand Euro), among other 

items.

Other operating expenses in the amount of 2,762 thou-

sand Euro (2010: 3,789 thousand Euro) include, among oth-

er items, expenses for performances pursuant to a warran-

ty (including allocations to provisions) in the amount of 467 

thousand Euro, allocations to allowances in the amount of 

249 thousand Euro, and extraordinary write-down on a part 

of a building assigned to the semiconductor segment in the 

amount of 399 thousand Euro. 

Other operating expenses include expenses of 323 thou-

sand Euro relating to other reporting periods. In addition, 

extraordinary expenses arose in the amount of 185 thou-

sand Euro linked to derecognition of development projects 

or projects under development reported under intangible 

assets (please refer to note 13). These assets were assigned 

to the semiconductor segment.
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11 // Income taxes
Taxes on income either paid or owed as well as corresponding 

tax deferrals are reported as income taxes.

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Current income taxes

Germany 1,718 2,165

International 470 –2,510

2,188 –345

thereof taxes from previous years 196 –2,144

Deferred taxes

Germany 3,075 2,401

International 1,346 1,881

4,420 4,282

6,608 3,937

Deferred taxes have been calculated in accordance with the 

so-called liability method pursuant to IAS 12. For Germa-

ny, the combined income tax rate of 32.21% (previous year: 

32.21%) has been applied. The company’s combined income 

tax rate includes the trade tax collection rate of 468% (previ-

ous year: 468%), the corporation tax rate of 15.0% (previous 

year: 15.0%), and the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% (previous 

year: 5.5%). With respect to the international group compa-

nies, respective country-specific tax rates have been applied 

for the calculation of deferred taxes.

Deferred taxes are determined for the temporary differences  

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the tax statements 

in the separate financial statements. The deferral of taxes  

shows tax assets and tax liabilities that result from the 

approximation of book value differences over time. Material  

components of the company’s deferred tax assets and 

deferred tax liabilities are described under note 16.

The differences between the anticipated tax amount in appli-

cation of the statutory tax rate to the group’s net income and 

the company’s effective income taxes are as follows:

2011

%

2010

%

Statutory tax rate 32.21 32.21

Foreign tax rate differential –2.13 –1.57

Expenses disallowable against tax 0.76 0.43

Trade tax additions/cuts 1.26 2.08

Taxes from previous years 0.76 –9.88

Consumption of loss 

carry-forward –0.01 10.36

Non-capitalization of deferred 

taxes from loss carry-forward 0.00 0.10

Capitalization of impaired loss 

carry-forward –1.85 –10.78

Use of impaired interest 

carry-forward 0.00 –0.76

Tax-free income –5.54 –4.91

Others 0.14 0.83

Effective tax rate 25.60 18.11
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12 // Earnings per share
The basic earnings per ordinary share are calculated on the 

basis of the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding in the respective fiscal year. Diluted earnings 

per ordinary share are calculated on the basis of the weight-

ed average number of ordinary shares outstanding plus all 

stock options with dilutive potential according to the so-

called treasury stock method.

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per ordinary share have 

been determined as follows:

Reconciliation of shares

2011 2010

Weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding 19,302,994 19,351,378

Stock options with 

dilutive potential 344,556 234,859

Weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding, 

including dilutive effect 19,647,550 19,586,237

Calculation of earnings per share 

2011 2010

Net income attributable to 

owners of the parent (in Euro) 18,920,962 17,754,373

Basic earnings per share (in Euro) 0.98 0.92

Fully diluted earnings 

per share (in Euro) 0.96 0.91

The weighted average number of shares in 2010 and 2011 

includes the weighted average effect of changes from trans-

actions with treasury shares in the course of the years 2010 

and 2011.

Outstanding stock options originating from the 2010 

tranche have not been included in the calculation of dilut-

ed earnings per share 2010 as they counteract the dilutive 

effect for the period presented. Further information on 

stock option plans can be found under note 23.

In the period between the reporting date and the prepa-

ration of the consolidated financial statements, no further 

transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary 

shares took place.
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Notes to the statement of financial position
13 // Intangible assets

in thousand euro Goodwill

Development 

projects

Software 

and 

licenses

Advance payments 

and projects under 

development Total

Acquisition and production cost

December 31, 2009 2,366 17,965 47,715 1,738 69,784

Foreign currency adjustments 13 0 182 0 195

Additions 0 870 633 1,010 2,513

Transfers 0 1,074 123 –1,197 0

Disposals 0 –1,805 –36 –102 –1,943

December 31, 2010 2,379 18,103 48,617 1,449 70,548

Foreign currency adjustments 6 0 82 0 88

Additions 534 1,536 682 1,124 3,876

Transfers 0 790 252 –1,042 0

Disposals 0 –509 –422 –1 –932

December 31, 2011 2,919 19,920 49,211 1,530 73,580

Depreciation and amortization

December 31, 2009 0 11,534 24,582 0 36,116

Foreign currency adjustments 0 0 93 0 93

Additions 0 1,769 3,064 0 4,833

Disposals 0 –1,083 0 0 –1,083

December 31, 2010 0 12,220 27,739 0 39,959

Foreign currency adjustments 0 0 81 0 81

Additions 0 1,772 3,272 0 5,044

Disposals 0 –323 –421 0 –744

December 31, 2011 0 13,669 30,671 0 44,340

Book value December 31, 2011 2,919 6,251 18,540 1,530 29,240

Book value December 31, 2010 2,379 5,883 20,878 1,449 30,589
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Goodwill

Changes in goodwill are as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

ELMOS N.A.

Acquisition cost 555 555

Foreign currency adjustments 9 3

Book value 564 558

ELMOS France S.A.S. 1,615 1,615

ELMOS Services B.V. 206 206

MAZ Mikroelektronik-

Anwendungszentrum GmbH im 

Land Brandenburg 534 0

2,919 2,379

For the first time, goodwill is reported for MAZ Mikroelek-

tronik-Anwendungszentrum GmbH im Land Brandenburg. 

This is a joint venture, consolidated on pro rata basis, in which 

ELMOS purchased 50% of the shares in fiscal year 2011.

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized but 

reviewed for impairment at least once every year. Measure-

ment is determined on the basis of cash generating units, cor-

responding here with the legal entities the respective good-

will is attributed to. 

For the purpose of the impairment reviews to be conducted  

annually in accordance with IAS 36, the group determines the 

recoverable amount on the basis of value in use. The fore-

casts are based on free cash flows. They are in turn based 

on detailed planning adopted by management and consider  

the company's own empirical data as well as external general  

economic data. The forecasts are based both on historic values  

and the general market performance expected for the future. 

In determining the value in use, there is estimating uncer-

cainty with respect to individual sales and cost planning as 

approved by management. Material parameters are estab-

lished in the context of bottom-up planning by the subsi-

diaries and the business divisions. Methodically, the detailed 

planning phase comprises a five-year planning period from 

2012 to 2016. For the value added from 2017, it is enhanced 

by the perpetual annuity, which is based on a growth rate of 

0.5%, corresponding with a general expectation of the future 

business performance.

Further basic assumptions for determining the value in use

Gross margins – Gross margins are generally determined on 

the basis of the average values generated in the previous fis-

cal years before the beginning of the planning period. These 

margins are increased in the individual case by the expect-

ed efficiency increases in the course of the detailed planning 

period. For the individual cash generating units, gross margins 

with different bandwidths are taken as a basis. The budget-

ed annual performance of the gross margins was established 

individually for each cash generating unit, ranging from con-

stant gross margins to double-digit percentage growth rates 

in the detailed planning period. 

Price developments for raw materials – Raw material price 

developments of the past are regarded as indicative of future 

price developments. Forecast data are used only if they are 

accessible to the public. 

Assumptions on market share – These assumptions are rele-

vant insofar as management assesses – as in establishing 

assumptions for growth rates – how the positions of the indi-

vidual companies might change in relation to their competi-

tors during the budgeting period. Management anticipates 

steady market shares in probably growing markets. Market 

research institutes predict an average annual growth rate of 

9% for automotive semiconductors in the next years. 
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Discount rates – The pre-tax interest rates applied were 

determined according to the capital asset pricing model  

(CAPM) and come to 13.05% for ELMOS N.A., 12.32% for 

ELMOS France S.A.S., 11.36% for ELMOS Services B.V., and 

12.19% for MAZ Mikroelektronik-Anwendungszentrum 

GmbH im Land Brandenburg. These interest rates corres-

pond with the weighted average cost of capital. This so-

called WACC is based on a risk-free interest rate (2.75%) plus 

the average market risk premium (5.00%), multiplied by a 

company-specific equity beta based on a so-called raw beta 

of 1.19. All rates stated are derived from market data. 

In 2011 impairment reviews were conducted that did not 

result in impairment. It was established that the recover-

able amounts of the respective units exceeded the respec-

tive book values. 

Management is of the opinion that no change in one of the 

basic assumptions made for determining the value in use of 

the cash generating units, while generally possible accord-

ing to reasonable judgment, could result in the book value of 

those units exceeding their respective recoverable amounts. 

In this regard, ELMOS has carried out sensitivity analyses, 

examining the effects of the simultaneous reduction of 

the budgeted earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) in 

all planning periods beginning in 2012 by 10% compared 

to the adopted corporate budgets, a weighted average cost 

of capital increased by another 1.0 percentage points, and 

a reduction of the growth rate to 0.0% with respect to the 

recoverability of goodwill in the business divisions. The sen-

sitivity analyses have shown that from today's viewpoint 

there would be no need for the impairment of goodwill even 

under these changed assumptions.

Other intangible assets

Development projects

In 2011 expenses linked to product developments were capi-

talized as development projects and projects under develop-

ment in the amount of 2,357 thousand Euro (previous year: 

1,758 thousand Euro). Depreciation of capitalized develop-

ments amounted to 1,772 thousand Euro in 2011 (previous 

year: 1,769 thousand Euro). The book value of capitalized  

development expenses (including projects under develop- 

ment) is 7,391 thousand Euro as of December 31, 2011 (pre- 

vious year: 6,993 thousand Euro).

Amounts reported under “development projects” exclusively 

relate to the company’s in-house developments.

Software and licenses

In 2011 as in the year before, no expenses for process 

technology were capitalized. Amortization came to 1,254 

thousand Euro in 2011 (2010: 1,241 thousand Euro). As of 

December 31, 2011, the capitalized book values for process 

technology capitalized as non-current assets added up to 

11,066 thousand Euro; they amounted to 12,219 thousand 

Euro as of December 31, 2010.

Additions reported under “software and licenses” in the 

year 2011 resulted from purchases in the amount of 476 

thousand Euro (previous year: 293 thousand Euro) and in-

house developments in the amount of 206 thousand Euro 

(previous year: 340 thousand Euro).

Advance payments and projects under development

The item “advance payments and projects under develop-

ment” registered additions from purchases (9 thousand 

Euro; 2010: 0 thousand Euro) and from in-house develop-

ments in this fiscal year (1,115 thousand Euro; 2010: 1,010 

thousand Euro). 
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Other information

Costs linked to research and development projects for new 

products as well as for significant product upgrades are 

charged to expenses to the extent in which they incur, includ-

ed under research and development expenses. Research and 

development expenses of 3,003 thousand Euro were reim-

bursed by customers in 2011 (2,7791 thousand Euro in 2010).

Due to derecognition of development projects or projects 

under development that will yield no economic benefit for 

the company, expenses of 185 thousand Euro incurred in 

2011, reported under other operating expenses (please refer 

to note 10). The assets were assigned to the semiconductor 

segment.

1 Prior-year value adjusted
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14 // Property, plant and equipment

in thousand euro

Property 

Buildings 

and building 

improvements

Technical equipment 

and machinery

Advance payments 

and construction in 

process Total

Acquisition and production cost

December 31, 2009 1,499 27,634 152,850 7,275 189,258

Foreign currency adjustments 0 148 573 11 732

Additions 5 13 8,895 934 9,847

Transfers 0 0 5,024 –5,024 0

Disposals 0 –83 –7,096 –472 –7,651

December 31, 2010 1,504 27,712 160,246 2,724 192,186

Foreign currency adjustments 0 71 281 5 357

Additions 0 151 8,362 7,534 16,047

Transfers 0 284 1,558 –1,842 0

Disposals 0 –823 –2,811 –403 –4,037

December 31, 2011 1,504 27,395 167,636 8,018 204,553

Depreciation and amortization

December 31, 2009 0 11,734 104,745 0 116,479

Foreign currency adjustments 0 24 384 0 408

Additions 0 2,362 9,132 0 11,494

Disposals 0 –83 –5,606 0 –5,689

December 31, 2010 0 14,037 108,655 0 122,692

Foreign currency adjustments 0 33 300 0 333

Additions 0 1,533 11,272 0 12,805

Disposals 0 –823 –2,224 0 –3,047

December 31, 2011 0 14,780 118,003 0 132,783

Book value December 31, 2011 1,504 12,615 49,633 8,018 71,770

Book value December 31, 2010 1,504 13,675 51,591 2,724 69,494

In fiscal year 2011 and in the previous year, no borrowing costs were capitalized. 
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Lease agreements

On December 11, 2007, the company sold various pieces of 

installed equipment to Exedra for a total purchase price of 

5,125 thousand Euro. Parallel to this sale transaction, the 

company leased these building improvements for a peri-

od of five years. Within the framework of this lease agree-

ment with Exedra, the company is committed to total lease 

payments of 3,631 thousand Euro (including contribution to 

administrative expenses) until 2012. According to the con-

tractual arrangements, additional payments are owed for 

loans extended to the lessee in the amount of 1,823 thou-

sand Euro until the end of the lease term.

On December 11, 2007 the company also entered into a sup-

plementary agreement to an existing finance lease agree-

ment with Exedra, to the effect that the original agreement 

was restructured into an operating lease agreement in com-

pliance with the accounting principles according to IAS/IFRS 

and extended to a building erected on the lessor’s property in 

the amount of 4,816 thousand Euro. The leased assets to be 

subsumed under the existing contract were previously classi-

fied as finance lease and were recognized accordingly under 

non-current assets. By the adjustment of the contract modal-

ities, the contract was converted to operating lease in fiscal 

year 2007; thus the corresponding lease liabilities (December 

28, 2007: 16,175 thousand Euro) as well as the leased assets 

are no longer accounted for. The profit resulting from this 

transaction was collected in the amount of 4,756 thousand 

Euro in 2007 (reported under other operating income) and 

recognized as so-called deferred income under other liabili-

ties in the amount of 2,530 thousand Euro. This item is amor-

tized over the remaining term of 12.5 years until 2020. With-

in the framework of the newly negotiated lease contract, the 

company is committed to total lease payments of 23,050 

thousand Euro (including contribution to administrative 

expenses) until 2020. According to the contractual arrange-

ments, additional payments are owed for loans extended to 

the lessee in the amount of 7,330 thousand Euro until the end 

of the lease term.

Furthermore, on December 30, 2008, the company entered 

into a supplementary agreement to an existing finance lease 

agreement with Epigone, to the effect that the original agree-

ment was restructured into an operating lease agreement 

in compliance with the accounting principles according to 

IAS/IFRS. The leased assets to be subsumed under the exist-

ing contract were previously classified as finance lease and 

were recognized accordingly under non-current assets. By the 

adjustment of the contract modalities, the contract was con-

verted to operating lease in fiscal year 2008; thus the corres-

ponding lease liabilities (December 30, 2008: 10,862 thousand 

Euro) as well as the leased assets are no longer accounted for. 

The profit resulting from this transaction was collected in the 

amount of 2,565 thousand Euro in 2008 (reported under oth-

er operating income). Within the framework of the newly 

negotiated lease contract, the company is committed to total 

lease payments of 11,873 thousand Euro (including contribu-

tion to administrative expenses) until 2021. According to the 

contractual arrangements, additional payments are owed for 

loans extended to the lessee in the amount of 4,033 thou-

sand Euro until the end of the lease term. 

The group did not generate material income from subletting 

in fiscal year 2011. Future minimum payments from non-can-

celable subletting agreements are immaterial as well. For fur-

ther information, please refer to note 32.

15 // Investments in associates, securities and other 
investments 
a) Investments in associates

attoSENSOR GmbH i.L., Penzberg

As of December 31, 2011, ELMOS holds 45% of the shares. The 

company has a share capital of 40 thousand Euro. attoSEN-

SOR GmbH i.L., Penzberg is accounted for in accordance with 

the equity method. The recognition of the investment corre-

sponds with a memo value of 1 Euro following impairment 

loss recognized in 2006. 

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report



110

ELMOS annuaL rEpOrt 2011 

b) Securities

In fiscal years 2010 and 2011, the company purchased secu-

rities (bonds) from different banks. Insofar as the bonds’ 

remaining terms to maturity are more than one year, they 

have been allocated to non-current assets (8,346 thousand 

Euro; previous year: 6,272 thousand Euro). Bonds maturing 

within one year have been allocated to current assets (9,102 

thousand Euro; previous year: 3,033 thousand Euro).

c) Other investments

The company holds stakes in the following other compa-

nies listed below. Investments in subsidiaries or associates 

considered of minor significance from the group’s view-

point are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

GfH 0 0

Epigone 1 1

Advanced Appliances Chips 0 34

ELMOS USA Inc. 19 19

DMOS 450 450

TetraSun Inc. 3,447 374

ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd. 0 33

3,917 911

Gesellschaft für Halbleiterprüftechnik mbH, Dortmund (GfH)

This subsidiary, not included by way of full consolidation in 

2010, was renamed ELMOS Central IT Services GmbH in 2011 

following reorganization efforts in the group. ELMOS Central 

IT Services GmbH is included in the basis of consolidation of 

ELMOS as a fully consolidated subsidiary.

Epigone Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. 

Vermietungs KG, Mainz

ELMOS holds 6% of the shares as of December 31, 2011, 

unchanged from the previous year.

Advanced Appliances Chips GmbH i.L., Riedstadt

By partners' resolution of September 30, 2011, the liquidation 

of the company was decided, effective midnight of Septem-

ber 30, 2011. ELMOS continues to hold 33.33% of the shares as 

of December 31, 2011. The company has a share capital of 102 

thousand Euro. In the fiscal year, the investment was written 

down by 34 thousand Euro to a memo value of 1 Euro.

ELMOS USA Inc., Farmington Hills/U.S.A.

This company is a holding company for the U.S. subsidiaries of 

the ELMOS Group in which ELMOS continues to hold 100% of 

the shares. The company does not conduct independent busi-

ness operations.

DMOS Dresden MOS Design GmbH, Dresden

As of December 31, 2011, ELMOS continues to hold 20% of 

the shares in DMOS. By the end of 2008, ELMOS irrevocably 

waived the right to exercise a call option on the acquisition 

of a controlling interest for a period of the next five years by 

notarial declaration. ELMOS waived the right to exercise the 

option deliberately in order not to be able to exert significant 

influence. The DMOS management governs the company’s 

business independently and acquires third-party business on 

its own authority. Thus there is no significant influence over 

the company.

TetraSun Inc., Santa Clara/U.S.A.

In July 2011, ELMOS increased its non-controlling interest in 

California's TetraSun Inc. through the U.S. subsidiary Silicon 

Microstructures Inc., Milpitas/U.S.A. Due to this investment 

the ELMOS Group gained significant influence over TetraSun 

Inc. according to the contractual arrangement. Therefore the 

company had to be included in the interim financial state-

ments as of September 30, 2011 as an associate. After con-

tractual adjustments made in December 2011, ELMOS lost 

its significant influence over TetraSun so that the company is 

reported as a mere investment as of the reporting date, as 

it was in the previous year. As of December 31, 2011, ELMOS 

holds an indirect interest in TetraSun Inc. of 8.14% through its 

subsidiary Silicon Microstructures Inc. 
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ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul/South Korea

ELMOS founded ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd. in fiscal year 2010. This 

subsidiary, not yet included by way of full consolidation in 

2010, was included in the basis of consolidation of ELMOS in 

the year 2011 for the first time.

Summarized financial information:

Company

Curr-

ency

Total 

assets

thousand

Total 

liabilities

thousand

Sales

thousand

Income 

for the 

period

thousand

attoSENSOR1 EUR 74 29 106 –8

Epigone2 EUR 10.889 10,889 649 –8

Advanced 

Appliances Chips2 EUR 82 53 0 –46

ELMOS USA Inc.3 USD – – – –

DMOS2 EUR 6,610 6,083 3,536 308

TetraSun Inc.4 USD 4,176 221 0 –2,679

1 Presented figures are based on the preliminary unaudited financial statements as of 
   September 30, 2011.
2 Presented figures are based on the preliminary, unaudited financial statements 
   as of December 31, 2011.
3 Presently no financial statements of the company are available.
4 Presented figures are based on the audited financial statements as of December 31, 2010.

16 // Deferred taxes

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets 286 374

Property, plant 

and equipment 1,175 15

Pension provisions 193 194

Other provisions 359 157

Advance payments/

Accruals and deferrals 554 620

Loss carry-forward 3,661 8,441

Tax Credits 294 252

Others 92 160

Subtotal 6,614 10,213

Balance –3,035 –5,198

3,579 5,015

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible assets –4,505 –4,660

Property, plant 

and equipment –2,295 –1,718

Other provisions –102 0

Others –127 –136

Subtotal –7,029 –6,514

Balance 3,035 5,198

–3,994 –1,316

The balances as stated above were determined in accordance 

with IAS 12.74 a) and b), i. e. deferred tax assets and deferred 

tax liabilities were netted against each other if assets and lia-

bilities related to the same tax authority and if the taxable 

entity was entitled to offset current tax assets against tax lia-

bilities. 

Deferred tax assets include tax effects from changes in equi-

ty outside profit or loss.

The capitalization of deferred tax assets on taxable loss car-

ry-forward was made on the basis of the involved companies’ 

medium-term business planning.
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Deferred tax assets were capitalized for loss carry-forward of 

domestic companies in the amount of 6,587 thousand Euro 

(corporate tax) or rather 656 thousand Euro (trade tax) (pre-

vious year: 15,641 thousand Euro (corporate tax) or rather 

10,902 thousand Euro (trade tax)). Valuation allowances on 

loss carry-forward recorded in the past year (1,197 thousand 

Euro in corporate tax, 1,193 thousand Euro in trade tax) have 

been reversed in the current year. 

For foreign companies, deferred tax assets were recognized 

in the amount of 2,506 thousand Euro (previous year: 4,179 

thousand Euro) on taxable loss carry-forward and in the 

amount of 294 thousand Euro (previous year: 252 thousand 

Euro) on tax credits.

17 // Inventories
Inventories can be broken down as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Raw materials 7,900 6,709

Work in process 22,879 20,929

Finished goods 9,172 8,188

39,951 35,826

The impairment of inventories recognized as expense 

amounts to 797 thousand Euro (previous year: 599 thousand 

Euro). This expense is disclosed under the item cost of sales. 

The impairment expense includes write-down on special 

spare parts attributable to the semiconductor segment in 

the amount of 407 thousand Euro. The write-down is based 

on the limited usability of spare parts toward the end of the 

product life cycle. In addition, inventories whose future sale 

has become improbable were written down in the amount 

of 348 thousand Euro. These assets are attributable to the 

micromechanics segment.

18 // Trade receivables
Trade receivables can be broken down as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Trade receivables 28,906 25,518

Valuation allowances –192 –190

28,714 25,328

The company constantly assesses its customers’ creditwor-

thiness and generally requests no collateral. The company has 

carried out allowances for bad debts. Bad debt loss incurred 

corresponded with the Management Board’s estimates and 

assumptions and remains within customary limits.

The following table presents the changes in allowances made 

on current and non-current receivables: 

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Allowances as of January 1 190 261

Additions in reporting period 

(impairment expense) 33 61

Consumption 0 –17

Reversals (appreciation in value of 

initially written-off receivables) –1 –151

Currency translation effects –30 36

Allowances as of December 31 192 190

The allowances made for trade receivables are included for 

the most part in allowance accounts. The decision whether  

to recognize a contingency risk through an allowance account 

or a direct write-down on the receivable depends on the 

assessment of the probability of debt loss. If receivables are 

considered unrecoverable, the corresponding impaired asset 

is derecognized.
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The following table provides information on the credit risk 

carried by financial assets.

Neither 

impaired nor 

overdue as of 

the reporting 

date

Not impaired as of the reporting date

 and overdue in the following time bands

thousand Euro Book value 

Less than 30 

days

Between 30 

and 60 days

Between 61 

and 90 days

Between 91 

and 180 days

Between 181 

and 360 days

More than 

360 days

Trade receivables 12/31/2011 26,500 1,806 358 13 47 7 0

Other financial assets 12/31/2011 6,447 0 0 20 0 0 0

Trade receivables 12/31/2010 23,549 1,718 182 19 18 0 0

Other financial assets 12/31/2010 7,269 0 0 0 0 0 74

19 // Cash and cash equivalents
The company treats all highly liquid investments with a 

maturity of three months or less as of the date of acquisition 

as cash equivalents.

For the purpose of the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand 

and cash in banks.

20 // Other non-current and current financial assets, 
other receivables, and income tax assets
a) Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current financial assets include the following com-

ponents:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Earn-out (cf. note 29) 530 500

Loan receivables 

from third parties 1,100 1,500

Market evaluation of hedges 0 90

1,630 2,090
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b) Other current financial assets

Other current financial assets include the following compo-

nents:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Receivables from equity 

investments 1,425 1,848

Current loans 52 125

Market evaluation of forward 

exchange contracts (cf. note 29) 13 0

Loan receivables 

from third parties 400 0

Other financial assets 2,947 3,280

4,837 5,253

c) Other receivables

Other receivables include the following components:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Other tax assets 4,592 1,415

Accruals and deferrals 1,476 1,507

Other current receivables 431 226

6,499 3,148

d) Income tax assets

Income tax assets amount to 2,989 thousand Euro 

(December 31, 2010: 2,926 thousand Euro) and essentially 

include tax refund claims relating to corporate tax.

21 // Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale in the fiscal year are made 

up of IT equipment and various technical equipment and 

machinery as in the previous year.

These accounted-for assets, attributable to the semicon-

ductor segment, are intended to be sold to various lease 

companies in 2012 within the framework of sale and lease-

back transactions.

 

22 // Equity
Share capital

The share capital of 19,414 thousand Euro entered in the 

statement of financial position as of December 31, 2011 

(December 31, 2010: 19,414 thousand Euro) and consist-

ing of 19,414,205 no-par value bearer shares (December 31, 

2010: 19,414,205) is fully paid up.

Treasury stock

As of December 31, 2011, the company holds 105,931 

(December 31, 2010: 119,607) own no-par shares, adding 

up to a theoretical share in the share capital of 106 thou-

sand Euro (December 31, 2010: 119 thousand Euro).

Additional paid-in capital

Additional paid-in capital is composed as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Premiums 84,350 84,262

Stock options and stock awards 4,539 4,224

Others –373 0

88,516 88,486

Additional paid-in capital essentially includes premiums from 

capital increases and the issue of shares of ELMOS Semicon-

ductor AG. In fiscal year 2010, this item was reduced by 722 

thousand Euro due to the share buyback of 119,607 own 

shares at an average price of 7.034 Euro. In 2011, 13,676 of 

these shares were assigned as remuneration components. 

By this transfer of shares, premiums included in additional 

paid-in capital increased by 88 thousand Euro. The item stock 
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options and stock awards increased by the expense for the 

issue of stock options and stock awards in 2011 (please refer 

to note 23). The item “others” comprises transactions with 

owners or rather changes in the context of the reorganization 

efforts made in 2011. 

Other components of equity 

Other equity components can be broken down as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Foreign currency adjustments –1,751 –2,273

Deferred taxes (on foreign 

currency adjustments) 351 472

Hedges –925 90

Deferred taxes (on hedges) 298 –29

Changes in market value of 

available-for-sale financial assets –37 0

Other components of equity –2,064 –1,740

reserves for foreign currency differences include differen- 

ces from the currency translation of the financial statements 

of foreign subsidiaries. They also facilitate the recognition  

of translation differences relating to a net investment in a 

foreign business operation.

reserves for hedges represent the recognition of the mar-

ket value of hedges outside profit or loss as of the reporting 

date (please refer to notes 28 and 29). Changes in reserves 

for hedges in 2011 and 2010 solely result from changes in 

the market values of hedges.

reserves for available-for-sale financial assets are made in 

order to cover changes in the fair values of selected finan-

cial instruments (please refer to notes 28 and 29).

The development of changes in equity outside profit or loss 

that are attributable to the owners of the parent is shown 

in the following table for the years 2010 and 2011:

thousand Euro

Balance as of 1/1/2010 –2,489

Exchange rate changes 972

Changes in deferred taxes on exchange rate differences –284

Changes in hedges 90

Changes in deferred taxes on hedges –29

Balance as of 12/31/2010 –1,740

Exchange rate changes 522

Changes in deferred taxes on exchange rate differences −121

Changes in hedges −1,015

Changes in deferred taxes on hedges 327

Changes in available-for-sale financial assets −37

Balance as of 12/31/2011 –2,064

Ownership

Ownership as of December 31, 2011 is as follows:

thousand Euro %

Weyer Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Schwerte 3,979 20.5

ZOE-VVG GmbH, Duisburg 3,050 15.7

Jumakos Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH, Dortmund 2,966 15.3

Treasury stock 106 0.5

Shareholders <10% of shares 9,313 48.0

19,414 100.0
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Authorized and conditional capital

The Management Board is authorized to increase the compa-

ny's share capital up to and including May 16, 2016 subject 

to the Supervisory Board’s approval by up to 9,707 thousand 

Euro through the singular or repeated issue of new no-par 

value bearer shares against contributions in cash or in kind 

(authorized capital 2011/i).

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 495 thou-

sand Euro (conditional capital 2009). The conditional capi-

tal increase serves the redemption of stock options issued to 

employees, executives, and Management Board members of 

the company as well as to employees and executives of affili-

ated companies up to and including May 5, 2014 on the basis 

of the authorization given by the Annual General Meeting of 

May 6, 2009 (stock option plan 2009). 

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 1,250 

thousand Euro (conditional capital 2010/i). The conditional 

capital increase serves the redemption of stock options 

issued to employees, executives, and Management Board 

members of the company as well as to employees and execu-

tives of affiliated companies up to and including May 3, 2015 

on the basis of the authorization given by the Annual General 

Meeting of May 4, 2010 (stock option plan 2010). 

The share capital is conditionally increased by up to 7,800 

thousand Euro (conditional capital 2010/ii). The conditional 

capital increase is realized only insofar as the owners of con-

vertible bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or 

profit participating bonds (or a combination of these instru-

ments) issued by ELMOS Semiconductor AG or a group com-

pany of ELMOS Semiconductor AG pursuant to Section 18 

AktG up to and including May 3, 2015 based on authorization 

given by the Annual General Meeting of May 4, 2010 make 

use of their conversion privileges or options or, if they are 

committed to conversion, realize this commitment to con-

version, insofar as no cash compensation is granted or own 

shares are used for payment. 

There are stock options in accordance with Section 192 (2) 

no. 3 AktG from a stock option plan for employees, execu-

tives and Management Board members on the purchase of 

946,993 shares. Each option entitles to the acquisition of one 

no-par value share with a theoretical share in the share capi-

tal of 1.00 Euro each.

Dividend

According to the German Stock Corporation Act, the divi-

dend eligible for distribution is determined on the basis of 

the retained earnings ELMOS Semiconductor AG reports in 

its financial statements (separate financial statements) pre-

pared in accordance with the provisions of the German Com-

mercial Code. In fiscal year 2011, ELMOS Semiconductor 

AG distributed a dividend of 0.20 Euro per share from the 

retained earnings of the fiscal year 2010. 

23 // Share-based payment plans
Stock option plans

ELMOS has issued stock option plans for employees, execu-

tives and Management Board members aimed at safeguard-

ing the company’s success by enabling this circle of people 

to acquire the company’s shares. Within the framework of 

these plans, the company is authorized to grant 495,000 new 

no-par shares (conditional capital 2009) and 1,250,000 new 

no-par shares (conditional capital 2010/I). 
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As of December 31, 2011, altogether 946,993 options are 

outstanding. These are accounted for by the different 

tranches as follows:

Tranche 

2009

Tranche

2010

Tranche

2011 Summe

Year of resolution 2009 2010 2011

Year of issue 2009 2010 2011

Exercise price in Euro 3.68 7.49 8.027

Blocking period ex issue 

(years) 3 4 4

Exercise period after 

blocking period (years) 3 3 3

Options outstanding as 

of 12/31/2010 (number) 465,950 244,415 n/a 710,365

Granted 2011 (number) 0 0 250,000 250,000

Exercised 2011 (number) 0 0 0 0

Forfeited 2011 (number) 7,720 4,552 1,100 13,372

Options outstanding as 

of 12/31/2011 (number) 458,230 239,863 248,900 946,993

Options exercisable as 

of 12/31/2011 (number) 0 0 0 0

The 2009 tranche, based on the authorization given by the 

Annual General Meeting (AGM) of May 6, 2009 on the imple-

mentation of a stock option plan for the company’s employ-

ees, executives and Management Board members as well as 

employees and executives of affiliated companies, was issued 

in the year 2009 with an exercise price of 150% of the aver-

age amount of the last ten trading days’ closing prices of the 

share of ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft on Xetra 

trade prior to the resolution. The 2010 tranche, based on the 

authorization given by the AGM of May 4, 2010 on the imple-

mentation of a stock option plan for the company’s employ-

ees, executives and Management Board members as well as 

employees and executives of affiliated companies, was issued 

in the year 2010 with an exercise price of 120% of the average 

amount of the last ten trading days’ closing prices of the share 

of ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft on Xetra trade 

prior to the resolution. The 2011 tranche, based on the autho-

rization given by the AGM of May 4, 2010 on the implementa-

tion of a stock option plan for the company’s employees, exec-

utives and Management Board members as well as employees 

and executives of affiliated companies, was issued in the year 

2011 with an exercise price of 120% of the average amount of 

the last ten trading days’ closing prices of the share of ELMOS 

Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft on Xetra trade prior to the 

resolution. 

Options can be exercised only if the closing price of the com-

pany’s share equals or exceeds the exercise price. Options can 

be exercised against payment of the issue price. The blocking 

period is three years for the 2009 tranche and four years for 

the 2010 and 2011 tranches from the issue date, respective-

ly. The other particulars of the granting and exercise of stock 

options can be derived from the specifications provided by the 

resolutions passed at the AGM of May 6, 2009 for the 2009 

tranche and at the AGM of May 4, 2010 for the 2010 and 2011 

tranches. With respect to all three tranches, the company is 

authorized to offer compensation in cash to the beneficiaries 

instead of supplying shares.

No options were exercised in 2011 and in 2010.
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The stock options’ average attributable value was 0.70 Euro 

for the 2009 tranche, 2.24 Euro for the 2010 tranche, and 1.75 

Euro for the 2011 tranche. The value attributable at grant date 

was determined using the Black-Scholes method for option 

price calculation on the basis of the following assumptions:

Assumptions for the determination of attributable value

Tranche 2009 Tranche 2010 Tranche 2011

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 3.0%

Expected volatility 75.0% 62.5% 52.25%

Risk-free interest rate as of 

grant date 1.79% 1.67% 1.69%

Expected term in years 3 years 4 years 4 years

In fiscal year 2011, the company incurred expenses of 277 

thousand Euro for its stock option plans 2009, 2010, and 2011 

(2010: 189 thousand Euro).

Stock award plan

In 2010, ELMOS Semiconductor AG promised stock awards to 

executives of its American subsidiary SMI. The stock award 

plan comprised the issue of 15,000 shares previously bought 

back on the stock market. The beneficiaries cannot demand the 

assignment of the shares before midnight of April 30, 2013. In 

fiscal year 2011, the group incurred expenses in the amount of 

39 thousand Euro for this stock award plan. Basis for the deter-

mination of value is the stock market price of the shares at the 

time the transaction is granted. Expected dividends have not 

been considered for the determination of fair value.

 

24 // Provisions
Non-current provisions / Pension provisions and similar 

obligations

The development of net debt accounted for is as follows:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Cash value of the commitment 3,160 3,299

Time value of pension plan 

reinsurance –2,972 –2,797

Unrecognized actuarial losses/

gains (–) 55 –126

Debt recognized in statement of 

financial position 243 376

The company provides pension plans for (former) members 

of the Management Board of ELMOS Semiconductor AG and 

for members of the management of subsidiaries. According 

to the pension plans, the benefits depend on the remunera-

tion paid during the period of occupation. 

The company has taken out pension plan reinsurance policies, 

the claims of which have been assigned to the beneficiaries.

During the terms of the pensions, these are adjusted by 1.5% 

per annum. The expected pay increases are determined at 

0.0%.

Evaluation is carried out in accordance with IAS 19. The 

interest rate was 5.5% per annum as of December 31, 2011 

(December 31, 2010: 5.1% p.a.). For the purpose of actuarial 

assumptions with respect to mortality and disability risk, the 

Heubeck mortality tables 2005 G have been applied.
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Pension plan expenses are allocated to the personnel expen-

ses of the different business units (service cost) and financial 

result (interest) and can be broken down as follows:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Service cost 42 38

Interest 166 168

Recognized actuarial gains 0 –9

Net pension expense 208 197

Changes in the cash values of defined benefit obligations are 

as follows:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Pension commitment as of 1/1 3,299 3,136

Pension expense 208 197

Pension benefits –154 –154

Actuarial gains (–)/losses –193 120

Pension commitment as of 12/31 3,160 3,299

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Time value of pension plan 

reinsurance –2,972 –2,797

Actuarial gains or losses are recognized in the income state-

ment only if they exceed the 10% corridor (maximum of 10% 

of the defined benefit obligation and 10% of plan assets). The 

exceeding amount is allocated over the average remaining 

term of employment of the active employees through profit 

or loss. Actuarial gains/losses recognized in profit or loss for 

the reporting period came to 0 thousand Euro in 2011 (2010: 

gains of 9 thousand Euro).  

Income from pension plan reinsurance amounts to 175 thou-

sand Euro (previous year: 433 thousand Euro), including pay-

ments made in the event of death. Premiums of 280 thou-

sand Euro were paid (previous year: 313 thousand Euro). 

Amounts of similar order are expected for 2012.

There are also indirect pension commitments to (former) 

Management Board members of ELMOS Semiconductor 

AG which require no pension provisions according to IAS 

19.104D because of the volume of these commitments and  

risk coverage by completely congruent pension plan rein-

surance. In 2011, the contributions to these pension plans 

amounted to 569 thousand Euro (previous year: 455 thou-

sand Euro).

The employer’s social security contributions made for 

employees amounted to 3,805 thousand Euro in 2011 (previ-

ous year: 3,671 thousand Euro). The contributions to employ-

ees’ direct insurance came to 0 thousand Euro in 2011 (previ-

ous year: 12 thousand Euro).
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Respective amounts of the current reporting period and the four preceding reporting periods are as follows:

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

2009

thousand Euro

2008

thousand Euro

2007

thousand Euro

Pension commitment 3,160 3,299 3,36 2,958 2,917

Time value of pension plan reinsurance –2,972 –2,797 –2,514 –2,274 –2,036

Underfunding (–) –188 –502 –622 –684 –881

Adjustments to plan liabilities 

based on experience –8 –20 –7 – 10 –13

Adjustments to plan assets 

based on experience 0 0 0 0 0

A change of 1 percentage point in the assumption of the interest rate would have had the following effect in the year under 

review and in the previous year:

Fiscal year 2011 Fiscal year 2010

Increase by 

1% point

Decrease by 

1% point

Increase by 

1% point

Decrease by 

1% point

Effects on current service costs and interest expense 

(in thousand Euro) –7 6 –1 13

Effects on performance-oriented commitments 

(in thousand Euro) –352 429 –386 473

Current provisions

1/1/2011

thousand Euro

Consumption

thousand Euro

Reversal

thousand Euro

Allocation

thousand Euro

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

Vacation provision 524 377 0 413 560

Bonus provision 1,401 1,194 207 1,206 1,206

Trade association 273 257 16 299 299

Warranty 2,961 402 574 459 2,444

Licenses 1,483 1,008 476 128 127

Other provisions for employee benefits 1,974 691 231 1,529 2,580

Other provisions 952 633 107 1,948 2,160

9,568 4,562 1,610 5,980 9,376

The warranty provision was calculated on the basis of sales in general terms as well as in consideration of special incidents of 

the past fiscal year.

The provision for licenses includes payment obligations to in-house inventors and external inventors. This provision is calcu- 

lated on the basis of existing payment agreements. 
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Other provisions for employee benefits essentially include 

bonus payment obligations, awards, and partial retirement.

Other provisions comprise different identifiable individual 

risks and contingent obligations.

Current provisions will probably be drawn on in the course of 

the next fiscal year.

25 // Financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities

The breakdown of non-current financial liabilities as of 

December 31, 2011 is the following:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Loans 30,235 30,101

Bonded loans 0 10,000

30,235 40,101

The effective interest rates of non-current loans range 

between 5.35% and 5.55%.

Current financial liabilities

As of December 31, 2011, the company had various current 

credit limits at its disposal, totaling 20,612 thousand Euro. As 

of December 31, 2011, the company took advantage of these 

credit facilities in the amount of 720 thousand Euro. Current 

financial liabilities (December 31, 2011: 10,496 thousand 

Euro; December 31, 2010: 374 thousand Euro) represent the 

portion of financial liabilities initially reported as non-cur-

rent with remaining terms of one year or less (bonded loans) 

and checks in circulation issued by the company.

 

Cash flows from financial liabilities

The following table lists all contractually defined incoming 

payments (indicated as negative in the following table) from 

borrowing and payouts (indicated as positive in the follow-

ing table) for redemption, repayment, and interest on finan-

cial liabilities accounted for. Payments are stated at undis-

counted cash flows including interest payments for the next 

fiscal years. Also included are all cash flows from derivative 

financial instruments at positive and negative fair values.

December 31, 2011

2012

thousand 

Euro

2013

thousand 

Euro

2014-2016

thousand 

Euro

from 2017

thousand 

Euro

Liabilities to banks –8,192 6,749 4,205 36,545

Other finance debt 10,500 0 0 0

Trade payables 21,325 0 0 0

Other financial 

liabilities 593 0 0 0

Hedged derivatives 5 128 1,001 293

December 31, 2010

2011

thousand 

Euro

2012

thousand 

Euro

2013-2015

thousand 

Euro

from 2016

thousand 

Euro

Liabilities to banks 2,015 –8,2171 9,2811 37,726

Other finance debt 563 10,500 0 0

Trade payables 18,792 0 0 0

Other financial 

liabilities 373 17 0 0

Hedged derivatives 0 6 939 739

1 Prior-year amount adjusted

The presentation of the liquidity analysis is based on the fol-

lowing assumptions: With respect to financial instruments 

at variable interest rates, the statement of future interest 

payments is based on current fixing as of the reporting date. 

Foreign currency amounts have been translated at the cur-

rent reporting date’s exchange rate; the resulting amount 

has been used for the determination of future payments.
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26 // Other current and non-current liabilities and 
income tax liabilities
Other liabilities include as of the reporting date:

12/31/2011

thousand Euro

12/31/2010

thousand Euro

Other current liabilities 2,754 1,955

Other non-current liabilities 1,540 1,781

4,294 3,736

Other current liabilities include, among other items, liabilities 

relating to wage income tax, social security contributions yet to 

be made, and advance payments received on orders.

Furthermore, in connection with the lease agreement conclud-

ed with Exedra in 2007, the difference between the reversed 

finance lease liability and the determined fair value of the leased 

assets is disclosed under “other non-current liabilities” as in the 

previous year. The amount is treated as a deferred item propor-

tionally over the term of the underlying lease agreement.

Income tax liabilities amount to 2,006 thousand Euro (Decem-

ber 31, 2010: 2,627 thousand Euro) and include liabilities of the 

domestic and international subsidiaries, originating in part from 

previous years.

27 // Trade payables
Trade payables primarily concern the purchase of materials 

and the claiming of services for maintaining business opera-

tions. Trade payables fully mature within one year. 

28 // Derivative financial instruments
The company monitors the performances of liabilities at fixed 

and variable interest rates and of current and non-current lia-

bilities. In this context, business and other finance risks are 

reviewed. 

In 2010 the company entered into two variable-interest loan 

agreements (forward loans) to safeguard financing through 

fiscal year 2017 within the framework of a comprehensive 

and long-term financing strategy oriented toward solidity. 

These transactions are accompanied by the respective agree-

ment of a forward interest rate swap in form of a payer swap 

that corresponds with the respective underlying transaction 

in terms of volume, term, currency, and reference interest, i. e. 

economically the variable interest rate of the forward loan is 

converted into a fixed interest rate. The agreed forward loan 

agreements in the amounts of 15 million Euro (term: August 

1, 2013 to September 30, 2017) and 2.5 million Euro (term: 

November 20, 2012 to November 20, 2017) form a hedging 

relationship with the respective forward interest rate swap in 

accordance with IAS 39, with the forward loan being declared 

as hedged item and the respective corresponding forward 

interest rate swap being declared as hedge. The reverse cash 

flows of forward loans and corresponding forward interest 

rate swaps will probably balance each other completely over 

the respective terms. Due to the correspondence of the mate-

rial parameters and terms and conditions of hedged item and 

hedge, the hedge is generally suited to provide effective pro-

tection for the hedged item. The hedge as forward interest 

swap is suited to adequately cover the risk of interest rate 

changes which affects the performance of the hedged item. 

The effectiveness of the hedging connection is regarded as 

highly effective for the beginning, the future, and the term 

of the hedging relationship. As the material terms and con-

ditions and the parameters of hedged item and hedge are 

matching (critical term match) and as the transaction as a 

whole can also be referred to as a perfect micro hedge, the 
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conditions for an assessment as “highly effective” are entire-

ly provided. The assessment of effectiveness based on a com-

parison of the critical terms will be conducted as of the fol-

lowing reporting dates as well.

The interest rate swap is recognized at its dirty fair value 

(market value including accrued interest) in the statement 

of financial position (please refer to note 29). The cash flow 

hedge provision or the cash flow hedge market value corre-

sponds with the clean price. Changes in the clean price of the 

hedge are adjusted outside profit or loss if changes in the 

hedged item are outside profit or loss or not yet to be recog-

nized. A reversal of the equity item takes place if the hedged 

item must be recognized in profit or loss. Deferred taxes out-

side profit or loss are considered for the market value of the 

cash flow hedge recognized in the statement of financial 

position. 

Within the framework of the comprehensive approach 

described above, the company also concluded two fixed-

interest rate forward loans in 2010 with terms until 2017 (7.5 

million Euro) and 2018 (10 million Euro) for which there are no 

corresponding hedges. These transactions represent follow-

up financing of the financial liabilities reported under note 25 

expiring in the years 2012 and 2013, respectively. The mar-

ket values of the forward loans as of December 31, 2011 can 

be found under note 29. Compliant with IAS 39.2 (h) and IAS 

39.BC16, the loan commitments are exempt from the scope 

of IAS 39 and are therefore not recognized in the statement 

of financial position as of the reporting date.

The measurement of the interest rate swap follows corres-

ponding evaluation procedures or is based on evaluations 

provided by the banks involved. The market value of interest 

rate swaps accounted for is determined by applying the inter-

est rates and credit ratings of the contracting parties as of the 

reporting date on the basis of a discounted cash flow model.

The company concluded various currency-related hedges in 

2011. Those are forward exchange contracts for the curren-

cies USD and JPY. With respect to the transactions expired by 

the end of the year, the effects on the financial position as 

of December 31, 2011 are limited to the exchange rate gains 

generated in the amount of 197 thousand Euro and exchange 

rate losses incurred at 36 thousand Euro, reported in the con-

solidated income statement under the item exchange rate 

gains/losses. With respect to six forward exchange con-

tracts (total nominal value 3,000 thousand U.S. dollars), con-

cluded with remaining terms of less than one year beyond 

the reporting date, the positive fair value as of December 31, 

2011 amounts to 13 thousand Euro, accounted for under (cur-

rent) other financial assets. The corresponding income from 

these transactions was reported under exchange rate gains. 

Measurement followed accepted valuation models (discount-

ed cash flow method) on the basis of current yield curves as 

of the reporting date.

29 // Additional information on financial instruments
Book values, recognition and fair values according to mea-

surement categories 

With respect to the classification of financial instruments, 

the company follows the measurement categories defined by 

IAS 39 as the spreading of risks within these measurement 

categories appears similar.

The book value of financial instruments such as trade recei-

vables and trade payables essentially corresponds with the 

market value due to the short-term maturities of these finan-

cial instruments.
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The book value of short-term securities essentially corre-

sponds with the market value due to the bonds’ short-term 

maturities. The market value of short-term and long-term 

securities was determined on the basis of values provided by 

the involved banks as of the reporting date. With respect to 

the portfolio of long-term bonds, the market value of long-

term securities on balance as of December 31, 2011 was 

slightly below the book value.

The forward interest rate swaps reported under the item 

hedged derivatives (please refer to note 28) were recog-

nized at (negative) market value under current provisions 

outside profit or loss. The determination of the market val-

ues as of December 31, 2011 was based on a discounted cash 

flow model in consideration of current yield curves as of the 

reporting date.

The market value of those fixed-interest forward loans for 

which there are no corresponding hedges was determined on 

the basis of a discounted cash flow model in consideration of 

current yield curves as of the reporting date. 

The market value of liabilities to banks was established on 

the basis of market prices determined for the same or com-

parable issues and of the interest rates currently offered to 

the company.

The following tables indicate book values and fair value of 

each category of financial assets and liabilities.
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Recognition in accordance with IAS 39 Recognition in accordance 
with IAS 39

thousand Euro Cat.
Book value 

12/31/2011
Amortized 

cost
Acquisition 

cost 

At market 
value 

through 
profit or 

loss

At market 
value 

outside 
profit or loss

Fair value 
12/31/2011

Book value 
12/31/2010

Amortized 
cost

Acquisition 
cost 

Fair value 
12/31/2010

Financial assets

Investments  AfS 3,917 3,917 3,917 911 911 911

Securities (long-term) HtM 8,346 8,346 8,064 6,272 6,272 6,213

Securities (short-term) HtM 3,428 3,428 3,408 3,033 3,033 3,037

Securities (short-term) LaR 1,500 1,500 1,500

Securities (short-term) AfS 4,174 4,174 4,174

Trade receivables LaR 28,714 28,714 28,714 25,328 25,328 25,328

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 59,002 59,002 59,002 58,010 58,010 58,010

Other financial assets

Other receivables and assets LaR 2,889 2,889 2,889 4,077 4,077 4,077

Other loans LaR 3,035 3,035 3,035 2,676 2,676 2,676

Forward exchange contracts HfT 13 13 13

Hedged derivatives n/a 90 90

Fixed-interest rate forward loans n/a 0 262

Earn-out1 LaR 530 530 530 500 500 500

Total financial assets 115,548 107,444 3,917 13 4,174 115,246 100,897 99,896 911 101,104

Financial liabilities

Trade payables OL 21,325 21,325 21,325 18,792 18,792 18,792

Liabilities to banks OL 30,731 30,731 31,316 30,476 30,476 30,997

Other finance debt (bonded loans) OL 10,000 10,000 10,172 10,000 10,000 10,242

Other financial liabilities

Miscellaneous financial liabilities OL 593 593 593 390 390 390

Hedged derivatives n/a 926 926

Fixed-interest rate forward loans n/a 0 410

Total financial liabilities 63,575 62,649 0 0 0 64,742 59,658 59,658 60,421

Aggregated by measurement category

Loans and receivables (LaR) 95,670 95,670 95,670 90,591 90,591 90,591

Available for Sale (AfS) 8,091 3,917 4,174 8,091 911 911 911

Held to Maturity (HtM) 11,774 11,774 11,472 9,305 9,305 9,250

Other Liabilities (OL) 62,649 62,649 63,406 59,658 59,658 60,421

Held for Trading (HfT) 13 13 13

n/a 926 1,336 90 352

1 The classification of earn-out was adjusted compared to prior-year presentation.
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Hierarchy of fair values 

The group applies the following hierarchy for the determina-

tion and statement of the fair values of financial instruments 

according to the respective valuation methods:

stage 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for simi-

lar assets or liabilities

stage 2: methods where all input parameters with material 

effect on the determined fair value can be monitored either 

directly or indirectly

stage 3: methods using input parameters that have material  

effect on the determined fair value and are not based on 

market data that can be monitored

As of December 31, 2011, the group held the following finan-

cial instruments measured at fair value:

Available-for-sale financial assets

Stage 1

thousand

Euro

Stage 2

thousand 

Euro

Stage 3

thousand 

Euro

January 1, 2010 0 0 504

Addition shares in TetraSun Inc. 0 0 374

Addition shares in ELMOS Korea 

Co. Ltd.

0 0 33

December 31, 2010 0 0 911

Addition shares in TetraSun Inc. 0 0 3,073

Addition securities (short-term) 4,174 0 0

Disposal shares in ELMOS Korea Co. 

Ltd. (full consolidation) 0 0 –33

Write-down shares in 

Advanced Appliances Chips 0 0 –34

December 31, 2011 4,174 0 3,917

Hedged derivatives

January 1, 2010 0 0 0

Addition hedged derivatives 0 90 0

December 31, 2010 0 90 0

Correction of valuation of hedged 

derivatives outside profit or loss 0 –1,016 0

December 31, 2011 0 926 0

Forward exchange contracts

January 1, 2010 0 0 0

December 31, 2010 0 0 0

Addition forward exchange contracts 0 13 0

December 31, 2011 0 13 0
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The securities reported under hierarchy stage 1 are bonds 

classified by ELMOS as available for sale. Plausible alterna-

tive assumptions would not result in material changes of 

the reported fair value.

The hedged derivatives allocated to hierarchy stage 2 com-

prise the company’s interest rate swaps explained under 

note 28. The effects of a changed market interest rate lev-

el on fair value are discussed under note 30 in the context of 

the explanation of the interest rate risk.

The available-for-sale financial assets reported under hier-

archy stage 3 are investments in various companies. With 

this respect, the book value essentially corresponds with the 

market value.

The additionally acquired shares in TetraSun Inc. (please also 

refer to note 15) were reported under non-current assets in 

the consolidated statement of financial position. Plausible 

alternative assumptions would not result in material changes 

of the reported fair value.

In fiscal year 2010, ELMOS founded ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd. 

This subsidiary, not yet fully consolidated in 2010, was 

included in the ELMOS basis of consolidation in 2011 for the 

first time.

Within the framework of the sale of assets and liabilities 

(disposal group) by subsidiary ELMOS Advanced Packaging 

B.V. in fiscal year 2010, the contracting parties agreed on 

an earn-out component. This implies that the company will 

receive a certain percentage of the gross margin achieved by 

the buyer in fiscal years 2013 and 2014 if the gross margin 

exceeds a previously defined amount. The payment of the 

due amounts will be made as of March 30, 2015 and March 

30, 2016, respectively, fulfillment of the defined criteria 

provided. In fiscal year 2011, the earn-out component was 

accumulated by the amount of 30 thousand Euro. Plausible 

alternative assumptions would not lead to material changes 

in the fair value as stated.

Notes to the consolidated income statement 

The following table shows the net gains and net losses from 

financial instruments recognized in the consolidated income 

statement.

Gains (−)/ Losses (+)

2011

thousand Euro

2010

thousand Euro

Loans and Receivables –590 78

Other Liabilities 459 103

Held for Trading –174 357

In fiscal year 2011, ELMOS realized exchange rate gains in 

the amount of 197 thousand Euro and incurred exchange 

rate losses in the amount of 36 thousand Euro from curren-

cy-related hedges (2010: exchange rate gains of 1 thousand 

Euro and exchange rate losses of 358 thousand Euro). These 

exchange rate gains and losses have been reported in the 

consolidated income statement under the item exchange 

rate gains/losses. For six forward exchange contracts (please 

refer to note 28), a positive fair value of 13 thousand Euro is 

stated as of December 31, 2011. The corresponding income 

from these transactions was disclosed under exchange rate 

gains. Plausible alternative assumptions would not lead to 

material changes in the fair value as stated.

ELMOS recognizes allowances on trade receivables clas-

sifiable as “loans and receivables” under other operating 

expenses. Gains from foreign currency translation of financial 

assets classifiable as “loans and receivables” result from trade 

receivables for the most part. Net gains and losses essentially 

comprise allowances, currency translation effects, and debt 

loss.
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Expenses or income attributed to the category “other liabili-

ties” result from exchange rate differences relating to trade 

payables.

Interest relating to financial instruments is stated in interest 

income (please refer to note 8).

30 // Financial risk management and financial deri-
vatives
Basic principles of risk management 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG unites the various risk managing 

measures within the company in a uniform and consistent 

risk management system. The system provides for the regu-

lar identification and assessment of new and known risks by 

the respective responsible employees and defines a closed-

loop reporting system.

In addition, the ELMOS Group’s business units deliver reports 

on the development of finance and operations on a month-

ly basis. By these measures, Management Board and Super-

visory Board are informed about the risk situation regularly 

and in good time and are thus enabled to decide on appropri-

ate measures for risk minimization and risk prevention.

The risk management system fulfills the requirements of 

Section 91 (2) AktG, has been reviewed by the auditing 

firm for its compliance with the provisions of the Commer-

cial Code (HGB) and Corporations Act (AktG) and found suit-

able for detecting developments that could jeopardize the 

company’s continued existence at an early stage. The focus 

is directed on risks of the highest priority rating. The risk 

management system will be expanded continuously and 

advanced in response to changing basic conditions in the 

future.

With respect to its assets, liabilities, planned transactions, 

and firm commitments, ELMOS is particularly exposed 

to credit risks, liquidity risks, and risks from changes in 

exchange rates and interest rates. The financial risk manage-

ment aims at detecting and assessing these market risks ear-

ly on in a continuous process and in close cooperation with 

the group’s operating business units and at limiting them if 

necessary through control measures in the operating busi-

ness. It is part of the strategy in this respect to control and 

contain interest and exchange rate risks by utilizing suitable 

derivatives. ELMOS enters from time to time into forward 

exchange contracts and options to hedge foreign currency 

transactions for periods consistent with committed expo-

sures. These derivative transactions for price hedging mini-

mize the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the 

company’s profitability. ELMOS exclusively uses these hedg-

ing instruments for non-speculative risk containing purposes 

in connection with the hedged items. 

The basic principles of finance policy and its guidelines are 

determined annually by the Management Board and are 

monitored by the Supervisory Board. The implementation of 

finance policy and the operation of risk management are the 

responsibility of the Management Board.

Credit risk and contingency risk

Liquid assets are essentially cash and cash equivalents. 

With respect to the investment of liquid assets, the group 

is exposed to losses due to credit risk if banks or issuers do 

not fulfill their obligations. ELMOS controls the resulting risk 

position by a diversification of products and contracting par-

ties.

For the purpose of a portfolio approach, investments of liquid  

assets are usually short-term to medium-term in consider-

ation of highest possible flexibility, essentially placed with 

banks with high credit ratings under the protection of the 

deposit protection fund. The investments are spread over 

several banks. In addition, ELMOS invests liquid assets in 

bonds of the minimum rating “investment grade” for an 

investment mix in line with the portfolio approach.
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Trade receivables primarily originate from sales activities 

involving microelectronic components and system parts as 

well as function-related technological units. The customers 

are for the most part automotive suppliers, to a lesser extent 

companies of the industrial sector, the consumer goods 

industry, and other sectors. Accounts receivable are moni-

tored continuously, for the most part centralized. Contingen-

cy risks are met with specific allowances for bad debt and 

blanket allowances. The arrangement of the specific terms 

of payment reflects the historic development of the respec-

tive customer-supplier relationship; observation of the terms 

is monitored continuously. With respect to new customers, 

creditworthiness information is also gathered in advance. 

Business transactions with major customers are subject to 

special contingency risk supervision. The maximum contin-

gency risk is reflected by the book values of the financial 

assets reported in the statement of financial position. 

Against the backdrop of the global financial market and eco-

nomic crisis of the last years, outstanding receivables are 

monitored and reminded with scrutiny as part of a continu-

ous operating process.

Within the framework of the sale of the operating business of 

ELMOS Advanced Packaging B.V. at the end of 2010, the con-

tracting parties agreed on an earn-out component (please 

refer to notes 20 and 29). ELMOS is therefore exposed to the 

risk that targets of the operating business oriented toward 

budgeting will not be reached or payments in compensation 

of the claim cannot be made. The extent of this risk is limited 

to the book value of the financial asset.

Liquidity risk and financing risk

The liquidity risk of ELMOS addresses the contingency that 

the company might not be able to fulfill its financial obli-

gations, e.g. the payment of finance debt, the payment of 

trade payables, and the payment obligations arising from 

lease agreements. A liquidity reserve in the form of cash 

and cash equivalents, investments of high fungibility and 

convertibility into cash, and sufficiently available free credit  

limits is provided so that this risk will not materialize and 

the liquidity and financial flexibility of ELMOS are assured 

at any time. In addition, the group’s liquidity is constant-

ly monitored and updated within the framework of short-

term and long-term liquidity planning. Apart from internal 

financing power, liquidity of the domestic and internation-

al subsidiaries is provided through credit limits and loans 

extended by group companies and banks. Further infor-

mation about safeguarding medium-term financing can be 

found under note 28. 

Financial market risks

Due to its international business activity, ELMOS is exposed 

to market price risks as a result of changes in exchange rates 

and interest rates. These market price risks could have a 

negative effect on the group’s financial, profit and economic 

situation.

a) Exchange rate risk

Business operations as well as reported financial results and 

cash flows are exposed to risks from exchange rate fluctua-

tions due to the international orientation. These fluctuations 

occur principally between the Euro and the U.S. dollar. 

The exchange rate risks ELMOS is exposed to result from 

operating activities, investments, and financing measures. 

The individual group companies conduct business for the 

most part in their respective functional currencies. Therefore 

the exchange rate risk of ELMOS from operating activities is 

considered low. Insofar as operating activities are conducted 

in foreign currencies by the individual group companies, the 

effect is essentially balanced within the group. Furthermore, 

services are paid in U.S. dollar, such as assembly services 

from Southeast Asia or the acquisition of producer’s goods 

typically offered on the global semiconductor market in U.S. 

dollar. There are also group-internal financial commitments 

such as foreign-currency loans extended to group companies 

for financing purposes. 
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Apart from so-called natural hedging, i.e. when certain 

incoming U.S. dollar payments face corresponding outgoing 

payments within a short period of time, spot transactions or 

derivative transactions are made to hedge exchange rates 

if necessary. Foreign currency risks that do not affect the 

group’s cash flows (i.e. risks resulting from the translation 

of foreign subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities into the group’s 

reporting currency) are generally not hedged. ELMOS was 

not exposed to material currency risks as of the reporting 

date. In fiscal year 2011, ELMOS Semiconductor AG realized 

exchange rate gains in the amount of 197 thousand Euro and 

incurred exchange rate losses in the amount of 36 thousand 

Euro from currency-related hedges relating to the U.S. dollar.

Had the Euro been revalued (devalued) against the U.S. dol-

lar by 10% as of December 31, 2011 with respect to the mon-

etary financial instruments, the operating income (before 

taxes) would have been 91 thousand Euro higher (101 thou-

sand Euro lower) (2010: 77 thousand Euro higher (94 thou-

sand Euro lower)). The group’s equity effect would have been 

the same amount via the result effect in consideration of 

income taxes incurred.

b) Risk of interest rate changes

The risk of interest rate changes of ELMOS as of the report-

ing date primarily results from the forward interest rate 

swaps concluded in fiscal year 2010 with respect to the for-

ward loans entered into (please refer to note 28). Had the 

market interest rate level been higher (lower) by 100 basis 

points, equity would have been higher by 704 thousand 

Euro (decrease in equity by 755 thousand Euro) due to group 

accounting outside profit or loss (2010: increase (decrease) in 

equity by 672 thousand Euro). Deferred taxes on this amount 

would have to be considered.

There is also a risk of interest rate changes with respect to the 

securities classified as available for sale. Had the market inter-

est rate level been higher (lower) by 100 basis points, equity 

would have been lower by 36 thousand Euro (increase in equi-

ty by 47 thousand Euro). There were no securities classified as 

available for sale in the previous year.

ELMOS is exposed to interest risks primarily in the Euro area. 

The Management Board regularly determines the target mix 

of fixed and variable-interest liabilities, and the financing  

structure is derived and implemented on that basis. For 

long-term financing projects, fixed interest rates are usually 

agreed on. Interest derivatives are also put to use if necessary. 

Further information about securing long-term financing can 

be found under note 28.

c) Other price risks

As in the previous year, there is no other material price risk 

as of December 31, 2011 from the company’s viewpoint.

Capital management 

It is the primary objective of the ELMOS Group’s capital 

management to assure that a high credit rating, liquidity 

provision at any time at high financial flexibility, and a solid  

capital structure are maintained in support of the compa-

ny’s business operations for the long term and for the pro-

tection of the interests of the shareholders, employees, and 

all other addressees of the annual report. ELMOS stands for 

the strategy of a continuous, sustainable increase in share-

holder value.
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The Management Board actively controls the capital struc-

ture of the ELMOS Group and makes adjustments to it in 

consideration of the economic framework as well as the 

risks carried by the corresponding assets. For the main-

tenance or adjustment of the capital structure, e.g. divi-

dends may be paid to the shareholders or new shares may 

be issued. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, 

no changes were made to the objectives, guidelines, or pro-

cedures.

The group monitors its capital based on the gearing ratio 

which corresponds with the relation of net debt or net cash 

to equity as well as on the absolute amounts of net debt or 

net cash and the equity ratio. Net cash includes cash and 

cash equivalents as well as securities less current and non-

current financial liabilities. The equity ratio puts equity in 

proportion to total assets.

2011 2010

Net cash 35.7 million Euro 26.8 million Euro

Gearing 19.0% 15.6%

Equity ratio 69.6% 69.1%

Other information
31 // Subsidies
The company receives subsidies or government grants used 

for financing research and development projects. Subsidies 

are recognized as other liabilities until the performance date 

(24 thousand Euro as of December 31, 2011; 24 thousand Euro 

as of December 31, 2010). Subsidies used for research and 

development projects were offset against research and devel-

opment expenses and recognized in that item (623 thousand 

Euro in 2011, 771 thousand Euro in 2010). 

32 // Other financial obligations and contingencies
The company has entered into non-cancelable rental and 

lease agreements for the combined plant and administration 

building, an employee center, a parking garage, and anoth-

er office building, the respective terms of which extend until 

2014, 2019, 2020, and 2021. The company has also entered 

into lease agreements for technical equipment and machinery  

as well as furniture and office equipment, the terms of which 

extend until 2019 in part. Furthermore, there are lease agree-

ments for the car pool, office machines, and technical equip-

ment and machinery to a customary extent.

On December 16, 2005, ELMOS concluded a real estate rental  

agreement for a service building with a cafeteria and recre-

ation rooms with LABRUM Grundstücks- und Vermietungsge-

sellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Eins KG, Düsseldorf, over a term 

of nine years. The annual lease amounts to 570 thousand 

Euro. The lease is raised by 1.0% per annum each calendar 

year, for the first time as of December 16, 2006. The agree-

ment is not cancelable over the lease term. After the comple-

tion of the term of lease, ELMOS is entitled to demand the 

extension of the lease term for another five years. 

Within the framework of the lease agreements with Exedra, 

ELMOS is committed to lease payments of 17,602 thousand 

Euro (including contributions to administrative expenses and 

sales tax) plus payments of 7,629 thousand Euro for loans 

extended to the lessee until 2020 (cf. note 14).

Within the framework of the lease agreements with Epigone, 

ELMOS is committed to lease payments of 10,285 thousand 

Euro (including contributions to administrative expenses and 

sales tax) plus payments of 3,287 thousand Euro for loans 

extended to the lessee until 2021 (cf. note 14).

SMI entered into a real estate lease agreement on January 26, 

2006 for property and the plant erected on that property with 

McCarthy Manager LLC, Washington/U.S.A. The contract pro-

vides for a term of 15 years. The monthly lease is 60 thousand 
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ELMOS Semiconductor AG is liable for the existing lease obli-

gations of an associate in the maximum amount of 316 thou-

sand Euro until the terms expire, which will occur in the years 

2012 to 2017 depending on the individual contract. Moreover, 

the company has assumed joint liability with respect to lease 

liabilities transferred to a third-party company within the 

framework of an asset deal in the amount of 1,589 thousand 

Euro. This kind of collateral is generally granted for a period of 

twelve months while the hedging relationship is maintained 

by the contracting party for the term of the lease obligations 

(until 2017) against an annual payment of 100 thousand Euro. 

The risk of a claim on the company is considered low as there 

are currently no indications of such a scenario.

U.S. dollars with the provision of an annual adjustment linked 

to the U.S. consumer price index, plus supplementary lease 

of currently 18 thousand U.S. dollars. The agreement is not 

cancelable over the lease term. After the completion of the 

term of lease, SMI is entitled to demand the extension of the 

lease term for another ten years, and the lessor may demand 

an extension for another five years.

In 2005, ELMOS entered into an agreement for the provision 

of research and development services as well as the use of 

a production line with a contract term until 2015; the peri-

od for using the production line has meanwhile been extend-

ed to 2017. 

Total expenditure for rental and lease agreements amounted 

to 13,059 thousand Euro in 2011 and 15,551 thousand Euro 

in 2010. 

As of December 31, 2011, future minimum payments owed 

under non-cancelable rental, lease, maintenance, and insur-

ance agreements with initial or remaining terms of more 

than one year are as follows:

Rent and lease payments, 

maintenance, insurance premiums, etc.

 thousand Euro

2012  24,575

2013 15,715

2014 12,304

2015 10,546

2016 9,324

Later years 22,058

94,522

The book value of assets pledged as security by a subsid-

iary for a bank loan comes to 305 thousand Euro. The secu-

rity comes in the shape of a first-ranking land charge on a 

building. This land charge amounts to 1,023 thousand Euro. 

As of the reporting date, ELMOS has not accepted securities 

according to IFRS 7.14. 
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33 // Group companies
Pursuant to IAS 27, the consolidated financial statements 

shall include the parent company and the subsidiaries that are 

under the parent’s legal and effective control.

The following companies have thus been included in the con-

solidated financial statements at hand:

Capital share 

(indirect and

 direct) in %

Parent

ELMOS Semiconductor AG, Dortmund

Subsidiaries

ELMOS Central IT Services GmbH, Dortmund 100.0

ELMOS Design Services B.V., Nijmegen/Netherlands 100.0

ELMOS Facility Management GmbH, Dortmund 100.0

ELMOS France S.A.S., Levallois Perret/France 100.0

ELMOS N.A. Inc., Farmington Hills/U.S.A. 100.0

ELMOS Quality Services B.V., Nijmegen/Netherlands 100.0

ELMOS Services B.V., Nijmegen/Netherlands 100.0

European Semiconductor Assembly (eurasem) B.V., 

Nijmegen/Netherlands 100.0

GED Gärtner-Electronic-Design GmbH, Frankfurt/Oder 73.9

IndustrieAlpine Bauträger GmbH, Eching 51.0

Mechaless Systems GmbH, Bruchsal 100.0

Micro Systems on Silicon (MOS) Limited, 

Pretoria/South Africa 55.2

Silicon Microstructures Inc., Milpitas/U.S.A. 100.0

ELMOS Semiconductor B.V., Nijmegen/Netherlands 100.0

ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul/Korea 100.0

ELMOS Semiconductor Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100.0

ELMOS Semiconductor Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., 

Shanghai/China 100.0

Consolidated financial statements
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Compared to the previous year, the following companies no 

longer belonged to the basis of consolidation as of December 

31, 2011:

eLmos industries gmbh, mainhausen was merged into 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG during the fiscal year. The reason for 

this measure is the pursuit of the goal of streamlining group 

structures.

eLmos Advanced packaging b.v. (indirect shareholding of 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG, Dortmund), nijmegen/nether-

lands was merged into its parent company ELMOS Services B.V. 

in the fiscal year. The reason for this measure taken in connec-

tion with the sale of the special packaging business in 2010 is 

the simplification of group structures. 

eLmos central it services gmbh & co. kg, dortmund, and 

eLmos facility management gmbh & co. kg, dortmund, 

formerly organized in the legal form of commercial partner-

ships, each have the legal form of a corporation after restruc-

turing (contribution of the respective KG shares to the compa-

nies ELMOS Semiconductor Süd GmbH, Dortmund (formerly 

Munich) and Gesellschaft für Halbleiterprüftechnik mbH, Dort-

mund) and subsequent renaming. The companies are now 

named ELMOS Central IT Services GmbH and ELMOS Facili-

ty Management GmbH. By conclusion of profit and loss trans-

fer agreements with ELMOS Semiconductor AG, the establish-

ment of a tax consolidated group was made possible. 

With economic effect on January 1, 2011, 50% of the shares 

in a joint venture were acquired. The company mAz mikro- 

elektronik-Anwendungszentrum gmbh im Land brandenburg,  

Berlin has since been included in the consolidated financial 

statements by way of proportionate consolidation. In the fis-

cal year, assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses of 

MAZ were included in the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IAS 31.56 as follows:
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2011

thousand Euro

Current assets 944

Non-current assets 24

Current liabilities 236

Non-current liabilities 236

Income 1,757

Expenses 1,627

The joint venture had no contingent liabilities or capital com-

mitments as of December 31, 2011 or January 1, 2011.

Compared to fiscal year 2010, the basis of consolidation 

changed by the first-time inclusion of eLmos korea co. Ltd., 

seoul/korea, founded in 2010, which was not included by way 

of full consolidation in the previous year.

The following companies were included by way of full consoli-

dation as of the date of their establishment:

In March 2011, ELMOS Semiconductor AG founded the compa-

ny eLmos semiconductor singapore pte. Ltd., singapore. With 

this company, sales activity in Asia is intended to be facilitat-

ed and pushed.

In July 2011, ELMOS Semiconductor AG founded the company 

eLmos semiconductor technology (shanghai) co., Ltd., shang-

hai/china through the subsidiary ELMOS Semiconductor Sin-

gapore Pte Ltd. The new establishment is another step on the 

part of ELMOS for the expansion to full geographic coverage 

in Asia.

In December 2011, ELMOS Semiconductor AG founded the 

company eLmos semiconductor b.v., nijmegen/netherlands 

through subsidiary ELMOS Services B.V. The goal is to optimize 

the structures between the Dutch subsidiaries. 

On the whole, the basis of consolidation has not changed 

materially compared with the previous year so that compara-

bility with the prior-year consolidated financial statements is 

not materially compromised with respect to the financial, prof-

it and economic situation.
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Information on share ownership

Currency Shares 

%

Equity in 

thousand Euro 

Net result in 

thousand Euro

Germany

Advanced Appliances Chips GmbH i.L., Riedstadt Euro 33.33 29 – 461 

attoSENSOR GmbH i.L., Penzberg Euro 45.00 45 – 83

DMOS Dresden MOS Design GmbH, Dresden Euro 20.00 527 3081

ELMOS Central IT Services GmbH, Dortmund Euro 100.00 373 0 1, 5

ELMOS Facility Management GmbH, Dortmund Euro 100.00 221 0 1, 5

Epigone Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Vermietungs KG, Mainz Euro 6.00 –28 – 81

GED Gärtner-Electronic-Design GmbH, Frankfurt/Oder Euro 73.90 2,032 3381

IndustrieAlpine Bauträger GmbH, Eching Euro 51.00 –1,393 –1641

Mechaless Systems GmbH, Bruchsal Euro 100.00 558 401

MAZ Mikroelektronik-Anwendungszentrum GmbH im Land Brandenburg, Berlin Euro 50.00 993 2601

International

ELMOS Services B.V., Nijmegen (NL) Euro 100.00 8,357 6,9451

ELMOS Semiconductor B.V., Nijmegen (NL) Euro 100.00 42,187 2,2431, 2

ELMOS Design Services B.V., Nijmegen (NL) Euro 100.00 4,257 1371, 2

ELMOS Quality Services B.V., Nijmegen (NL) Euro 100.00 226 81, 2

European Semiconductor Assembly (eurasem) B.V., Nijmegen (NL) Euro 100.00 18 01, 2

Micro Systems on Silicon (MOS) Limited, Pretoria (South Africa) ZAR 55.20 4,725 5,5171, 2

ELMOS France S.A.S., Levallois Perret (F) Euro 100.00 1,119 191

ELMOS USA Inc., Farmington Hills (U.S.A.) USD 100.00 – – 4

ELMOS N.A. Inc., Farmington Hills (U.S.A.) USD 100.00 2,191 131, 2

Silicon Microstructures Inc., Milpitas (U.S.A.) USD 100.00 –2,129 1,5261, 2

ELMOS Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul (Korea) KRW 100.00 140,471 1,5581

ELMOS Semiconductor Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore SGD 100.00 550 281

ELMOS Semiconductor Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai (China) CNY 100.00 1,792 611, 2

TetraSun Inc., Santa Clara (U.S.A.) USD 8.14 3,955 –2,6792, 6

1 Presented figures are based on preliminary, unaudited financial statements as of December 31, 2011.
2 Indirect investment of ELMOS Semiconductor AG, Dortmund.
3 Presented figures are based on preliminary, unaudited financial statements as of September 30, 2011.
4 Financial statements of the company are not yet available.
5 Profit and loss transfer agreement.
6 Presented figures are based on audited financial statements as of December 31, 2010.
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34 // Information on Management Board and Super-
visory Board
Remuneration of Management Board and Supervisory Board 

in 2011

Fixed 

remuneration

thousand Euro

Variable

remuneration 

thousand Euro

Stock options 

(time value)

thousand Euro

Management 

Board 1,587 1,051 88

Supervisory 

Board 59 89 0

There are indirect pension commitments to Management 

Board members for which no pension provisions must be 

made because of risk coverage by completely congruent pen-

sion plan reinsurance. In 2011, the contributions to such pen-

sion plans amounted to 520 thousand Euro (previous year: 

341 thousand Euro), included in the fixed remuneration com-

ponents. Within the framework of stock option plan 2011, 

50,000 stock options were assigned to the members of the 

Management Board.

Remuneration paid to former Management Board members 

or their surviving dependants amounted to 268 thousand 

Euro in fiscal year 2011 (previous year: 364 thousand Euro). In 

addition, insurance premiums in the amount of 271 thousand 

Euro were paid for this group of beneficiaries (previous year: 

347 thousand Euro).

The amount of pension provisions was 2,502 thousand Euro 

as of December 31, 2011 (previous year: 2,533 thousand Euro).

For other services, particularly consulting services, the com-

pany compensated members of the Supervisory Board in the 

amount of 23 thousand Euro (previous year: 140 thousand 

Euro).

The Annual General Meeting of May 4, 2010 decided with a 

majority in excess of the required three quarters not to pro-

vide the disclosures stipulated by Section 285 (1) no. 9a sen-

tences 5-8 HGB (German Commercial Code) for the next five 

years.

35 // Shares and stock options held by members of 
Management Board and Supervisory Board 
As of December 31, 2011, the following members of Manage-

ment Board and Supervisory Board held ELMOS shares and 

stock options:

Management Board Shares Stock options

Dr. Anton Mindl 0 66,334

Reinhard Senf 20,247 44,222

Nicolaus Graf von Luckner 13,287 44,222

Jürgen Höllisch 

(until February 29, 2012) 0 44,222

Dr. Peter Geiselhart 

(since January 1, 2012) 0 0

Supervisory Board Shares Stock options

Prof. Dr. Günter Zimmer 29,027 0

Dr. Burkhard Dreher 5,000 0

Dr. Klaus Egger (since June 27, 2011) 0 0

Thomas Lehner (since June 27, 2011) 2,492 4,750

Sven-Olaf Schellenberg 

(since May 17, 2011) 0 1,650

Dr. Klaus Weyer (until May 17, 2011; 

since June 27, 2011) 77,500 0

36 // Information on group auditor fees
The companies of the ELMOS Group received the following 

services rendered by appointed group auditor, Ernst & Young 

GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, in fiscal year 2011:

2011

thousand Euro

Audit services 150

Other certification services 61

Tax counseling 409

Other services 10

630
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The position “other certification services” includes fees for 

the review of the interim consolidated financial statements 

as of June 30, 2011, among other items. Tax counseling ser-

vices primarily comprise consulting services in connection 

with the tax audit conducted at ELMOS in fiscal year 2011 

as well as consulting services in connection with the group-

internal reorganizing measures taken in 2011.

37 // Appropriation of retained earnings and dividend 
proposal
Management Board and Supervisory Board propose to the 

Annual General Meeting in May 2012 the payment of a divi-

dend of 25 cents per share for fiscal year 2011 out of the 

2011 retained earnings of ELMOS Semiconductor AG in the 

amount of 74.4 million Euro. The total dividend payout would 

thus amount to approx. 4.8 million Euro.

 

38 // Disclosure of directors’ dealings in accordance 
with Section 15a WpHG
Listed below are all directors’ dealings of the year 2011 

with respect to shares of ELMOS Semiconductor AG (ISIN 

DE0005677108). The issuer is ELMOS Semiconductor AG, 

Heinrich-Hertz-Str. 1, 44227 Dortmund, Germany.

 

Date

Place Name Function Transaction Number

Price/Basic price 

(Euro)

Total volume 

(Euro)

6/24/2011

Xetra

ZOE 

Beteiligungs 

GmbH

Legal entity closely 

related to the chairman of 

the Supervisory 

Purchase of 

ELMOS shares

10,000 9.911 99,110

8/10/2011 

Xetra

Alegra 

GmbH & Co. KG

Legal entity closely 

related to the CEO

Purchase of 

ELMOS shares

10,000 7.419 74,190

8/26/2011 

Xetra

ZOE 

Beteiligungs 

GmbH

Legal entity closely 

related to the chairman of 

the Supervisory 

Purchase of 

ELMOS shares

11,100 6.697 74,341

39 // Related party disclosures
Pursuant to IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures, individuals or 

companies in control of or controlled by the ELMOS Group 

must be disclosed unless they have already been includ-

ed in the consolidated financial statements of the ELMOS 

Group as a consolidated company. Control is assumed if 
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a shareholder holds more than half of the voting rights in 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG or if the shareholder is in a posi-

tion, by virtue of the articles of incorporation or contractual 

agreement, to control the financial and business policies of 

the ELMOS Group’s management.

Mandatory disclosure in accordance with IAS 24 also 

includes transactions with associated companies and indi-

viduals who have significant influence over the ELMOS 

Group’s financial and business policies, including close rela-

tives or interconnected companies. Significant influence on 

the ELMOS Group’s financial and business may be based on 

an interest in ELMOS Semiconductor AG of 20% or more, a 

position on the Management Board or Supervisory Board of 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG, or another key function in man-

agement.

In fiscal year 2011, the ELMOS Group is concerned by the 

mandatory disclosures of IAS 24 only with regard to busi-

ness relationships with associates.

The ELMOS Group maintains relationships with closely 

related companies and individuals in the context of usu-

al business activity. These supply and performance rela-

tionships are transacted at market prices. In 2011, ELMOS 

Semiconductor AG provided deliveries in the amount of 

33 thousand Euro (previous year: 14 thousand Euro) to 

unconsolidated associates (AAC). ELMOS Semiconductor 

AG received performances from DMOS in the amount of 

4,294 thousand Euro in 2011 (previous year: 3,573 thou-

sand Euro). Interest-bearing loans amounting to a nominal 

total of 1,000 thousand Euro were extended to DMOS by 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG and a subsidiary, used essential-

ly for the advance lease payment for an office building. The 

loans can be canceled by both parties in observance of one 

to six months notice.

As of the end of the year, the principal including incurred 

interest totals 760 thousand Euro (previous year: 1,047 

thousand Euro). The initially agreed annual repayment of 

the loans extended in 2008 with 20% redemption includ-

ing respective interest was modified in 2009 against the 

backdrop of the effects of the financial and economic cri-

sis within the scope of supplementary agreements, and an 

adjusted debt service schedule was agreed on, providing 

for annual interest/redemption payments from 2010. For 

the loan extended in 2007, a debt service schedule was con-

cluded as well. 

Except for remuneration of Management Board and Super-

visory Board disclosed under note 34 (“Information on 

Management Board and Supervisory Board”), there are no 

material relationships with related individuals.

Apart from that, companies of the ELMOS Group did not 

engage in any material reportable transactions with mem-

bers of the Management Board or Supervisory Board of 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG, other key executives in man-

agement, or with companies whose managing or supervis-

ing bodies these individuals are represented in. This also 

applies for close relatives of said group of people.
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40 // Number of employees
In fiscal year 2011, the average number of employees in the 

group was 988 (2010: 990).

The average number of employees can be broken down as fol-

lows:

Group

2011

Number

Production 489

Sales 88

Administration 143

Quality control 37

Research & development 231

Total 988

Of this total number of employees, 12 employees are attrib-

utable to companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements only proportionately.

41 // Events after the reporting period
There have been no reportable events or transactions of spe-

cial significance after the reporting period.

42 // Declaration of compliance in accordance with Sec-
tion 161 AktG
In September 2011, Management Board and Supervisory 

Board of ELMOS Semiconductor AG released the declaration 

pursuant to Section 161 AktG (Stock Corporation Act) and 

made it permanently accessible to the shareholders on the 

company’s website.

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report
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Responsibility 
statement 
We assure to the best of our knowledge that the consolida-

ted financial statements provide, in accordance with applica-

ble accounting standards, a true and fair view of the group’s 

financial, profit and economic situation and that the group 

management report presents the course of business inclu-

ding the business result and the situation of the group in 

a way that corresponds with the actual conditions and 

describes the material opportunities and risks of the group’s 

probable future development.

Dortmund, March 1, 2012

dr. Anton mindl  nicolaus graf von Luckner

reinhard senf  dr. peter geiselhart
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Audit opinion
We have issued the following opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report:

"We have audited the consolidated financial statements pre-

pared by the ELMOS Semicondutor AG, Dortmund, compri-

sing the statement of financial position, income statement, 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of cash 

flows, statement of changes in equity and the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, together with the group 

management report for the fiscal year from January 1, 2011 

to December 31, 2011. The preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report in 

accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU, and the addi-

tional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to 

Sec. 315a (1) HGB ["Handelsgesetzbuch": "German Commer-

cial Code"] and the articles of incorporation are the responsi-

bility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German gene-

rally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements 

promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute 

of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require 

that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 

materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, finan-

cial position and results of operations in the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-

cial reporting framework and in the group management 

report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge 

of the business activities and the economic and legal envi-

ronment of the group and expectations as to possible mis-

statements are taken into account in the determination of 

audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-rela-

ted internal control system and the evidence supporting the 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the 

group management report are examined primarily on a test 

basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 

assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 

included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be 

included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 

principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements and the group manage-

ment report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-

dated financial statements comply with IFRS as applicable in 

the EU and the additional requirements of German commer-

cial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB and give a true and fair 

view of the net assets, financial position and results of ope-

rations of the group in accordance with these requirements. 

The group management report is consistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 

view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the oppor-

tunities and risks of future development."

Dortmund, March 1, 2012

Ernst & Young GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

muzzu   schlüter

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

Consolidated financial statements

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Responsibility statement 

Auditor’s report
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Glossary
Asic An Application specific integrated circuit (ASIC) is 

a circuit developed individually for a specific application 

and a specific customer, as opposed to standard compo-

nents that are not configured in a customer specific way, 

for example voltage regulators, memory, and processors.

 

Assp An Application specific standard product (ASSP) is an 

integrated circuit developed individually for a specific appli-

cation. It can be marketed to several customers as an appli-

cation standard.

backend manufacturing Backend manufacturing describes 

the part of the semiconductor manufacturing process that 

is carried out after the wafer has left the clean room. The 

inspection of the chips on the wafer, assembly, burn-in, the 

functional testing of the assembled components, and pack-

ing (tape&reel) are all part of this process.

bus A communication system that allows the exchange of 

information between several participants on an electronic or 

optical basis. Among the standards used in automobiles are 

the following: LIN, CAN, MOST, and FlexRayTM.

chip An electronic circuit that contains electric functions real-

ized in semiconductor material.

clean room A sealed-off part of a building where humidity, 

temperature, and dust particle contamination are monitored 

and maintained precisely.

cmos complementary metal oxide semiconductor is the 

basic technology for manufacturing microchips with a high 

integration rate and low energy consumption.

distributor Distributors are business partners responsible 

for pushing the marketing and distribution primarily of 

standard products.

electronic circuit A combination of different electrical com-

ponents, each taking over a specific function within an elec-

trical system.

flexray™ The high-speed bus system FlexRay™ is a standard 

for time-critical applications e.g. in car networks. FlexRay™ 

is used for real-time communication in active chassis con-

trol, among other fields of use.

foundry A semiconductor manufacturing enterprise whose 

primary business objective is the production and sale of 

processed silicon wafers. Development and distribution 

of the wafer-based products are provided by the foundry’s 

customers.

frontend manufacturing The production of electronic cir-

cuits on silicon wafers by means of physical and chemical 

processing methods under clean room conditions.

hALios® HALIOS® (high Ambient Light independent opti-

cal system) technology is distinguished by the detection of 

three-dimensional motion. Optical outside influences such 

as strong incidence of light do not affect the performance. 

The electronic compensation of external light influence is 

the technically deciding function.

integrated circuit, ic An electronic circuit consisting of different  

miniaturized electronic components (e.g. resistors, capacitors, 

transistors, etc.) integrated into semiconductor material.

io-Link is a new open communication standard below field 

bus level realized by point-to-point connection between 

sensors/actuators and a control system. IO-Link was deve-

loped for use in industrial automation.
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Layout Describes the information gained from circuit devel-

opment that is required for manufacturing integrated circuits 

by using simple geometric shapes. 

mems micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) are in par-

ticular sensors based on semiconductor technologies. Among 

other quantities, they can detect pressure, acceleration, or 

tilt.

microprocessor/microcontroller An integrated, complex elec-

tronic unit programmed to control and operate an electronic 

system. Microprocessors are the central brains of an electronic 

system such as a computer.

microsystem A microsystem is the combination of sensorics 

and readout electronics in a special package. Among other 

advantages, a microsystem requires very little constructed 

space due to its high integration level.

mixed-signal A combination of analog and digital signals 

simultaneously generated, controlled, or modified on one 

and the same chip.

mos metal-oxide-semiconductor (MOS) describes the setup 

of the central control device for the field effect in a particular 

category of semiconductor transistors.

oem An original equipment manufacturer distributes its 

manufactured (partial) systems to a reseller. In the automo-

tive industry, the car manufacturers are referred to as OEMs.

partial cAn/partial network operation Partial CAN (control-

ler Area network) is a new option for communicating with 

the CAN Bus. Control devices whose function is not need-

ed permanently can thus be “put to sleep” and reactivated 

quickly. In “sleep” mode, these control devices (e.g. for power 

seats) have a significantly reduced power input. This option is 

also referred to as partial network operation.

pressure sensor The pressure sensor can detect low or high 

pressure, depending on the application, and transmit the 

data to readout electronics. Pressure sensors find use for 

instance in medical applications (e.g. respirators, blood pres-

sure meters) or automotive applications (e.g. tire pressure).

semiconductor A solid material (e.g. silicon or germanium) 

whose electrical conductivity can be changed toward positive 

and/or negative currents by deliberate doping (mostly with 

phosphor or boron).

sensor An electronic unit which measures or detects a real 

physical quantity, e.g. motion, heat, or light, and converts 

subsequently into an analog or digital electric signal.

silicon The most common semiconductor material, used for 

approx. 95% of all chips produced.

tpms A tire pressure monitoring system monitors the pres-

sure in car tires and notifies the driver in cases of too low 

pressure.

wafer The basic material in chip production. A wafer is a pol-

ished disc sawn out of a single silicon crystal. Typical diame-

ters are 150 (6-inch), 200 (8-inch), and 300 mm (12-inch).
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Informative material
If you want to know more about ELMOS, we would be happy to send you the following documents by mail.

-> Annual report

-> Interim financial reports/Quarterly reports

-> Eco report 

-> Our company (image brochure/company profile)

-> Code of Conduct

 -> Product catalog

All listed documents can also be found on our website at www.elmos.com. If you want to subscribe to 

our ad hoc announcements and press releases, please send an e-mail to invest@elmos.com.

This annual report is also available in German.

Financial calendar 2012
Analysts’ conference (conference call/webcast) March 15, 2012

Quarterly results Q1/2012 May 3, 2012

Annual General Meeting in Dortmund May 8, 2012

Quarterly results Q2/2012* August 8, 2012

Quarterly results Q3/2012* November 6, 2012

* Results are usually released after trading hours. Conference calls are usually made one day after the release of quarterly results.

Of course you can visit our profiles on Twitter, YouTube, and Xing through our website (www.elmos.com) as well.

Twitter: www.twitter.com/elmos_ag

Xing: www.xing.com/companies/elmossemiconductorag

YouTube: www.youtube.com/user/ELMOS1984

Social networks
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forward-looking statements

This report contains statements directed to the future based on assumptions and estimates made by the management of ELMOS. Even though we assume the underly-

ing expectations of our statements to be realistic, we cannot guarantee these expectations will prove right. The assumptions may carry risks and uncertainties, and as 

a result actual events may differ materially from the current statements made with respect to the future. Among the factors that could cause material differences are 

changes in general economic and business conditions, changes in exchange and interest rates, the introduction of competing products, lack of acceptance of new prod-

ucts, and changes in business strategy. ELMOS neither intends nor assumes any obligation to update its statements with respect to future events. 

This English translation is for convenience purposes only.
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AsiA is An importAnt growth mArket for eLmos. to cross the bridge between germAny And chinA successfuLLy requires A Lot of product know-how And cuLturAL empAthy. thAt’s my 
job. After my trAining At eLmos i decided to go to university And to keep working At eLmos on the side. foLLowing my direct job entry And A stint At our cALiforniAn subsidiAry, i Am 
now AbLe to shAre the fuLL rAnge of my knowLedge And skiLLs in my job As process engineer. recruitment wiLL increAsingLy gAin in importAnce in the future. it is my goAL to shApe 
the AdvAnced trAining of our current And future empLoyees in such A wAy thAt we wiLL continue our success in the mArket. eLmos gives me the opportunity to keep deveLoping As 
A professionAL. As mAnAger of moduLe process AnALysis, i hAve my shAre of responsibiLity for the quALity of our products And processes. this dAiLy chALLenge mAkes my job tremen-
dousLy exciting. even todAy, bALAncing fAmiLy And A cAreer is not An eAsy thing to AccompLish. i Love to see how initiAL rough drAfts turn into reAL products. so, whenever i go to 
the customer with A product, i know how much heArt And souL hAs been put into it. with fLexibLe working hours And A considerAtion of individuAL needs, eLmos provides An ex-
citing working environment, enAbLing me to join my teAm in pushing our reseArch Activities. job trAining, extrA-occupAtionAL studies And A stAy AbroAd – ALL this i hAve Achieved 
with eLmos. now, After eArning my grAduAte degree, i wiLL hAve my pArt in deveLoping the energy sAving products of tomorrow. this is how i Am mAking my contribution At eLmos 
to creAting A promising future, both for myseLf And for society. we At eLmos ALwAys wAnt to deveLop the best soLution for the customer. it requires speciAList know-how to set 
ourseLves ApArt from the mArket through chip size, functionALity, And reLiAbiLity. this is whAt we Aim for every singLe dAy. As An Automotive semiconductor speciAList, eLmos hAs 
high quALity AwAreness. As project mAnAger, i pAy Attention to meeting the tArgets of our customers And giving them 100% sAtisfAction At eAch And very step. the positive 
feedbAck proves thAt eLmos is doing A good job. i hAve heLped creAte the future of our eLmos motor drivers for mAny yeArs now. At eLmos i study the bAsics of it And AppLy 
them on the job. this ALLows me to mAke A cAreer of my hobby. And the cAsuAL working environment mAkes my trAining just As much fun As my hobby does. interesting 
Assignments, nice coLLeAgues, And the opportunity to bring new ideAs to Life: thAt describes whAt i do in production At eLmos. After compLeting my trAining, i Am now  
responsibLe for the reLiAbLe mAnufActuring of our products As An operAtor. ten yeArs Ago, i stArted my cAreer in production in dortmund. in 2006 i took chArge of pro-
cess engineering At our subsidiAry in cALiforniA. the eLeven members of my teAm originALLy hAiL from the u.s., indiA, chinA, vietnAm, And severAL europeAn countries. 
i enjoy mAnAging such A diversity of products And cuLtures. AnnuAL report 2011 After my trAining At eLmos i decided to go to university And to keep working At eLmos on the side.
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